University of Dayton eCommons

Civil and Environmental Engineering and	Department of Civil and Environmental
Engineering Mechanics Faculty Publications	Engineering and Engineering Mechanics

11-1989

Techniques for Improving Energy Efficiency at Water Supply Pumping Stations

Lindell Ormsbee University of Kentucky

Thomas M. Walski Haestad Methods

Donald V. Chase University of Dayton, dchase1@udayton.edu

Wayne W. Sharp University of Kentucky

Follow this and additional works at: http://ecommons.udayton.edu/cee_fac_pub

Part of the <u>Civil Engineering Commons</u>, <u>Construction Engineering and Management Commons</u>, <u>Environmental Engineering Commons</u>, <u>Geotechnical Engineering Commons</u>, <u>Other Civil and</u> <u>Environmental Engineering Commons</u>, <u>Structural Engineering Commons</u>, <u>and the Transportation</u> <u>Engineering Commons</u>

eCommons Citation

Ormsbee, Lindell; Walski, Thomas M.; Chase, Donald V.; and Sharp, Wayne W., "Techniques for Improving Energy Efficiency at Water Supply Pumping Stations" (1989). *Civil and Environmental Engineering and Engineering Mechanics Faculty Publications*. Paper 16. http://ecommons.udayton.edu/cee_fac_pub/16

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering and Engineering Mechanics at eCommons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Civil and Environmental Engineering and Engineering Mechanics Faculty Publications by an authorized administrator of eCommons. For more information, please contact frice1@udayton.edu, mschlangen1@udayton.edu.



The set of the second states of the

AT WATER SUPPLY PUMPING STATIONS

one to object term the Mowalske State to the Alexandre Alexandre

internet in the state of a terry

ARMY



November 1987 Final Report



and the second second second second second

weeten DC 20314-1000 ∴ S. Weeten Unit 31794



JAN 2 6 1388

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE				Fi C	orm Approved M8 No: 0704-0188
A HERDAT SECTRATE LA CLARENA	Th Rest P Clive Mark NGS				
20 SEC 14 TY CLASS FOAT IN A THOPPIN		3 35123 TON ALLEABLYY OF PECCHT			
DEC ASSECATION DOANCEAD NO REED	. <u></u>	unlimited		reiense, -	anser reaction
REPRIEMING SHOAN CAT IN HER CHINE MAR		5 MON TOPING	ORGAN TAT ON R	PORT NUMBE	÷.5
estrical service fletter					
NUME OF PERFORMING OR HAN ZATION NEWE	は、「「くそう」 - 「けつ」」(4月)()	a 1,010 - 717	N TVA NO PROM	VZATON -	
an freithe an		<u> </u>			
ADDRESS くね State and DRCode) - 1 503 わらし - 1 1 0 0 0 mg (MS - 1 1 (からーのある) - 1 1 0 0 0 mg (MS - 1 1 (からーのある)		76 ADDRESS C	ty State and ZiP (ode)	
NAME OF FUNDING POINSORING ORGANIZATION Community of Point Point Point	Bu Frice Symbol (If applicable)	3 PROCUREMEN	TINSTRUMENT D	NT F CATION	NUMBER
ADDRES City State and Life Code)	*	10 SOURCE OF	FUNDING NUMBER	S	
the state of the second states		PROGRAM ELEMENT NO	PROJECT NO	TASK NO	WORK UNIT ACCESSION NO CWTS 3179
The product of Security Constrained		<u>L</u>	1		
SUPPLEMENTARY NUTATION	- <u> </u>	lennerbiberti			• _
SUPPLEMENTARY NUTATION SUPPLEMENTARY NUTATION X. (1)ble from Citional Techni VA (2)41. COMAT COMES FELD GROUP SUBGROUP	cal 'thermaticn '8 ScaleCT TERMS Schemamic prog Energy conse Pumping stat	Service, 52 Continue on rever rorring f rvation f lons	R5 Port Roya The if necessary and Nater distri Water supply,	I Road, S Identify by b bution	pringfield, lock number)
SUPPLEMENTARY NUMBER ON SUPPLEMENTARY NUMBER ON SUPPLEMENTARY NUMBER ON COMMINSTRACT CONTINUE ON REVEYED FREED ABSTRACT Continue on reverse fracessary This report presents an energy used for pumping in tre divided into three steps: (a) specifications, the determinin and (c) determining the optima The methods presented in	al 'Harmatics "B SLB.ECT TERMS "In mamic prog Energy conse Pumping stat and identify by block r application of ated water dist field testing g the hest comb 1 discharges fo the report are	Service, 52 Continue on revery ramming for ions ions iomber) a methodology ribution syst of pumps to b ination of pumps to b in	R5 Port Roya Nater distri Nater supply, V for reducing tems. The mensure that umps to aching levels).	I Road, S Identify by b bution ong the am ethodolog they are eve a giv ions serv	pringfield, lock number) ount of v can v performing to en discharge, ing the water
6 SUPLEMENTARY NUMBER 6 SUPLEMENTARY NUMBER 5 SUPLEMENTARY NUMBER 7 COCAT COCKS FELD GROUP SUB GROUP 2 ABSTRACT Continue on reverse fracessary This report presents an energy used for pumping in tre divided into three steps: (a) specifications, the determinin and (c) determining the optima The methods presented in distribution system for Washin ings of approximately 5 percen- can be realized without advers rough rules for pump operation 0 DISTRIBUTION AVALAB. TO 5 ABSTRACT	cal 't termation "8 Subject Yeams Therawic prog Energy conse Pumping stat and identify by block - application of ated water dist field testing g the best comb l discharges (o the report are gton, DC, and t t (\$90,000 per ely affecting s or for real-th	Continue on reverse ramping in rvation in ions instead of pumps to of ination of pumps to o	R5 Port Roya is if necessary and vater distrif vater supply, v for reduci- tems. The m ensure that umps to achi- levels). pumping stat They indic two pressur- methods can f pumping. /	I Road, S identify by b bution and the am ethodolog they are eve a giv ions serv ate that e zones i be used	pringfield, lock number) ount of y can y performing to en discharge, ing the water energy sav- nvestigated) in developing
6 SUPLEMENTARY NUMBER 6 SUPLEMENTARY NUMBER 5 SUPLEMENTARY NUMBER 7 COMMENTARY NUMBER 7 COMMENTARY NUMBER 9 ABSTRACT Continue on severse fracessary 2 This report presents and energy used for pumping in tre divided into three steps: (a) specifications, the determining and (c) determining the optimal The methods presented in distribution system for Washin ings of approximately 5 percen- can be realized without advers rough rules for pump operation 0 DISTRIBUTION AVA ABLIF OF ABSTRACT SUNCLASSIFIED UN MIED SAME AS F 2 NAME OF RESPONSIVE NON DUAL	cal 't termation 's SUBJECT TERMS 'Emamic prog Energy conse Pumping stat and identify by block - application of ated water dist field testing g the best comb l discharges for the report are gton, DC, and t t (\$90,000 per ely affecting s or for real-the Per	Continue on revers ramping in rvation in ions in methodology ribution sys of pumps to of ination of pur r tank water applied to phe vicinity. vear for the ervice. The me control of 21 ABSTRACT SE Unclassi 225 TELEPHONE	R5 Port Roya is if necessary and vater distri vater supply, v for reduci- tems. The m ensure that umps to achi- levels). pumping stat They indic two pressur methods can f pumping. / CURITY CLASSIFICA fied Unclude Area Code	I Road, S identify by b bution and the am ethodolog they are eve a giv ions serv ate that e zones i be used	pringfield, lock number) ount of y can y performing to en discharge, ing the water energy sav- nvestigated) in developing SYMBOL

stars) – Transford Massassa (Baranana (Baranana) – Transford – Transford – Transford – Transford – Transford Ba

PREFACE

This report describes the application of methods presented in Engineer Technical Letter (ETL) "Energy Efficiency at Water Supply Pumping Stations" to the Washington, DC, and vicinity water system. Both the ETL and this report were prepared under the Water System Operation, Maintenance and Rehabilitation Work Unit (CWIS 31794) of the Water Supply and Conservation Research Program. The technical monitors for this program in the Office, Chief of Engineers, were Mr. James Ballif (DAEN-ECE-B) and Mr. Robert Daniel (DAEN-CWP-D).

The work was conducted at the US Army Engineer (USAE) Waterways Experiment Station (WES), Vicksburg, Miss., and the University of Kentucky (UK), Civil Engineering Department. The report was written by Dr. Lindell E. Ormsbee, assistant professor of civil engineering at UK, working with WES under an Intergovernmental Personnel Act agreement; Dr. Thomas M. Walski, a research civil engineer with the Water Resources Engineering Group (WREG) of the Environmental Engineering Division (EED), Environmental Laboratory (EL), WES; and Messrs. Donald V. Chase and Wayne W. Sharp, UK students employed by WES under the contract student program. Mr. Anthony C. Gibson of the WREG assisted in field data collection.

Work done with the Washington Aqueduct Division (WAD) of the USAE District, Baltimore, was performed under the purview of Mr. Harry C. Ways, Chief, WAD; Mr. Perry Costas, Assistant Chief, WAD; and Mr. Douglas B. Pickering, Chief, Plant Operations Branch, WAD.

The report was reviewed by Mr. M. John Cullinane of the Water Supply and Waste Treatment Group, EED, and Dr. Keith W. Little of the Research Triangle Institute, Research Triangle Park, N. C. The report was edited by Ms. Jessica S. Ruff of the WES Information Technology Laboratory.

The study was conducted under the supervision of Mr. F. Douglas Shields, Jr., Acting Chief, WREG: Dr. Raymond L. Montgomery, Chief, EED; and Dr. John Harrison, Chief, EL.

Commander and Director of WES was COL Dwayne G. Lee, CE. Technical Director was Dr. Robert W. Whalin.

This report should be cited as follows:

Ormsbee, Lindell E., Walski, Thomas M., Chase, Donald V., and Sharp, Wayne W. 1987. "Techniques for Improving Energy Efficiency at Water Supply Pumping Stations," Technical Report EL-87-16, US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, Miss.

CONTENTS

	Page
PREFACE	1
CONVERSION FACTORS, NON-SI TO SI (METRIC) UNITS OF MEASUREMENT	4
PART I: INTRODUCTION	5
Background	5
Purpose	7
0verview	7
PART II: DESCRIPTION OF THE WASHINGTON, DC, DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM	9
General Network Characteristics	9
Pipe Distribution Facilities	14
Pumping Station Characteristics	14
Water Demand Schedule	17
Electric Rate Schedule	18
PART ITT. DIMP FIEID TEST RESULTS	20
	20
Dalecarlia Pumping Station	20
	22
	25
PART IV: UPTIMAL PUMP OPERATION POLICIES	20
Optimal Pump Combination Problem	26
Optimal Tank Operation Problem	29
	31
	52
PART V: APPLICATION OF METHODOLOGY TO WASHINGTON, DC, SYSTEM	34
Second High-Pressure Zone	34
Third High-Pressure Zone	34
System Demand and Electric Rate Schedules	30
Pump Operation Curves	43 50
Cost Operation Curves	67
Optimal Tank Trajectories	68
Optimal Pump Operation Policies	75
Sensitivity Analysis	75
Impact of Electric Demand Charges	87
Extension to Multitank Systems	93
	94
PART VI: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	95
Summary	95
Conclusions	96
REFERENCES	98
APPENDIX A: ENERGY EFFICIENCY AT WATER SUPPLY PUMPING STATIONS	Al
APPENDIX B: DEVELOPING SYSTEM HEAD CURVES	BI
	~• C1
AFFENDIA C. FIELD IEDI REDULID FUR DALECARLIA FUMPING DIALIUN	UL.

È

			Page
APPENDIX	D:	FIELD TEST RESULTS FOR BRYANT STREFT PUMPING STATION	[01]
APPENDIX	Е:	PCP - PUMP COMBINATION PROGRAM	F I
APPENDIX	F:	TOP - TANK OPERATION PROGRAM	ŧ1
APPENDIX	G :	TIME-METERED GENERAL SERVICE SCHEDULE "GT"	њ.

Accession For NTIS CONTRA LINE TAG Un point cel J. Stilizzationul R By_____ Destribution/ Avoil: Fluity Judes Dist (p. 1. 41/0r $\left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array} \right)$ A-1

CONVERSION FACTORS, NON-SI TO SI (METRIC) UNITS OF MEASUREMENT

Non-SI units of measurement used in this report can be converted to SI (metric) units as follows:

Multiply	Ву	'o Obtain
teet	0.3048	metres
garlons (US liquid)	3.785412	cubic decimetres
horsepower (550 foot-pounds (force) per second)	745.6494	watts
inches	2.54	centimetres
miles (US statute)	1.609347	kilometres
pounds (force) per square inch	6.894757	kilopascals

TECHNIQUES FOR IMPROVING ENERGY EFFICIENCY AT WATER SUPPLY PUMPING STATIONS

PART I: INTRODUCTION

Background

1. Significant changes in the cost and availability of energy in the "nited States have made energy management an important priority. Almost "percent of the electricity consumed in the United States is used by municipal water utilities (Brailey and Jacobs 1980). In conventional surface water systems, pumping may comprise up to 90 percent of the total energy budget. In ground-water systems where there is no treatment other than chlorination, pumping may account for more than 95 percent of the energy requirement (Reheis and Griffin 1984). From these percentages, it is clear that the major effort in energy conservation programs for water systems should be spent on improving pumping operation efficiency.

2. In recent years, several authors have shown that significant energy savings can be obtained by improving the operation policies associated with treated water pump systems (Trainer and Clopton 1976, Lizardos and Amato 1978, and Reid 1980). Attempts to improve pump operation efficiency may focus on three different operation problems: inefficient pumps, inefficient pump combinations, and inefficient pump scheduling. Each problem is discussed in detail in the following paragraphs.

3. For single-pump operation, improved efficiency may be obtained by reduction of the pumping head, reduction of the volume of water pumped, or an increase in the pumping efficiency (Patton and Horsly 1980). In order to evaluate the efficiency of an existing pump audits driver, the pump unit must normally be field tested (Gros 1976). An evaluation of the energy consumption and performance of a pump can also provide valuable information on its general condition. From this information, a rational decision can be made on the cost-effectiveness of repairing or replacing a low-efficiency pump (Aldworth 1983). Hodnik and Frye (1983) provided some methods for identifying inefficient pumps and incorporating efficiency into pump selection. BUNNEL BUNNEL

4. In addition to evaluating the efficiency of individual pumps, it is also important to evaluate the efficiency of multiple-pump combinations. For

pumping stations with multiple pumps, energy savings may be identified by examination of the overall efficiencies associated with operation of different combinations of pumps. Although different combinations of similar pumps may deliver the same approximate flow rate for a given head, some combinations may be less costly because of differences in pump efficiencies. In some cases, the efficiency of a pump when running alone can be significantly different than when it runs in conjuction with other pumps. Since the majority of water plants do not have written guidelines for operators to follow for obtaining optimal performance from their pumps (i.e., least-cost energy), pump selection at any time may be inefficient in terms of energy usage even though the operator's selection of pumps meets the flow and pressure demands (Reheis and Griffin 1984).

5. Although the evaluation of pump efficiencies may lead to a reduction in total energy usage charges, the reduction of time-of-day energy charges requires a modification of operation procedures over time (Chao 1979, Lackowitz and Petretti 1983). Real-time operation of a pumping system involves two different decision-making processes: development of an operating rule curve (tank level versus time of day) and implementation of the rule curve. For pumping systems that operate under essentially constant conditions, the rule curve may remain the same from day to day. For systems whose conditions vary greatly from day to day, the rule curve may have to be updated daily or even hourly (Shamir 1985).

6. Clingenpeel (1983) described the results of some studies to reduce energy consumption by taking advantage of off-peak power rates. Brunzell (1983) described how storage could be used to take advantage of electric rates and reduce demand charges.

7. Procedures for generating operation rule curves have been developed by DeMoyer and Horwitz (1975), Sterling and Coulbeck (1975a, b), and Sabet and Helweg (1985). The majority of these procedures were based on dynamic programming and were developed for relatively small, single-reservoir systems. Attempts at developing rule curves for more complex systems have been presented by Donachie et al. (1976), Damelin and Shamir (1976), Carpentier and Cohen (1984), and Shamir (1985).

Purpose

8. Although several authors have addressed individual aspects of pump operation efficiency, there remains a need for a comprehensive methodology for use in evaluating and improving the overall operating efficiencies of treated water pumping systems. The purpose of this study is to provide such a methodology. As part of this program, the District of Columbia (DC) and vicinity water system was selected for use as a case study for the application of the developed methodology.

9. The proposed methodology has been divided into three basic components. The first component concerns the field testing and evaluation of individual pump units. A review of fundamental concepts of pumping system design and operation is provided in Enclosure 1 of Appendix A. A discussion of the influence of changes in operating conditions on the system head curve is provided in Appendix B. Guidelines for pump field tests are provided in Enclosure 2 of Appendix A. A summary of the results of field tests for the two major pumping stations of the DC and vicinity system is provided in Appendixes C and D.

10. The second component of the methodology concerns the determination of optimal pump combinations for specified operating conditions. Guidelines for determining the optimal combinations are provided in Enclosure 3 of Appendix A. A computer program developed for use in determining the optimal combinations is described in Appendix E.

11. The third component concerns the determination of an optimal operating policy for each pumping station for a given set of operating conditions. This is accomplished using a sophisticated computer program based on dynamic programming. A detailed description of the program is given in Appendix F. A summary of the theoretical basis for the program is provided in Enclosure 4 of Appendix A.

Overview

12. To investigate the feasibility of the proposed optimal pump operation methodology for a large, real system, the methodology was applied to the DC and vicinity water distribution system. Part II of this report presents a summary of the general characteristics of the DC system. Part III presents a summary of the results of the pump field test for both the Dalecarlia and Bryant Street pumping stations. Part IV presents a summary of the proposed optimal pump methodology. Part V presents the results of the applications of the methodology to the second and third high-pressure zones of the DC system. Study recommendations and conclusions are presented in Part VI.

PARI TIRE DESCRIPTION OF THE WASHINGTON, THE DISCHIPTION OF THE

1. The Washington Acceduate System WASH (* 1996) - Arrowskie - SARA District, Partimore, the there that the second states to have to entry dialecterity and the METCHER of the Electronic A state of the sta • the formation from a state of the work of the second state of the 1119- Weter to Patter Party of But to order a set of the second second the state of the second se . المراجع والإرجاج المراجع والمراجع • • gan e e الجالج والأراد والمورا جواف والمراجع which is a state of the theory of the state • .

... istribution to concerent water to construct a construction of the primary responsible to the eater resonance of several to construct the construction of the const

General Network Characteristics

15. Ground elevations in DC vary from under "itt to 4.000 that above mean sea level. To provide an average water pressure of about 50 psinter this range in elevation, the city is divided into seven pressure nones, each comprising a certain range of ground elevations. The pressure in each of these service areas is controlled to maintain a range of 40 to 80 psi depending upon whether a given location is near the upper or lower boundary of the service area. A map of the different service areas (pressure zones) is provided in Figure 1. A profile of the distribution system is shown in Figure 2.

* A table of factors for converting non-SI units of measurement to SI (metric) units is presented on page 4.





Figure 2. Profile of the District of Columbia distribution system

-

などのないというないでいたとう

In. The low-service area, which includes the Federal district, is normally supplied by gravity from the McMillan treatment plant - Pressure is augmented by booster pumps from the Dalecarlia pumping station when required to demand. The Bryant Street pumping station is also capable of sumpling to the low-service area. Tow-service water also supplies lower elecations east of the Anacostia Biver and provides pump suction for the Approximation state of an ing station. From this station, water is litted to the Approximations east second high-service areas, not to be contract with the constraint of the service service areas to the west of the Anacostia Siver.

17. The first, second, and third tigh-service are sponsored and the second elevations west of the branching order, are upplied from both plants through the calebrarily and Brown treet contractions and high-service reservices. The tourth high-service elevations for the highest elevations in the northwest section of the outline to provide the treet contraction of the third high-service area into two elevated courth area tanks, all of Fort Reno.

18. In addition to serving De, the easter supplies water to several cities in Virginia. Arlington is supplied from the third big -service area. and Falls (burch is supplied from the second high-service area at the Dalecarlia pumping station. Federal buildings and reservations in firginia, such as the Pentagon and Washington National Airport, are supplied through the FOWM system, which is tied into the first high-pressure cone at the oridge. A schematic of the system is provided as Figure 4.

19. With respect to the total system, the Talecarlia and Broant treet pumping stations operate in parallel. The additional booster pumps in the system act in series with respect to the Broant Street and Dalecarlia stations. Because of this, and due to the magnitude of flows pumped by these two stations, only the Dalecarlia and Broant Street pumping stations were used in applying the proposed optimal operation methodology. As a result, mix the main system west of the Anacostia River and north of the Potimae was considered. The pump operation study was thus limited to the low-service and first, second, and third high-service areas. The fourth high-service area was included as a water user in the third high-service area, while the portion of DC east of the Anacostia River was considered to be a user in the low-service area. In addition, Arlington was included as a demand to the third high-service area, Falls Church was included as a demand to the second



Figure 3. Schematic of DC system

and the second

high-service area, and the FOWM was included as a demand to the first highservice area.

Pipe Distribution Facilities

20. The distribution system consists of about 1,286 miles of water mains ranging from 2 to 78 in. in diameter. In addition, the Federal Government maintains and operates 12.3 miles of transmission mains within DC, which deliver water to the first, second, and third high-service area reservoirs. The water distribution system has approximately 18,500 valves, 8,800 fire hydrants, and 132,000 services.

Distribution Storage Facilities

21. Storage facilities in the modeled system (low-service and first, second, and third high-service areas) are either ground-level reservoirs or elevated steel tanks that are connected directly to the distribution system. Storage is designed to equalize pressure during periods of heavy consumption and to equalize pumping power loads. All distribution system reservoirs are constructed of reinforced concrete and are covered entirely. Including the clearwell storage, the modeled system has a total available storage of 127.7 million gallons. Elevations and capacities of the distribution storage facilities in the adjacent areas are indicated in Table 1. Capacities of the storage facilities in the adjacent areas are indicated in Table 2.

Pumping Station Characteristics

22. The DC water distribution system contains four treated water pumping stations. The Dalecarlia pumping station is located at the Dalecarlia water treatment plant and is operated by the WAD. The total rated capacity of the Dalecarlia station is 477 million gallons per day (mgd). The Bryant Street, Anacostia, and Reno stations are located at various points in the system and are operated by the Department of Environmental Services. The total rated capacities of these three stations are 310, 157, and 22 mgd, respectively. Because the rated capacities of Anacostia and Reno are much

Service Area	Jurisdiction	Location	Capacity*	Max. Elev.	Min. Elev.
Low	DC WRMA	Brentwood Park	25.0	172	135
	WAD (clearwells)	North McMillan South McMillan Subtotal	12.9 20.3 33.2	159 159	135 135
First high	WAD DC WRMA	Foxhall Rd. NW Soldiers Home Subtotal	14.5 15.0 29.5	250 250	233 233
Second high	WAD	44th and Van Ness	14.6	335	318
Third high	WAD DC WRMA	New Reno NW Old Reno NW Subtotal	20.0 5.4 25.4	424 424	406 406
Total			127.7		

Table 1Reservoir Characteristics

* In millions of gallons.

Table 2Supplemental Reservoir Storage

Service Area	Capacity*
Fourth high	0.24
Anacostia first high	13.0
Anacostia second high	2.5
Falls Church	14.0
Arlington	32.0
FOWM	_0.0_
Total	61.74

* In millions of gallons.

smaller than Dalecarlia and Bryant Street, only Dalecarlia and Bryant Street pumping stations were analyzed in this study.

Dalecarlia pumping station

23. The present Dalecarlia pumping station, which was completed in 1958, consists of an underground reinforced concrete substructure, with a headhouse and electric substations aboveground. The underground portion is 205 ft long, 101 ft wide, and 47 ft deep, or approximately the depth of a four-story building. The station contains 15 Worthington, Inc., verticalshaft centrifugal pumps, each of which is connected to a 4,000-V, 60-cycle, three-phase, water-cooled synchronous electrical motor. The pumps have a combined capacity of 477 mgd. All pumping units are designed to run safely in reverse rotation, in case of power failure, at maximum runaway speed, for 5 min under heads equal to the rated heads. Each pump is equipped with a cone valve for surge protection during start-up and shutdown. In addition, a butterfly valve that is located downstream may be used to throttle the pumps. Three 8- by 8-ft finished-water suction conduits supply the pumps. These conduits draw water from the 14.5- and 30-million gallon clearwater basins located immediately north of the pumping station.

24. The station is completely air-conditioned to provide dehumidification and temperature control. The control center includes a supervisory switchboard for operation control of all major pumping units and auxiliary equipment contained in the station. It also provides for remote control of a 325-mgd raw-water booster pumping station including all major pumping units and auxiliary equipment installed in the raw-water supply intake works and pumping station at Little Falls. Water from the Dalecarlia pumping station is supplied to the low-service area and the first three high-service areas. All 15 pumps in the Dalecarlia station were manufactured by Worthington, Inc., and are driven by synchronous motors. Pump service areas and capacities are listed in Table 3.

Bryant Street pumping station

25. The Bryant Street pumping station is located on the north side of Bryant Street between 2nd and 4th Streets, NW, and south of the McMillan reservoir. The station is operated to maintain prodetermined minimum pressures on its pumped services. Suction is from 78-, 60-, and 48-in. connections from the McMillan clearwater basins. The maximum elevation of the McMillan clearwell is 159 ft.

Pump	Serial No.	Mode 1	Service Area	mgd	rpm	Head ft	Pump hp
1	1461376	30-MC-01-VRT	Low	50	514	50	500
2	1461375	30-MC-01-VRT	Low	50	514	50	500
3	1461374	30-MC-01-VRT	Low	50	514	50	500
4	1461379	26-NA-43-VRT	First high	35	600	145	1,000
5	1461378	26-NA-43-VRT	First high	35	600	145	1,000
6	1461377	26-NA-43-VRT	First high	35	600	145	1,000
7	1461382	18-NA~33-VRT	Second high	26	900	220	866
8	1461381	18-NA-33-VRT	Second high	20	900	220	866
9	1461380	18-NA-33-VRT	Second high	20	900	220	866
10	1461385	24-NA-38-VRT	Third high	27	900	300	1,590
11	1461384	24-NA-38-VRT	Third high	27	900	300	1,590
12	1461383	24-NA-38-VRT	Third high	27	900	300	1,590
13	1507034	24-NA-38-VRT	Third high	27	900	300	1,590
14	1507035	24-NA-38-VRT	Third high	27	900	300	1,590
15	1461386	24-NA-38-VRT	Third high	27	900	300	1,590

	Table (3	
Dalecarlia	Pumping	Station	Data

26. The Brvant Street Station was completely rehabilitated as of 1954. Pumps are protected from reversal on power failure by automatic closure of cone valves. Unlike the valves at Dalecarlia, these valves cannot be set at intermediate settings and must either be open or closed. The control panels include switchboards, flow and pressure recorders on pump discharge lines and nearby low-service trunk mains, and a piping diagram with position-indicating signals and controls for remote operation of important valves. Pump services and capacities for the Brvant Street pumping station are given in Table 4. Pumps 1-10 were manufactured by Worthington, Inc., while Pumps 11 and 12 were manufactured by Allis Chalmers. Pumps 1-10 operate in parallel; Pumps 11 and 12 operate in series.

Water Demand Schedule

27. The average water consumption by service areas of DC for fiscal year 1985 is given in Table 5. The average system demand for each pressure zone tends to vary depending upon the season and the day of the week. To

Pump	Serial No.	Mode 1	Service Area	mgd	rpm	Head ft	Pump hp
1	1346785	26-NA-43-VRT	First high	35	514	110	800
2	1346786	26-NA-43-VRT	First high	35	514	110	800
3	1346784	26-NA-43-VRT	First high	35	514	110	800
4	1346781	30-MC-01-VRT	Low	35	514	45	325
5	1346782	30-MC-01-VRT	Low	35	514	45	325
6	1346783	30-MC-01-VRT	Low	35	514	45	325
7	1346787	24-NA-38-VRT	Second high	25	720	.10	1,100
8	1346788	24-NA-38-VRT	Second high	25	220	.10	1,100
ò	1346789	18-NA-37-VRT	Third high	15	900	+10	1,000
10	1346790	15-NA-37-VRT	Third high	15	900	310	1,000
11		Size 20 + 18	Third high	20	2.245	155	325
1 7	13565	Size 20 + 18	Third high	20	$7 \ge 0$: 55	325

ladie	4	

Bryant Street Pumping Station Data

illustrate the impact of these factors on the daily average system demand, the demands for each service area for four different days in 1986 are shown in Table 6. The selected days were 20 March (winter, weekday), 29 March (winter, weekend), 8 June (summer, weekend), and 11 June (summer, weekday). For each service area, daily demand patterns may vary considerably from day to day. As a result, a single representative demand pattern could not be obtained.

Electric Rate Schedule

28. All pumping stations receive their power from the Potomac Electric Power Company. The general electric rate schedule is provided as Appendix G.

Service Area	Average Demand mgd
Low (including Anacostia) First high (including FOWM) Second high (including Falls Church) Third high (including Fourth High and Arlington)	72.5 38.7 39.8 64.6
Total	215.6
Folk Arlington Falls Curch Fotal	3.223.316.042.5

Table 5 Water Consumption, Fiscal Year 1985

Table 6

Typical Demands, 1986

<u>}</u>

······································		Water Use
Service Area	Date	mgd
Low	(20 March 1986)	100
	(29 March 1986)	73
	(8 June 1986)	118
	(11 June 1986)	116
First high	(20 March 1986)	36
	(29 March 1986)	33
	(8 June 1986)	41
	(11 June 1986)	53
Second high	(20 March 1986)	38
	(29 March 1986)	40
	(8 June 1986)	52
	(11 June 1986)	50
Third high	(20 March 1986)	51
	(29 March 1986)	54
	(8 June 1986)	65
	(11 June 1986)	69
Total	(20 March 1986)	225
	(29 March 1986)	200
	(8 June 1986)	276
	(11 June 1986)	288

PART III: PUMP FIELD TEST RESULTS

29. Before the general methodology was applied to the DC and vicinity distribution system, each pump within the Dalecarlia and Bryant Street pumping stations was first field tested. The guidelines for the field tests are provided in Enclosure 2 of Appendix A. The following paragraphs present the results of those tests.

Dalecarlia Pumping Station

30. The pumps at the Dalecarlia station were field tested on 30 and 31 September 1985. At the time of the tests, Pumps 13 and 14 were out of service and were not tested. In addition to tests of the individual pumps, measurements were made where several multiple-pump combinations were operating.

31. Where possible, each pump was tested individually. The test was begun by first running the pump with the discharge line closed in order to determine the shutoff head. The valve in the discharge line was then opened partially and pressure, flow, and power readings were obtained. This process was continued until the valve was completely opened. Before each reading, time was allowed for the flow and head to reach steady-state conditions. After the valve was completely opened, it was slowly closed in incremental steps, and another set of readings was obtained.

32. Pressure readings were obtained using a calibrated Bordon tube pressure gage that was connected to the discharge line of the pump. The suction head was calculated using the elevation of the center line of the pump and the clearwell elevation. For the Dalecarlia station, the clearwell is above the pump center line which, coupled with short, large suction lines, results in a positive suction head. The center-line elevation of the discharge lines of each pump is 106 ft. During the field tests the clearwell elevation varied between 134 and 135 ft.

33. Power and flow readings were obtained using the instrumentation in the control room. The flow meters were calibrated on 18 October 1985. All flow meters were found to be within acceptable limits, with the exception of the meter on the third high-service area, which was found to be 16.9 percent high at the 35-mgd rate. As a result, flow readings for the pumps on the

third high-service system were adjusted accordingly. The results of the field tests for each pump are provided in Appendix C.

34. After the field data were collected for each pump, the results were compared with the most recent pump curves available from the manufacturer. According to available records, these curves were developed in 1959. Comparisons of the percent differences between measured and manufacturer's values of flow rate and power as a function of pump head are given for each pump in Figure 4. As shown, the percent differences for the power readings are generally much smaller than the flow rate readings. The reason for the much larger deviation in the pump head versus flow rate curves can be explained in terms of changes in the pump characteristics over time or in terms of measurement errors. Since the pump head versus power curves matched very well, it was concluded that the deviations were due to measurement error.

35. To determine the possible cause of this apparent error, a careful review of the data was performed. Based on this examination it was concluded that the measured flow rates were the most likely source of the error. This conclusion was based on the accuracy of the measuring equipment. While the pressure and horsepower measurements were obtained directly from power and pressure gages, the flow rate readings were obtained from circular pen charts. The range of measurement error was thus much greater for the flow rate measurements than for the power and pressure measurements.

36. Since the measured flow rates were concluded to be in error, wireto-water efficiencies based on the measured data could not be determined. However, since the measured pump head versus power curves showed such a good correlation with the manufacturer's pump head versus power curves, and since this relationship is a function of flow rate, it was concluded that the actual wire-to-water efficiencies were most likely very close to the original manufacturer's values. As a result, all wire-to-water efficiencies were obtained using the measured values of pump head and the original manufacturer's efficiency curves.

37. In addition to testing the efficiency of each pump under conditions of single-pump operation, the efficiency of each pump while operating in combination with other pumps was also determined. The maximum observed efficiency for each pump for different pump combinations is illustrated in Table 7.





Bryant Street Pumping Station

38. The pumps at the Bryant Street station were field tested on 31 September 1985. At the time of the test, results were not obtained for Pump 1. In addition to single pump tests, tests were also performed for several combinations of multiple-pump operations.

Pump	Number of Pumps Operating			
No.	1	2	3	
1	0.84	0.75	-	
2	0.82	0.74	_	
3	0.84	-	_	
	0.84	0.85	_	
5	0.87	-	-	
ĥ	0.85	0.85	-	
7	0.70	0.84	_	
8	0.82	0.85	-	
9	0.82	0.85	-	
10	0.85	0.86	0.85	
1 1	0.85	0.86	0.84	
12	0.85	0.85	0.85	
13	-	-	-	
14	-	-	-	
15	0.85	0.84	0.85	

Table 7 Observed Wire-to-Water Efficiencies for Multiple-Pump Combinations, Dalecarlia Pumping Station

39. The pumps at Brvant Street station were not equipped with valves on the discharge lines that could be throttled in incremental steps. Instead, the pump was started up with the cone valve closed. Pressure, flow, and power readings were then obtained as the valve was opened. Given the resulting transient flow situation, only the readings with the pump closed and the pump fully opened can be accredited with any reliability.

47. Pressure readings at the Bryant Street station were obtained in the same manner as at the Dalecarlia station. As before, the suction head was obtained using the clearwell elevations and center line of the pumps. For the Bryant Street station, the center-line elevation of the pumps was 118 ft. During the tests the clearwell elevation varied between 155 and 157 ft. Transient flow readings were obtained using pressure transducer instrumentation. Steady-state readings from the pressure transducer were augmented with the readings from the control room instrumentation.

41. Unlike the Dalecarlia station, the Bryant Street station pumps are driven with squirrel cage induction motors. As a result, the instrumentation in the control room did not provide power readings in kilowatts directly. Instead, instrumentation was provided for power in kvars and current in amps. However, using this information and the voltage drop across the pumps, the resulting kilowatt power can be determined (see Appendix A). For the Bryant Street station, the voltage drop across the pumps is equal to 2.3 kV. The pump field test results for the Bryant Street station are given in Appendix D.

42. As before, after the field tests were completed, the results were compared with the data obtained from manufacturers' pump curves. Percent differences were obtained for different values of wire-to-water efficiency. For the Bryant Street station, only three manufacturers' pump curves could be obtained (i.e., for Pumps 6, 7, and 8). As a result, wire-to-water efficiency comparisons could be obtained for only these pumps.

43. As with the Dalecarlia station, several multiple-pump combination tests were also conducted. The results of these tests are shown in Table 8.

	<u>Pryant Street Pu</u>	Pryant Street Pumping Station			
Pump	Number of Pumps Operating				
No.	1	2	3		
1	-	0.76	-		
2	0.76	0.66	-		
3	0.73	0.77	-		
4	0.33	0.54	-		
5	0.84	0.52	-		
6	0.88	-	-		
7	0.80	-	-		
8	0.56	-	-		
9	0.76	-	-		
10	0.85	-	-		

Table 8

Observed Wire-to-Water officiencies for Multiple-Pump Combinations, Bryant Street Pumping Station

24

0.67

Summary

44. In general, all tie pumps in the Dalecarlia station appear to be operating near their peak efficiencies. These results are somewhat clouded, however, due to accuracy problems encountered in measuring flow rate. Since the pump head and power readings are accurate, the pump efficiency readings obtained are at least consistent. In general, increasing the number of pumps operating in parallel does not seriously affect the peak pump efficiencies of the individual pumps. This indicates that the pumps were correctly selected.

45. The field test results for the Bryant Street pumping station are probably less accurate than the results obtained for the Dalecarlia station. This loss of accuracy resulted in part from the inability to obtain multiple readings by throttling the pumps. In addition, four parameters had to be measured for each pump at Bryant Street while only three parameters had to be measured for the Dalecarlia pumps. Although manufacturers' pump curves were obtained for all the Dalecarlia pumps, curves were available for only three pumps in the Bryant Street station. As a result, an evaluation of the effect of pump wear on the Bryant Street pumps was greatly limited.

46. In general, the majority of the Bryant Street pumps appeared to be operating at reasonably efficient levels (although lower than Dalecarlia). Two exceptions to this trend were Pumps 4 and 8, which were operating at much lower efficiency levels. It should be noted, however, that only two measurements were obtained for these pumps and, in both cases, these readings were at extremes in their operating range.

PART IV: OPTIMAL PUMP OPERATION POLICIES

47. This part presents a summary of a methodology for determining the optimal pump operation policy for a given distribution system. The operation policy for a pump station is a set of rules or guidelines that indicates when a particular pump or group of pumps should be turned on and off over a specified period of time. The optimal pump operation policy is fetimed as that schedule of pump operations that will result in the lowest total operation goost for a given set of operating conditions.

48. For systems whose hydraulies are dominated by elevated storage, the pump operation will be directly related to the water level (or storage) in the tank. As a result, any optimal pump operating policy will have with it an associated optimal tank trajectory. The optimal tank trajectory is a curve that indicates the optimal tank level at a given time during a specified oper-ating period.

49. The optimal pump operation problem can be subdivided into two subproblems. The first problem involves determining the optimal pump combination required to produce a specified tank transition. This problem will be defined the "optimal pump combination problem." The second problem involves determining the optimal tank trajectory over a specified period of time for a given set of operating conditions. This problem will be defined the "optimal tank operation problem." Together, both problems constitute the optimal pump operation problem. Solution methodologies for all three problems are discussed in the following sections.

Optimal Pump Combination Froblem

50. The optimal pump combination problem may be solved using a two-step solution methodology. Each step requires the application of a lifterent computer program, as shown in Figure 5. The first step produces a set of curves that are used in the second step. The final step produces the lesired optimal pump combination. A discussion of each step is provided in the following sections.

Sevelopment of pump operation curves

51. The first step involves the development of a set of pump operation surves for each possible pump combination. These curves can be constructed



Figure 5. Optimal pump combination flowchart

using the results obtained from the application of a network analysis program to a model of the distribution system for a wide range of operating conditions. Guidelines for the construction of the curves are provided in Enclo-Sure 3 of Appendix A. Two groups of operating curves are required. The first group of operation curves are called tank levels versus flow rate (TLF) curves the digure 6). Normally, three different curves are required for each pump combination. For a given pump combination and average tank level, these hurves can be used to determine the flow supplied by each pump combination over a specified time interval. The second group of curves are called tank level versus unit cost (TLC) curves (see Figure 7). As with the TLF curves, three different curves are required for each different pump combination.

Determination of optimal pump combinations

52. For a given pump combination and average tank level, the pump operation curves can be used to determine the operating cost associated with a particular pump combination. To determine the optimal pump operating policy for a given pumping station, many possible pump combinations must be examined for a wide range of operating conditions. The TLF and TLC curves provide a simplified way for approximating the hydraulics and operating costs of a particular pump combination without resorting to a complete hydraulic and economic analysis.

3. The optimal pump combination for a particular operating condition can be determined by applying an optimal pump combination program (PCP) developed especially for this purpose. A description of the program is given in

27



Figure 6. Pump operation curves - tank level versus flow rate



TANK LEVEL, FT



1000 M

فليرجح وموليا ولت

Appendix E. A discussion of the theory behind the program is given in Enclosure 3 of Appendix A. Basically, the program uses the TLF and TLC curves as input data and then enumerates all the possible pump combinations that will meet a specified set of operating conditions. Once the combinations have been identified, the program determines the cost associated with each combination and ranks the combinations from the least to most expensive.

Optimal Tank Operation Problem

54. The optimal tank operation problem may also be solved using a twostep solution methodology. As before, each step requires the application of a different computer program, as shown in Figure 8. Each step of the methodology is discussed in the following sections.

Development of cost operation curves

55. The first step involves the development of a set of cost operation curves (see Figure 9). These curves can be used to determine the minimum cost required to change from one tank level to another over a specified period of time for a required flow rate from the pumping station. The required flow rate will be equal to the sum of the system demand plus (or minus) the flow



Figure 8. Optimal tank operation flowchart



REQUIRED FLOWRATE, GPM Figure 9. Cost operation curves

rate equivalent of the change in storage in the tank. These curves are used by an optimal tank trajectory program for determining the optimal tank trajectory for a given tank. Three curves are normally required to cover the range of possible operating conditions. Each curve may be obtained by fitting a polynomial through a series of data points. Normally a quadratic curve is sufficient to describe the variation of unit cost and flow rate for a given tank transition. As a result, only three points are needed to construct each curve. Each point on a particular curve represents the minimum cost required to supply a given flow rate from the pump station while operating over the specified tank transition. This minimum cost can be obtained by determining the optimal pump combination associated with the particular operating condition. The optimal pump combination can be determined by applying the PCP discussed previously.

Determination of the optimal tank trajectory

56. The second step involves the determination of the optimal tank trajectory. This is accomplished using an optimal tank operation program (TOP). A description of the program is given in Appendix F. A discussion of the theory behind the program is given in Enclosure 4 of Appendix A. The TOP uses dynamic programming to determine the optimal tank trajectory for a given set of operating conditions. In applying dynamic programming to the optimal tank trajectory problem, the overall problem is broken into a series of subproblems. This is accomplished by dividing the operating period (typically a day) into smaller time units (typically hours). The dynamic program then solves a series of subproblems to determine the overall or global solution. Each subproblem involves determining the best possible tank transition for a given time segment (e.g., 1 hr). For each subproblem, the dynamic program must evaluate numerous potential tank transitions. The cost associated with each tank transition must be determined by solving the optimal pump combination problem discussed above. One way to handle this problem would be to embed the PCP directly into the TOP. Although this is a possible approach, it does not represent a computationally feasible alternative. Another approach would be to approximate the results of the PCP with a series of curves. This is accomplished through the construction of the cost operation curves discussed above. For any given tank transition associated with a particular subproblem, the required flow rate can be determined. As a result, the cost associated with the required flow rate and an associated tank transition can be determined directly from the cost operation curves.

Optimal Pump Operation Problem

57. The advantage of using the cost operation curves in TOP as an alternative to directly using PCP is that the resulting program is much more computationally efficient. The disadvantage is that TOP vields only the optimal tank trajectory; the pump operation policy needed to produce the trajectory is not determined. However, once the optimal tank trajectory has been determined, the pump operation policy required to produce the trajectory can be determined by reapplying PCP for each individual tank transition. Since the initial and final tank levels for a given period are now known (from 1015), PCP can be used to determine the optimal pump combination required to produce each such transition. As a result, the optimal pump operation problem can be solved by combining the solution methodologies for both the optimal pump

combination problem and the optimal tank operation problem into a single solution methodology. The resulting methodology is summarized in Figure 10.

Summary

58. The general optimal pump operating methodology can be summarized in four steps:

- a. Develop pump operation curves for each possible pump combination associated with a given service area using the procedures outlined in Enclosure 3 of Appendix A.
- b. Develop cost operation curves for each service area using the curves developed in step a and the pump combination program discussed in Appendix E.
- <u>c</u>. Determine the optimal tank trajectory for each service area for a specified demand pattern using the curves developed in step <u>b</u> and the tank operation program discussed in Appendix F.



Ì

<u>d</u>. Determine the optimal pump combinations for each time interval in a given day using the pump combination program (Appendix E), the pump operation curves developed in step <u>a</u>, and the optimal tank trajectory determined in step <u>c</u>.
PART V: APPLICATION OF METHODOLOGY TO WASHINGTON, DC, SYSTEM

59. To illustrate the applicability of the optimal pump operating methodology, the methodology was applied to two of the four pressure zones (service areas) of the primary DC distribution system. The zones selected for this study were the second and third high-pressure zones. Although the general methodology could have been applied to the low-service and first highpressure zones as well, the second and third high-pressure zones were selected based on the fact that no gravity flows from the clearwells were present (as in the low-service zone) and only one tank policy was needed (two are needed for the first high-pressure system). Although both of these factors could have been incorporated into the methodology as discussed in a later section, their absence simplified the problem.

Second High-Pressure Zone

60. The second high-pressure zone supplies water to that portion of DC west of the Anacostia River, with ground elevations between 140 and 210 ft. In addition, Falls Church is also supplied from this zone. During 1985, the average daily demand for the second high-pressure system was 39.8 mgd. On the average, 16.0 mgd was supplied to Falls Church. A schematic of the system is shown in Figure 11.

61. The second high-pressure zone is supplied by three pumps in the Dalecarlia pumping station and two pumps in the Bryant Street station. (The physical characteristics of these pumps are described in Part II.) The pressure head in the system is provided by a single 14.6-million gallon storage tank located at 44th Street and Van Ness. The maximum elevation of the tank is 225 ft, while the minimum elevation is 318 ft. Under normal operating conditions the water level in the tank is maintained between 334 and 326 ft.

Third High-Pressure Zone

62. The third high-pressure zone supplies water to that portion of the District of Columbia west of the Anacostia River, with ground elevations between 210 and 350 ft. Arlington and the fourth high-pressure zone are also supplied from the third high-pressure system. During 1985 the average daily



Figure 11. Schematic of second high-pressure zone

demand for the third high-pressure system was 64.6 mgd. Of this amount, 23.3 mgd was used by Arlington. A schematic of the system is shown in Figure 12.

63. The third high-pressure zone is supplied by six pumps in the Dalecarlia pumping station and three pumps in the Bryant Street station. (The physical characteristics of these pumps are described in Part II.) The pressure head in the system is provided by two tanks located at the Reno pumping station. The combined capacity of the tanks is 25.4 million gallons. The maximum elevation of the tanks is 424 ft, while the minimum elevation is 406 ft. Under normal operating conditions the water level in the tanks is maintained between 424 and 414 ft.



Ì

بالانتخاب والمنافعة



System Demand and Electric Rate Schedules

64. The optimal pump operation policy for a particular system will change from day to day depending on: (a) the electric rate schedule and (b) the system demand schedule. The electric rate schedule for both the Dalecarlia and Bryant Street pumping stations varies dependent upon the season (winter versus summer) and the particular day of the week (weekend versus weekday). The system demand schedule also varies considerably depending upon the season and day of the week.

65. In order to examine the impact of these factors on the optimal pump operation policy, the optimal pump operation methodology was applied to both the second and third high-pressure systems for four different days in 1986: 20 March (winter, weekday); 29 March (winter, weekend); 8 June (summer,

weekend); and 11 June (summer, weekday). The electric rate schedules for these 4 days for both pressure zones are shown in Figures 13-16. The electric rate schedules were constructed from the Potomac Electric Power Company timemetered general service schedule shown in Appendix G.

66. The system demand schedules for these 4 days for both pressure zones are shown in Figures 17-24. The flow rate demand for each hour was obtained by performing a mass balance of pump flows and tank flows using the following equation:

$$Q(demand) = Q(pump) \pm \frac{\Delta V(tank)}{\Delta t}$$

where

Q(demand) = flow rate demand Q(pump) = pump flow

 $\Delta V(tank)$ = change in tank volume during time interval Δt

Values of Q(pump) and $\Delta v(tank)$ were obtained from daily operation records for each system.



Figure 13. Electric rate schedule, Thursday, 20 March 1986



Ì





Figure 15. Electric rate schedule, Sunday, 8 June 1986

たいというないので、



Figure 17. Second high-pressure system demand, Thursday, 20 March 1986



Figure 18. Second high-pressure system demand, Saturday, 24 March 1986







Figure 2 . Second high-pressure system demand, Wednesday 11 June 1986



lighter and hits Higher ressure system demand, Thursday, 20 March 1986

. .



Figure 22. Third high-pressure system demand, Saturday, 29 March 1986



Figure 23. Third high-pressure system demand, Sunday, 8 June 1986



Figure 24. Third high-pressure system demand, Wednesday, 11 June 1986

Network Model Calibration

67. Before the optimal pump operation methodology was applied to each pressure zone, a mathematical model of each system was constructed. Each model was developed based on the network schematics in Figures 11 and 12. The physical parameters associated with each model are shown in Tables 9 and 10.

68. After a mathematical model of each pressure zone was developed, each model was calibrated using operational data for each day. In calibrating each model, a continuous simulation run was made for each day using the observed pumping operating policy and associated system demand data. Each model was calibrated by adjusting selected headloss coefficients. Comparisons between the observed and simulated tank water levels for each day for the final calibration runs are shown in Figures 25-32. As can be seen from the figures, the calibrated models were able to reproduce most of the observed tank water levels very closely for a wide range of system demands and pump operating conditions. The worst case was for the second high-pressure system on 11 June 1986. For this day a maximum error of 2 ft was obtained. Attempts

Pipe	Length	Diameter	Roughness
NO.		111.	(0-14000)
1	10,550	30	100
2	9,250	16	100
3	9,000	20	100
4	2,950	24	60
5	800	36	60
6	3,500	36	60
7	11,200	36	100
8	18,300	36	60
9	3,250	36	60
10	4,650	36	60
11	6,900	36	60
12	2,800	36	60
13	14,330	42	60
14	280	42	30
15	500	42	80
16	7,600	36	100
17	700	36	100

, ,

Table 9Pipe Characteristics for Second High-Pressure System

Pipe No.	Length ft	Diameter in	Roughness (C-factor)
1	580	36	80
2	3,730	36	100
3	6,620	36	100
4	7,050	36	100
5	1,800	24	100
6	9,200	24	80
7	7,130	36	50
8	1,350	36	150
9	500	36	150
10	17,490	48	100
11	2,250	20	100
12	12,480	48	150
13	16,880	48	150

		Tab.	le 10		
Pipe	Characteristics	for	Third	High-Pressure	System



Figure 26. Second high-pressure system calibration results, Saturday, 29 March 1986

مورعة مرجوع والموجوع والموجوع



Figure 27. Second high-pressure system calibration results, Sunday, 8 June 1986



Figure 28. Second high-pressure system calibration results, Wednesday, 11 June 1986



Figure 29. Third high-pressure system calibration results, Thursday, 20 March 1986



Figure 30. Third high-pressure system calibration results, Saturday, 29 March 1986



Figure 31. Third high-pressure system calibration results, Saturday, 8 June 1986



Figure 32. Third high-pressure system calibration results, Wednesday, 11 June 1986

to improve the calibration for this day were limited by some unresolvable discrepancies in the recorded pump flows.

Pump Operation Curves

69. Once a calibrated model of each system was obtained, it was used to develop a set of pump operation curves for each possible pump combination. For the second high-pressure system, 11 different combinations of five pumps are possible. A listing of the possible pump combinations is provided as Table 11. For the third high-pressure system, 27 different combinations of nine pumps are possible. A listing of the possible pump combinations is given as Table 12. For each pump combination, different TLF and TLC curves were obtained for three different system demands. For the second and third highpressure zones, system demands of 10,000, 35,000, and 60,000 gpm were used. This resulted in three different TLF and TLC curves for each pump combination. Both TLF and TLC curves were developed assuming a constant clearwell level. For Dalecarlia the clearwell level was set at 135 ft while Bryant Street was set at 155 ft. The extra 20 ft of head at Bryant Street is supplied by the McMillan pumping station. The cost of producing this additional head was included in the TLC curves for the Bryant Street station so that both pumping stations would be treated on an equal basis.

70. Each TLF curve was obtained by fitting a quadratic function through three data points. Fach data point was obtained by applying the calibrated network model for each pump combination in each system for a specified system demand and tank level. The total flow rate for both pumping stations that results from this simulation was then plotted against the associated tank level. For the second high-pressure system, tank levels of 318, 326.5, and 335 ft were used. For the third system, tank levels of 406, 415, and 424 ft were used.

71. The data points used in constructing the TLF curves for the second high-pressure system are shown in Table 13. A typical set of TLF curves for the second system is shown in Figure 33. The equations corresponding to these curves may be written as follows:

Maximum average demand curve: $Q_{n} = 69,930 - 85.6*h - 0.02076*h^{2}$

	Dal	ecarl Pumps	ia	 Bryant Pumps		
Combination	7	8	9	7	8	
1	х					
2	Х	Х				
3	Х	Х	Х			
4				Х		
5	Х			Х		
6	х	Х		Х		
7	х	Х	Х	Х		
8				Х	Х	
9	Х			Х	Х	
10	Х	Х		Х	Х	
11	x	Х	Х	Х	Х	

Table 11 Pump Combinations for Second High-Pressure System

Note: X = pump operating.

Pump			Paleca Pum	arlia os		<u> </u>		Bryant Pumps	
Combination	10	11	<u>12</u>	13	14	15	9	10	11
1	Х								
<u>·2</u>	Х	Х							
3	Х	Х	Х						
4	Х	Х	Х	Х					
5	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х				
6	Х	Х	Х	Х	х	Х			
7							Х		
8	Х						х		
9	Х	Х					Х		
1.0	Х	Х	Х				х		
11	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х		
12	Х		Х	Х	х		Х		
13	x	Х	Х	Х	х	х	х		
14							х	х	
15	Х						х	Х	
16	Х	х					х	Х	
1 7	Х	X	Х				х	Х	
] 8	Х	х	Х	Х			х	х	
ļà	X	Σ	Х	Х	х		х	Х	
20	Х	X	X	Х	Х	х	х	Х	
							х	Х	х
	X						х	Х	Х
. ;	X	Ť.					х	х	х
	X	X	Х				х	х	Х
	У	Х	Х	Х			х	х	х
1.6	Х		Х	X	х		X	х	Х
	X	X.	Х	У	X	X	Х	X	Х

		Τa	able 12	2	
Pump	Combinations	for	Third	High-Pressure	System

Note: X = pump operating.

Pump	Tank Level	Flow Rate	Tank Level	Flow Rate	Tank Level	Flow Rate
Combination	<u> ft</u>	gpm	<u> ft</u>	gpm	<u> </u>	gpm
1	335.	19,224.	326.5	19,795.	318.	20,373.
	335.	16,898.	326.5	17,574.	318.	18,240.
	335.	15,433.	326.5	16,032.	318.	16,629.
2	335.	33,194.	326.5	34,234.	318.	35,250.
	335.	29,289.	326.5	30,307.	318.	31,240.
	335.	24,304.	326.5	25,465.	318.	26,525.
3	335.	42,368.	326.5	43,529.	318.	44,651.
	335.	35,627.	326.5	37,036.	318.	38,350.
	335.	27,147.	326.5	28,679.	318.	30,107.
4	335.	21,734.	326.5	21,988.	318.	22,232.
	335.	18,225.	326.5	18,729.	318.	19,205.
	335.	15,312.	326.5	15,912.	318.	16,464.
5	335.	38,937.	326.5	39,781.	318.	40,622.
	335.	34,355.	326.5	35,586.	318.	36,770.
	335.	29,444.	326.5	30,599.	318.	31,690.
6	335.	52,551.	326.5	53,906.	318.	55,239.
	335.	46,317.	326.5	47,811.	318.	49,198.
	335.	36,513.	326.5	38,204.	318.	39,771.
7	335.	61,584.	326.5	63,183.	318.	64,656.
	335.	51,647.	326.5	53,506.	318.	55,245.
	335.	38,518.	326.5	40,510.	318.	42,373.
8	335.	33,302.	326.5	34,228.	318.	35,136.
	335.	27,680.	326.5	28,562.	318.	29,386.
	335.	18,954.	326.5	19,868.	318.	20,731.
9	335.	49,515.	326.5	51,082.	318.	52,656.
	335.	43,566.	326.5	45,076.	318.	46,520.
	335.	32,445.	326.5	33,870.	318.	35,206.
10	335.	63,253.	326.5	65,354.	318.	67,371.
	335.	54,547.	326.5	56,311.	318.	57,948.
	335.	38,626.	326.5	40,517.	318.	42,294.
11	335.	71,740.	326.5	73,933.	318.	76,014.
	335.	59,195.	326.5	61,277.	318.	63,206.
	335.	40,349.	326.5	42,497.	318.	44,502.

Table 13

Data Points for TLF Curves for Second High-Pressure System



Figure 33. Typical set of TLF curves for second high-pressure system Median average demand curve: $Q_p = 47,295 + 70.3*h - 0.32526*h^2$ Minimum average demand curve: $Q_p = 26,521 + 157.1*h - 0.44291*h^2$

where

Q = pump discharge, gpm

h = tank water level, ft

The data points used in constructing the TLF curves for the third highpressure system are shown in Table 14. A typical set of TLF curves for the

5.4

form y	Tank	Stow Pate	Tank	Flow Bate	Tank	Flow Rate
<u>inat:</u> p	[ere]	<u>8pm</u>	<u>level</u>	<u>gpm</u>	Level	gpm
				23,431.	406.	24.418.
	•		. S.	22,418,	406.	23,916.
	• • • •		· · · · ·	22,455.	406.	23,431.
		ية بر	415	.5 068	406	46 884
	•	1 989	_1.5		406	45 587
	· · · ·	40,08 <u>0</u> ,	·• ·	41,785.	406.	43,477.
3	۰.,	41 0°C			1.04	((0.20
,	• • • •	51,0 0.	·• : !.	- <u> </u>	405.	60,028.
	•••••		·••).	60,935.	406.	63,292.
	ہ را نہ ہ	54, <u>1</u> 51,	415.	`h, '⊥.	406.	59,090.
•	·• . · • .	15,629.	415.	Z8,652.	406.	81,450.
		10,687.	415.	······································	406.	76,644.
	· · · ·	63,648.	-15.	hh,987.	406.	70,056.
5	4.°4.	લક્ષણો,	415.	89.628.	406.	92,985.
		TR 655	415.	82,408,	406.	85 849
	•	69,300	415.	73,271.	40 5 .	76,937.
Þ	- ³ 4	Q 5 83.5	<u>(</u> 15)	96-967	50 5	100 819
		43 599	. 1 C	87 83	406	<u>q1</u> 740
		2,492.	41°.	76,915	406.	81,027
2						
	• •	11,901.	• •		40 6 .	12,562.
	• •	, h . `.	-15.	, 469.	•06•	12,296.
	۰. · · • •		415.	11, 166.	106.	12,089.
-	· · · · ·	83, ⁴⁹⁸ 4.	· · · · ·	17, 143.	40h.	36,607.
	•. •.	۶ 3, «۴۴.	• • •	34, 180.	406.	36,105.
	• •	s.,∴98.	• •	34,018.	• ¹¹ h.	35,299.
·•	• •	5 	•! 5.	se, ata.	40h.	59,102.
	• . • .	<u>``</u> , ≀⊤	• • • •	55 - 5K	.06.	57,534.
	• •		•		406.	54,911.
•7	•. •.		•	1.115	()+:	*H_1143.
		6 - A			14.	60
	•	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•			15,056
	4	- r		ta suita		416 461
		•	• •	• • • و ۲۰ د) د اد		
	• ••	•	• • •	•••	• • • •	от у Моли 1946 - 1913 -
	• • •	` , .	• •	• · ·	• • • • •	- · · · · · ·

Table 14

Tata Solute for DE Surves for Third High-Pressure System

/ ontinued

والمراجع المراجع المراجع

wheet i of Ri

Pump	Tank	Flow Rate	Tank	Flow Rate	Tank	Flow Rate
como filac fon	101	<u></u>		<u> </u>		<u> </u>
12	424.	96,623.	415.	100,594.	406.	104,254.
	424.	88,805.	415.	92,821.	406.	96,549.
	424.	/8,/65.	415.	83,023.	405.	86,950.
13	424.	103,200.	415.	107,627.	406.	111,711.
	424.	93,441.	415.	97,943.	406.	102,117.
	424.	81,715.	415.	86,391.	406.	90,745.
14	424.	22,167.	415.	22,754.	406.	23,329.
	424	21.491.	415.	22,111.	406.	22,686.
	424.	20,825.	415.	21,479.	406.	22,088.
15	424	44.058.	415.	45.643.	406.	47,211.
	424	43,257	415.	44.882.	406.	46.450.
	424.	41,825.	415.	43,432.	406.	44,978.
16	4.24	6/ 900	415	67 360	406	69.762
10	424.	62 836	415	65 216	406	67,517
	424.	59,576.	415.	61,899.	406.	64,144.
17	101	82 /1/	(15	95 / 15	406	88 371
17	424.	02,414. 70 572	415.	0J,41J. 91 542	400.	84 326
	424.	70,575.	415.	75 999	400.	78 821
	424.	12,019.	415.	73,000.	400.	70,021.
18	424.	96,183.	415.	99,725.	406.	103,019.
	424.	89,798.	415.	93,487.	406.	96,916.
	424.	81,122.	415.	85,093.	406.	88,782.
19	424.	105,704.	415.	109,889.	406.	113,776.
	424.	97,012.	415.	101,321.	406.	105,315.
	424.	86,018.	415.	90,593.	406.	94,857.
20	424.	111,982.	415.	116,635.	406.	120,945.
	424.	101.383.	415.	106,161.	406.	110,589.
	424.	88,737.	415.	93,729.	406.	98,377.
21	424	31,739.	415.	32,800.	406.	33.804.
	424.	30,205.	415.	31.316.	406.	32,371.
	424.	28,603.	415.	29,760.	406.	30,848.
22	424	53, 501	415	55,576,	406.	57.613.
~ •	424	51,831	415	53,907.	406.	55.932
	424	49,203.	415.	51.284.	406.	53.286.

Table 14 (Continued)

(Continued)

(Sheet 2 of 3)

Pump Combination	Tank Level	Flow Rate	Tank Level	Flow Rate	Tank Level	Flow Rate
23	424.	74,258.	415.	77,135.	406.	79,944.
	424.	70,986.	415.	73,784.	406.	76,503.
	424.	66,406.	415.	69,193.	406.	71,861.
24	424.	91,360.	415.	94,761.	406.	98,089.
	424.	86,182.	415.	89,600.	406.	92,787.
	424.	78,962.	415.	82,600.	406.	85,973.
25	424.	104,621.	415.	108,598.	406.	112,270.
	424.	96,916.	415.	101,045.	406.	104,852.
	424.	86,927.	415.	91,332.	406.	95,421.
26	424.	113,708.	415.	118,254.	406.	122,524.
	424.	103,769.	415.	108,445.	406.	112,822.
	424.	91,507.	415.	96,487.	406.	101,113.
27	424.	119.608.	415.	124,662.	406.	129.349.
	424.	107.870.	415.	112,992.	406.	117,786.
	424.	94,022.	415.	99,392.	406.	104,367.

Table 14 (Concluded)

(Sheet 3 of 3)

third system is shown in Figure 34. The equations corresponding to these curves may be written as follows:

Maximum average demand curve: $Q_p = 101,083 - 171.3*h + 0.03086*h^2$ Median average demand curve: $Q_p = 88,597 - 111.7*h - 0.04321*h^2$

Minimum average demand curve: 0 = 94,126 - 147.4*h + 0.00617*h⁺2 P

2. Similar to the TLF curves, the TLC curves were obtained by fitting a quadratic function through three different data points. As before, each data point was obtained as a result of applyin, the calibrated network model for each system for a specified system demand and tank water level. In this case, the resulting pump head, pump efficiency, and flow rate for each pump were ill used to calculate a total unit cost for the total resulting flow rate. As before, this unit cost was plotted against the specified tank water revel for each system demand. The data points used in constructing the TLC curves for the second high-pressure system are shown in Table 15. A typical set of TLC curves for the second system is shown in Figure 35. The equations corresponding to these curves may be written as follows:

Maximum average demand curve: UC = 1.276 - 0.003954*h + 0.00007*h^2

Median average demand curve: UC = 1.644 - 0.006325*h + 0.00001*h^2

Minimum average demand curve: UC = 1.698 - 0.006828*h + 0.00001*h^2

where UC is the unit cost in kilowatt-hours per 1,000 gal. The data points used in constructing the TLC curves for the third high-pressure system are shown in Table 16. A typical set of TLC curves for the third system is shown in Figure 36. The equations corresponding to these curves may be written as follows:



Figure 34. Typical set of TLF curves for third high-pressure system Maximum average demand curve: $UC = 3.516 - 0.012683 * h + 0.00002 * h^2$ Median average demand curve: $UC = 3.861 - 0.014533 * h + 0.00002 * h^2$

Minimum average demand curve: UC = 3.273 - 0.011821 + 0.00002 + 12

For a given pump combination, system demand, and average tank water level, the PCP program uses the corresponding TLF and TLC curves to obtain a required

Pump	Tank	Unit Coat t	Tank	Unit Cost t	Tank	Unit
combinación	Lever		Level	<u></u>	Level	
1	335.	0.7674	326.5	0.7713	318.	0.7792
	335.	0.7816	326.5	0.7731	318.	0.7681
	335.	0.8112	326.5	0.7972	318.	0.7858
2	335.	0.7864	326.5	0.7785	318.	0.7726
	335.	0.8320	326.5	0.8186	318.	0.8065
	335.	0.9028	326.5	0.8854	318.	0.8702
3	335.	0.8470	326.5	0.8362	318.	0.8260
	335.	0.9116	326.5	0.8968	318.	0.8839
	335.	1.0311	326.5	1.0041	318.	0.9816
<u>'</u>	335.	0.6744	326.5	0.6654	318.	0.6555
	335.	0.7443	326.5	0.7380	318.	0.7314
	335.	0.7793	326.5	0.7714	318.	0.7647
Ē.	335.	0.7281	326.5	0.7228	318.	0.7185
	335.	0.7677	326.5	0.7592	318.	0.7523
	335.	0.8088	326.5	0.7968	318.	0.7866
6	335.	0.7607	326.5	0.7515	318.	0.7434
	335.	0.8069	326.5	0.7965	318.	0.7865
	335.	0.8818	326.5	0.8664	318.	0.8533
7	335.	0.8068	326.5	0.7971	318.	0.7878
	335.	0.8688	326.5	0.8571	318.	0.8466
	335.	0.9816	326.5	0.9593	318.	0.9405
ς.	335.	0.7625	326.5	0.7571	318.	0.7502
	335.	0.8031	326.5	0.7952	318.	0.7884
	335.	0.9509	326.5	0.9267	318.	0.9063
()	335.	0.7715	326.5	0.7657	318.	0.7610
	735.	0.8014	326.5	0.7921	318.	0.7849
	335.	0.9167	326.5	0.8955	318.	0.8773
1 (;	335.	0.7879	3.26.5	0.7790	318.	0.7715
	335.	0.8327	326.5	0.8221	318.	0.8126
	335.	(1,9796	326.5	0.9557	318.	0.9353
II	535.	0.8255	326.5	0.8165	318.	0.8083
	335.	0.8874	326.5	0.8752	318.	0.8647
	435.	1.0748	126.5	1.0445	318.	1.0189

Table 15

Data Points for TLC Curves for Second High-Pressure System

* Expressed in kilowatt-hours per 1,000 gal at a cost of \$0.01 per kilowatt-hour.



Figure 35. Typical set of TLC curves for second high-pressure system

pump discharge and unit cost. The total cost of a particular pump combination is obtained by multiplying the unit cost by the required pump discharge. Both the unit cost and the required pump discharge are obtained by fitting a quadratic equation through three points obtained from the three TLF and TLC curves for a given average tank water level. The unit cost and required pump discharge are then expressed as a function of the system demand. For the typical set of TLF curves shown in Figures 33 and 34 and tank water levels of 330 and 419 ft, the following pump discharge equations are obtained:

Pump	Tank	Unit	Tank	Unit	Tank	Unit
Combination	Level	Cost*	Level	Cost*	Level	Cost*
1	424.	1.0478	415.	1.0182	406.	0.9893
	424.	1.0640	415.	1.0335	406.	1.0040
	424.	1.0779	415.	1.0476	406.	1.0183
2	424.	1.0736	415.	1.0453	406.	1.0179
	424.	1.0933	415.	1.0647	406.	1.0372
	424.	1.1243	415.	1.0966	406.	1.0698
3	424.	1.1140	415.	1.0872	406.	1.0613
	424.	1.1408	415.	1.1154	406.	1.0908
	424.	1.1831	415.	1.1590	406.	1.1354
4	424.	1.1596	415.	1.1365	406.	1.1138
	424.	1.1943	415.	1.1729	406.	1.1520
	424.	1.2386	415.	1.2183	406.	1.1985
5	424.	1.2068	415.	1.1874	406.	1.1685
	424.	1.2429	415.	1.2249	406.	1.2074
	424.	1.2851	415.	1.2677	406.	1.2510
6	424.	1.2490	415.	1.2327	406.	1.2169
	424.	1.2835	415.	1.2680	406.	1.2532
	424.	1.3227	415.	1.3073	406.	1.2928
7	424.	1.2967	415.	1.3272	406.	1.3665
	424.	1.2798	415.	1.3025	406.	1.3338
	424.	1.2688	415.	1.2875	406.	1.3248
8	424.	1.1345	415.	1.1228	406.	1.1138
	424.	1.1389	415.	1.1252	406.	1.1146
	424.	1.1460	415.	1.1312	406.	1.1190
9	424.	1.1202	415.	1.1020	406.	1.0864
	424.	1.1347	415.	1.1165	406.	1.1003
	424.	1.1598	415.	1.1411	405.	1.1241
10	424.	1.1422	415.	1.1234	406.	1.1064
	424.	1.1663	415.	1.1480	406.	1.1314
	424.	1.2019	415.	1.1842	406.	1.1673
11	424.	1.1785	415.	1.1615	406.	1.1457
	424.	1.2092	415.	1.1931	406.	1.1781
	424.	1.2470	415.	1.2314	406.	1.2168

Table 16

Data Points for TLC Curves for Third High-Pressure System

(Continued)

* Expressed in kilowatt-hours per 1,000 gal at a cost of \$0.01 per kilowatthour.

(Sheet 1 of 3)

Pump	Tank	Unit	Tank	Unit	Tank	Unit
Combination	Level	Cost	Level	Cost	Level	Cost
12	424.	1.2188	415.	1.2040	406.	1.1905
	424.	1.2502	415.	1.2365	406.	1.2236
	424.	1.2862	415.	1.2728	406.	1.2601
13	424.	1.2553	415.	1.2428	406.	1.2315
	424.	1.2853	415.	1.2733	406.	1.2625
	424.	1.3183	415.	1.3066	406.	1.2957
14	424.	1.2552	415.	1.2662	406.	1.2812
	424.	1.2449	415.	1.2542	406.	1.2646
	424.	1.2369	415.	1.2445	406.	1.2537
15	424.	1.1548	415.	1.1438	406.	1.1344
	424.	1.1545	415.	1.1431	406.	1.1320
	424.	1.1601	415.	1.1479	406.	1.1363
16	424.	1.1523	415.	1.1452	406.	1.1234
	424.	1.1482	415.	1.1323	406.	1.1169
	424.	1.1697	415.	1.1535	406.	1.1383
17	424.	1.1531	415.	1.1363	406.	1.1201
	424.	1.1749	415.	1.1588	406.	1.1432
	424.	1.2063	415.	1.1906	406.	1.1755
18	424.	1.1854	415.	1.1701	406.	1.1551
	424.	1.2129	415.	1.1984	406.	1.1845
	424.	1.2465	415.	1.2326	406.	1.2194
19	424.	1.2218	415.	1.2087	406.	1.1955
	424.	1.2498	415.	1.2374	406.	1.2256
	424.	1.2817	415.	1.2697	406.	1.2582
20	424.	1.2549	415.	1.2436	406.	1.2328
	424.	1.2815	415.	1.2708	406.	1.2608
	424.	1.3107	415.	1.3001	406.	1.2903
21	424.	1.5080	415.	1.5947	406.	1.7153
	424.	1.4268	415.	1.4807	406.	1.5555
	424.	1.3761	415.	1.4093	406.	1.4556
22	424.	1.3132	415.	1.3467	406.	1.3992
	424.	1.2732	415.	1.2898	406.	1.3165
	424.	1.2494	415.	1.2527	406.	1.2622
23	424.	1.2496	415.	1.2648	406.	1.2922
	424.	1.2316	415.	1.2340	406.	1.2424
	424.	1.2315	415.	1.2249	406.	1.2222

Table 16 (Continued)

12.22.22

(Continued)

(Sheet 2 of 3)

Pump Combination	Tank Level	Unit Cost	Tank Level	Unit Cost	Tank Level	Unit Cost
24	424.	1.2399	415.	1.2459	406.	1.2594
	424.	1.2373	415.	1.2333	406.	1.2341
	424.	1.2529	415.	1.2430	406.	1.2362
25	424.	1,2540	415.	1.2557	406.	1.2632
	424	1.2617	415.	1.2563	406.	1.2543
	424.	1.2842	415.	1.2742	406.	1.2668
26	424.	1,2785	415.	1.2785	406.	1.2831
	424.	1.2902	415.	1.2849	406.	1.2824
	424.	1.3141	415.	1.3048	406.	1.2978
27	424.	1,3039	415.	1.3033	406.	1.3069
	424	1.3167	415.	1.3119	406.	1.3097
	424	1 3395	415	1.3311	406.	1.3248

Table 16 (Concluded)

(Sheet 3 of 3)



Figure 36. Typical set of TLC curves for third high-pressure system

$$Q_p = 27,980 \pm 0.2199 \times Q_d = 0.000000484 \times Q_d^2$$
 (2nd high)
 $Q_p = 33,092 \pm 0.0374 \times Q_d = 0.000000175 \times Q_d^2$ (3rd high)

where Q_d is the given system demand. For the typical set of TLC curves shown in Figures 35 and 36 and tank water levels of BC and 419 it, the following unit cost equations are obtained:

UC =
$$0.8175 - 2.00E - 6*Q_d + 1.12E - 12*Q_d^2$$
 (2nd high)
UC = $1.4111 - 3.86E - 7*Q_d + 2.72E - 12*Q_d^2$ (3rd high)

In each case, the quadratic equations were fitted using Lagrangian polynomials. For the equation form $Y = a + bX + cX^2$ the coefficients were determined using the following equations:

$$a = R0*X1*X2 + R1*X0*X2 + R2*X0*X1$$

$$b = [-R0*(X1+X2)] - [R1*(X0+X2)] - [R2*(X0+X1)]$$

$$c = R0 + R1 + R2$$

where

$$RO = \frac{YO}{[(XO-XI)*(XO-X2)]}$$

+1 = $\frac{YI}{[(XI-XO)*(XI-X2)]}$
+2 = $\frac{YI}{[(XI-XO)*(XI-X2)]}$

Cost Operation Curves

74. Once the pump operation (TLF and TLC) curves were developed, a set of cost operation curves was generated. The cost operation curves are needed as input in the TOP and are used in determining an optimal tank trajectory for a given set of operating conditions. For both the second and third highpressure systems, the rate of change in tank level was found to affect the twdraulics of the system much more than the actual tank level. As a result, the cost operation curves were developed as a function of tank filling (or drawing) rate. For each pressure zone, three different curves were obtained the Figures 37 and 38). The top curve in each case corresponds to the minitum cost associated with the situation where the tank is filling at a rate of if the situation where the tank is neither draining nor filling. Finally, the bottom curve corresponds to the situation where the tank is draining at a rate of 1 ft per hour.









- A total addression of a state of the total of the to

الاي الموجد المحمول المراجع المراجع المحمول الوالي المحمول الوالي المحمول المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المح المراجع eau on the root toto all days to reach there rooks concluding on the component of the provide of the provide take the entropy of the provide average to the conclusion of the total conclusion of the total conclusion of the provide o

The answer is perational standredness is would be destrative to minimize the conversion angles in complementation during a data of the electric rate is the usage of arges in increments of the term weekdapes, a the time two surrespects the maximum practical operational period. To incrementate the second its of using a the operational period as objected to a starter period electric of using a the operational period as objected to a starter period electric of using a the operational period as objected to a starter period electric of using a the operational period as objected to a starter period electric of using a the operational period as objected to a starter period electric of using the operation of the term of the term of the term of the constraints and the intervention of the term of the term of the term of the starter of the intervention of the term of the term of the term of the starter of the intervention of the term of the term of the constraints are official. The term of the operational time interval of the operators.

, its unto sa citit, al dal macifie sumpart ed as tellissed utiter. Areas for local of the Uniform Weredal of Hars, summer wereas of data. Construction areas of the Schedult trade alues, the total atoms.

 $F^{-1} =$






аларынын аларын талыстары terlester солдардар ртөжжиге. Аларын таларын таларын таларын таларын аларын алары алар



Figure 41. Optimal tank trajectories for second high-pressure system, Sunday, 8 June 1986



Figure 4.2. Optimal tank trajectories for second high-pressure system, Wednesdav, 11 June 1986

÷ .

Date, 1985	Type of Day	Actual Policy \$	l-hr Optimal Policy \$	Percent Pitter- ence	A-br Ortimal Policy E	ersent Toters Ence
20 March	Winter.weekdav	1,371	1, 210	••	, ² ,	· . :
34 March	Winter'weekend	481	14. . .14	×. ×		. '
≺ 'une	Summer (weekend	1,231	1,114		•	• '
ll 'une	Summer weekday	1,983	1,506	· · ·	, "	۳.
Profect	ted annual cost	517,615	180,542	. •	,,	• .
2 r oiec	red annual savings	÷	18.013		•	

		Table		
Energy Costs	for	Second	Pigh-Pressure	System



.



العولاياته محموم والرقاي ما المحاد مع المحمول والعرضي والعرف المرحو والتارين المحموم التارين التاريخ الرائد ال العمال التي معموم التي تقول محموم الحالي الموق والعوالي التي معموم بالا



• •

• •





|--|--|

the second states and the second s

		з.			
	• .	1 * <u>1</u> * 18	art gart. Art gart		• • • • ۽ - • ، و · • • ۽ • • ۽
• •	ι	ţ	••••• ••	ł	
•					
				`	• .

energy usage cost savings for the second high-pressure system were estimated to be \$25,330 (5 percent), while the total annual energy usage cost savings for the third high-pressure system were estimated to be \$64,583 (7.5 percent). Similar percentage savings can be expected for both the low-service and first high-pressure zones.

Optimal Pump Operation Policies

S0. After the optimal tank trajectories for each day for each system were determined, the corresponding pump operation schedules were determined by reapplying the PPP for each time period in the tank trajectory. Given discharge, tank fill rates, and tank levels, the PCP was used to determine which pumps should be operated. The optimal pump operation schedules obtained using the obtained interval are shown in Figures 47-54. The cost in dollars assoniated with each hour of operation is shown along the bottom of each figure. In each pump, the period of operation is indicated by the shaded area. Since the obtained respective for the pumps associated with each pumping station were essentially the same, the important information obtained from each figure is opposed to the actual pumpage.

s). In order to evaluate the sensitivity of the resulting pump operarescalibles to the approximations involved in the pump operation and cost percision curves, each day was simulated using the resulting optimal pump to decome the calibrated hydraulic network model. The tank level trajectories resulting from these simulations were then superimposed on the results of the S runs, as shown in Figures 55-62.

The As can be seen from these figures, the desired optimal tank trajectories of the down the TOP) were essentially matched through the implementories of the pump operation policy (obtained from the PCP). The high level of the disc between the two sets of curves illustrates the accuracy of the concernition of the representing the hydraulics of the modeled systems.

ensitivity Analysis

efforts of generating primal pump operating policies for comconstruction of still only less several additional case studies were



Figure 47. Optimal pump operation schedule for second high-pressure system, Thursday, 20 March 1986







Figure 49. Optimal pump operation schedule for second high-pressure system, Sunday, 8 June 1986



Figure . Itimal pump operation schedule for second high-pressure system, Wednesday, 11 June 1986



Figure 51. Optimal pump operation schedule for third high-pressure system, Thursday, 20 March 1986



• •					
+					
	т. т. т. т .	• • • •	, , , , .		
يەت يەت مە ئ	· · · · ·	ه رو اینو، ای م ا	میں میں میں اس ا ا		4
•			· · · · · · · · · ·	. •	
	a berenari	, ,			•
	y		•••••••		
				· · · · · ·	

Figure 19. Optimal pump operation schedule for third FigH-pressive system, Sunday, Filune 1986



الموجع المرجع المرجع المحاجم المرجع المرجع المحاجم المرجع المرجع المرجع المرجع المرجع المرجع المرجع المرجع الم المحج المرجع ا







in in lation results for second high-pressure sistem, atorday, 29 March 1986



Simulation results for second high-pressure system, Sunday, 8 June 1986



ing toth







Figure 60. Simulation results for third high-pressure system, Saturday, 29 March 1986



ARCCCCCC

Figure 61. Simulation results for third high-pressure system, Sunday, 8 June 1986



Figure 62. Simulation results for third high-pressure system, Wednesday, 11 June 1986

In the test to evaluate the error to distribute periods you endisities on the resulting of 16 test, on our construction evaluate evaluation of the alternative indication and the water research to additional storage, for weekly operating pole to destruct in the original test endities the test of the storage. The storage of the storage. The storage of the storage. The storage of the storage o

Sitement e Bottlai and. Site, ta e water Jevels

The contract optimal task trajectory, the initial and final task water level were fixed at the levels obtained from the actual operating data. This was fixed ensure a common basis for comparing the results of the optimal solution with the actual operating policy. It is quite possible that the optimal of lutions could be improved by allowing the initial and final states to wary. To investigate this possibility, each day was reanalyzed by requiring the initial and final task water levels to be set at full and balt-full starting at midnight. The results of this analysis are summarized in Tables leand 25.

The A direct comparison between the original optimal solutions and the solutions obtained from the modified starting levels is not possible because the original solutions did not stop and start at the same elevation (see Figures 39-46). What is possible is a direct comparison between the solutions for the cases when the tanks started and ended at half-full and the cases when the tanks started and ended at half-full and the cases when the tanks started and ended by having the tanks at half-full at midnight as opposed to full. For weekends, the starting elevations do not appear to affect the overall cost.

Additional storage

86. The second case involved an examination of the impact of providing additional storage. For this study the tank volumes for both systems were doubled. This volume was considered to be a realistic estimate of potential additional storage. Optimal tank trajectories for each day for both pressure zones were then obtained by applying TOP to the modified systems. The total costs associated with the resulting trajectories are presented in Tables 21 and 22. From these results it would appear that addition of more storage to the second high-pressure system would result in an increase in energy usage costs. (The increase was due to initial tank water levels rather than a

Date, 1986	Type of Day	4-hr Optimal \$	Tank Full \$	Tank Half-Full \$
20 March	Winter/weekday	1,327	1,316	1,262
29 March	Winter/weekend	953	924	924
8 June	Summer/weekend	1,170	1,179	1,178
ll June	Summer/weekday	1,825	1,824	1,729
Projected	annual cost	492,285	488,659	471,529
Projected	annual savings		3,626	20,756

Optimal Cost for Second High-Pressure System with Alternate Initial and Final Water Levels

Table 19

					Table 2	20			
Optimal	Cost	for	Third	H1	gh-Pres	ssure	System	with	Alternate
		Inf	ltial	and	Final	Water	Levels	<u>s</u>	

Date, 1986	Type of Day	4-hr Optimal \$	Tank Full \$	Tank Half-Full \$
20 March	Winter/weekday	2,002	2,046	1,906
29 March	Winter/weekend	1,410	1,577	1,574
8 June	Summer/weekend	2,090	2,169	2,168
11 June	Summer/weekday	3,274	3,427	3,255
Projected	i annual cost	797,114	833,082	794,817
Projected	i annual savings		-35,783	2,482

era a core	- 1 ⁻¹ - 1		erditu totogen S	• • • • •
4 · · ·	a contract a war a digo	、 · ·	·	
1. ²⁰ (* 11	r tierr swerenwartst	• A	· .	
****			• '	
1.1 4	promient - Werener - Statu	, "	• "	
The second second	1997 - 1997 - 1997 -	· • ' · · · ·	•	
Parent and thereit	active all sport mass			•

.

2.2

+1 the second second structure states \pm the second second structure \pm

Table 22								
Optimal	Cost	for	Third	High-Pressure	System	with	Additional	Storage

Date, 1986	Type of Day	4-hr Optimal \$	Additional Storage, \$	Savings \$
20 March	Winter/weekday	2,002	1,989	13
29 March	Winter/weekend	1,410	1,245	165
8 Ju ne	Summer/weekend	2,090	2,102	7
ll June	Summer/weekday	3,274	3,075	199
Projected	annual cost	797.144	765,932	
Projected	annual savings			31,182

angen and the second second

. a second a s • a set of the second of the second . . . the comment while white المراجع والمحمورة الأربي المواجع والمراجع والمراجع الوالعة الالعة وتوتعانيا الأرابين وموجر الرواب والمواجر والمجاريات المرتوع المراجع المحاج ويهجون جاجا ويكورونه والمراجع والمحاج والمحاج والمحاج والمحاج was contracted as the 4 4 4 4 4 4 **4** and the second second الأراد فروح والمواجع والمراجع والمراجع م الدي الدوار الإنسان الجاور الألا بوالديمون الأوراد و · "你们,你们们有一些,你们就是你们,你们都是你们,你们都是你们,你们都是你们,你们们不知道,你们都是你们,你们不是你?" الا المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع والمراجع من المراجع المراجع المراجع والمراجع المراجع ا المراجع the primal tank tracestories, the total amount of water lefty pumped is also alown. As can be seen from the figures, operation policy for the weekends to different from the policy for the weekdays. For the weekdays, each optimal trajectory consisted of filling the tank during the off- or intermediate peak periods and draining the tank during the on-peak period. foring the weekends the tanks were gradually filled.

Recovery from extreme demands

58. In the final case study, the impact of an extreme demand (i.e., a time or main break) on the optimal weekly trajectories was examined. For each week a trajectory was begun at 8 pm on Monday night with the tanks empty. This was considered to be the extreme case for a fire or a main break. The objective of each run was to examine how long it took for the optimal trajectory to recover from an extreme event. The optimal costs and trajectories resulting from these runs are shown in Figures 67-70. As shown, the system can recover from such an event very rapidly. For each case, the optimal trajectory returns to a typical pattern within a day of the event.

Impact of Electric Demand Charges

89. The total electric charges for each pumping station are a function of three different charges: usage charges, production and transmission charges, and distribution charges. In the current study, only the usage charges have been considered. In developing an optimal pump operation policy for both the second and third high-pressure systems, it has been assumed that



system during winter months



Figure 64. Week-long simulation for second high-pressure system during summer months



Figure 65. Week-long simulation for third high-pressure system during winter months



Figure 66. Week-long simulation for third high-pressure system during summer months



Figure 67. Optimal tank trajectory for recovery from emergency for second high-pressure system during winter months







Figure 69. Optimal tank trajectory for recovery from emergency for third high-pressure system during winter months



Figure 70. Optimal tank trajectory for recovery from emergency for third high-pressure system during summer months

both systems are essentially independent. Thus, the optimal operating policy for one pressure zone will not adversely affect the optimal operating policy for another zone. While this is a valid assumption when only energy usage charges are considered, some compromises may be required when production, transmission, and distribution charges are considered.

90. For both Dalecarlia and Brvant Street pumping stations, production and transmission charges are based on the maximum 30-min demand recorded during the on-peak weekday period (noon to 8 pm) for all summer months ('une through September). This charge is based on the total electrical demand (in kilowatts) for each pumping station. If the operators are not careful in pump selection, it is possible that the additional energy cost savings resulting from the implementation of the optimal operating policy for each pressure zone could be offset by an increase in the production and transmission charges for the entire pumping station. For this study, however, the optimal solutions for days with variable rate schedules were characterized by pumping during periods of nonpeak electric rates. As a result, it is quite possible that the overall costs will be even further decreased by implementation of the optimal operating policy.

91. Similar to the production and transmission charges, the distribution charges for each pumping station are also based on a maximum 30-min demand. This demand charge, however, is not restricted to the on-peak period nor the summer months. Instead, the distribution charge for each month is based on the maximum 30-min demand recorded during the previous 12-month period. In general, this kind of charge can be minimized by using electricity at a constant rate. From an overall perspective this charge may be further reduced by dividing the load as equally as possible between the Dalecarlia and Bryant Street stations.

92. As with the production and transmission charges it is possible that the additional savings resulting from implementation of the optimal operating policy could be offset by an increase in the distribution charge. However, due to the nature of the yearly system demand schedule and the existing electric rate schedule, only 1 month of the year will usually control the monthly demand charge for that year. For the DC system this month is typically either August or September. For the controlling month, the demand charge will normally be more important than the electric usage charge because the resulting demand charge will be in effect for the next 11 months. During this month the

system should be operated with the scientifie of structury to a consense of the figure state state may be operated on the consense of a constraint the version of the beak demand to not as each of the maximum demand constraint may be imposed on the constraint from the constraint of the operator of the constraint of the operator of the constraint of the

extension to Monthlank Corpora

We as mentioned earlier, application of the protoconternation of procedures to the second and third high-pressure area was four a procedure to the second and third high-pressure area was four a procedure to the system behaved as if they were each controlled here single to the source of the system could be completely described as only a tank level. For this analysis, 100 discrete states, write correspondent to the same range, it would be necessary to use the task that the fourse of the states. This is referred to as the fourse of the size mumber of states would greatly increase the computation time, may tese to the overflow of computer memory, or may necessitate fewer states with an associated loss in accuracy.

94. The problem, however, is not quite as serious as it may seen. It multiple tanks are so far apart that they behave independently, only the storage tank near the pumping station need be considered in determining states. In most cases with multiple tanks, the tanks will neither be so close that they can be treated as one nor so far apart that one can be ignored. However, it is not necessary to increase the number of states as dramatically as described in the previous paragraph.

95. The key to limiting the number of states is realizing that tank water levels usually follow one another fairly closely. Barring a dramatic event, water levels in two tanks in a system are seldom more than a few feet apart. For example if tank A is at 456 ft, tank B will almost always be between 452 and 460 ft even though its possible range may be from 430 to 470 ft. Larger differences usually indicate inadequately sized pipes between the tanks. Therefore, if there are n tanks, the tank levels are divided

(n - 1)

rescated in Fart IV has solve the solve vicinity water distrito the solve of the resulting the solve of the solve of the resulting the solve of the test of the systems for solve the standard schedule usage cost solve of the standard schedule usage cost the solve of the standard schedule satisfies of the solve of the standard schedule of the satisfies of the solve of the standard schedule of the satisfies of the solve of the standard schedule of the satisfies of the solve of the standard schedule of the satisfies of the solve of the standard schedule of the satisfies of the solve of the standard schedule of the satisfies of the solve of the standard schedule of the satisfies of the solve of the standard schedule of the s





PART VI: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Summary

97. The purpose of this report was to provide a comprehensive methodology for use in evaluating and improving the overall operating efficiencies of treated water pumping systems. The pump operation methodology has been developed to address three different problems: inefficient pumps, inefficient pump combinations, and inefficient pump scheduling. In order to identify inefficient pumps, pump field test guidelines were developed. An evaluation of the energy consumption and performance of a pump can provide valuable information on its general condition. From this information, a rational decision can be made on the cost-effectiveness of repairing or replacing a lowefficiency pump.

98. To determine optimal pump combinations, a pump combination program was developed. This program uses a set of pump operation curves to determine the best pump combinations possible for a given tank transition (i.e., change in tank water level), system demand, and required pump flow. Methods to develop the pump operation curves are presented in Enclosure 3 of Appendix A.

99. The last problem addressed by the methodology was the problem of inefficient pump scheduling. The current methodology was developed to minimize the electric usage costs for a pumping station. The pump scheduling problem is solved by subdividing the problem into two smaller problems: the optimal pump combination problem and the optimal tank operation problem. The optimal tank operation problem is solved using a tank operation program. This program uses a set of cost operation curves (obtained from successive applications of the PCP) to determine the optimal tank trajectories (i.e., the variation of the tank water levels over time) for a wide range of operating conditions. Once the optimal tank trajectory is obtained, the optimal pump operating policy may be obtained by reapplication of the PCP.

100. As part of this study, the DC and vicinity water system was selected for use as a case study for application of the methodology. In this case the methodology was used to obtain optimal pump operating policies for 4 representative days for two different pressure zones. For the cases examined, average energy usage savings of between 5 and 7.5 percent were obtained. Similar percentage savings can be expected for the low-service and

first high-pressure zones. For the second high-pressure zone, annual energy usage savings of approximately \$25,000 were projected. For the third high-pressure zone, annual savings of approximately \$65,000 were projected.

101. Before the optimization methodology was applied to the DC system, the pumps in the Dalecarlia and Bryant Street pumping stations were field tested. In general, the majority of the pumps appeared to be operating close to their original design efficiencies. No extremely inefficient pumps or pump combinations were identified.

Conclusions

102. This study has shown that significant energy savings may be achieved through the implementation of policies obtained from the application of optimization procedures. The results of this study can be summarized in terms of three categories of increasing complexity: (a) general rules of thumb, (b) optimal pump combination strategies, and (c) optimal pump operation strategies.

General rules of thumb

103. For the DC and vicinity distribution system, the following general rules of thumb are suggested:

- a. During the critical demand month (usually August or September), the pumps should be operated at a fairly constant rate to minimize the electrical distribution charge.
- <u>b</u>. In general, the demand load for the system should be equally shared between both pumping stations (especially during the critical demand month). Such a policy should lead to a further minimization of the electrical distribution charge.
- c. During the weekends, when the energy usage rate is constant, the pumps should be operated so that the tanks fill gradually.
- d. During the weekdays, when a variable energy usage rate is in effect, the pumps should be operated such that the tanks are filled during the off-peak (8 pm to 8 am) and intermediate (8 am to noon) periods. During the on-peak periods (12 noon to 8 pm), as few pumps as possible should be operated.

Optimal pump combination strategies

104. To obtain optimal pump combination strategies for each pressure zone, an optimal pump combination program was developed. For a specified system demand and a desired change in tank level, the PCP can be used to rank the feasible pump combinations on the basis of economic efficiency. From this ranking, the operator can select the combination that is both economical and practical. The PCP is very practical and can easily be incorporated into the daily operation of each pumping station. In applying the program to the DC system, the program was able to simulate the hydraulics and economics of the system very accurately.

Optimal pump operation policies

105. The development of optimal pump operation policies requires the application of a sophisticated optimization program along with the PCP. Application of these programs to the second and third high-pressure zones resulted in significant energy savings. Additional data and software will be required to develop and implement such policies for the entire system on a daily basis. However, given the results of the present study, such an effort would appear to be economically promising.

REFERENCES

Aldworth, G. A. 1983. "Energy-Saving Pump Selection," Journal of the American Water Works Association, Vol 75, No. 10, pp 496-501.

Brailey, D., and Jacobs, A. 1980. "Energy Management in the Waterworks Industry, "Journal of the New England Water Works Association, Vol 94, No. 3, p 215.

Brunzell, W. R. 1983. "Effective Use of Water Storage," <u>Proceedings of the</u> <u>Twenty-Fifth Annual Public Water Supply Engineer's Conference</u>, Department of Civil Engineering, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Carpentier, P., and Cohen, G. 1984. "Decomposition, Coordination and Aggregation in the Optimal Control of a Large Water Supply Network," <u>Proceedings</u>, International Federation for Automatic Control World Congress, Budapest.

Chao, J. 1979. "Can Off-Peak Pumping Cut Utility Power Costs?" Journal of the American Water Works Association, Vol 71, No. 5, pp 259-263.

Clingenpeel, W. H. 1983. "Optimizing Pump Operating Costs," Journal of the American Water Works Association, Vol 75, No. 10, pp 502-509.

Damelin, E., and Shamir, U. 1976. "Optimal Operation of the Pumping Stations in the Kinnereth-Eshkol Section of the National Water Carrier," Journal of Hydrology, Vol 28, p 271.

DeMoyer, R., and Horwitz, L. B. 1975. <u>A System Approach to Water Distribu-</u> tion Modeling and Control, Lexington Books, Lexington, Mass.

Donachie, R. P., et al. 1976. "Pumping Policies in Water Supply," <u>Journal of</u> Hydrology, Vol 28, p 359.

Gros, W. F. 1976. "Wasting Energy? Use This Simple Method to Check Pump Efficiencies," <u>Proceedings of the American Water Works Association Annual Con-</u> vention, New Orleans, La.

Hodnik, T. J., and Frye, G. M. 1983. "Improved Pumping," <u>Proceedings of the</u> <u>Twenty-Fifth Annual Public Water Supply Engineer's Conference</u>, Department of Civil Engineering, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Lackowitz, G. W., and Petretti, P. J. 1983. "Improving Energy Efficiency Through Computer Modeling," Journal of the American Water Works Association, Vol 75, No. 10, pp 510-515.

Lizardos, G. J., and Amato, A. P. 1978. "Reducing Energy Costs by Optimizing the Use of Power at Passaic Valley Water Commission," <u>Proceedings of the Amer-</u> ican Water Works Association Annual Convention, Atlantic City, N. J.

Patton, J. L., and Horsley, M. B. 1980. "Curbing the Distribution Energy Appetite," Journal of the American Water Works Association, Vol 72, No. 6, pp 314-320.

Reheis, H. F., and Griffin, M. K. 1984. "Energy Cost Reduction Through Operational Practices," <u>Proceedings of the American Water Works Association Annual</u> <u>Convention, Dallas, Tex.</u>

Reid, T. A. 1980. "Potential Energy Conservation Techniques for Municipal Water System," <u>Proceedings of the American Water Works Association Convention</u>, <u>Atlanta, Ga.</u> Sabet, M. H., and Helweg, O. J. 1985. "Cost Effective Operation of Urban Water Supply System Using Dynamic Programming," <u>Water Resources Bulletin</u>, Vol 21, No. 1, pp 75-81.

Shamir, U. 1985. "Computer Applications for Real Time Operations of Water Distribution Systems," <u>Proceedings of the Specialty Conference on Computer</u> <u>Applications in Water Resource</u>, ASCE Water Resources Planning and Management Division, Buffalo, N. Y., June 10-12, 1985, pp 379-390.

Sterling, M. J., and Coulbeck, B. 1975a. "Optimization of Water Pumping Costs by Hierarchical Methods," <u>Proceedings of the Institute of Civil Engi</u>neers, Vol 59, Part 2, pp 789-797.

. 1975b. "A Dynamic Programming Solution to Optimization of Pumping Costs," Proceedings of the Institute of Civil Engineers, Vol 59, Part 2, pp 813-818.

Trainer, W. G., and Clopton, D. E. 1976. "Water Utility Energy Management Program - Dallas," Proceedings of the American Water Works Association Annual Convention, New Orleans, La.



APPENDIX A: ENERGY EFFICIENCY AT WATER SUPPLY PUMPING STATIONS

1. As part of the work unit under which this report was prepared, the authors developed an engineer technical letter (ETL 1110-1-134) for use by Corps of Engineer personnel. This ETL, reproduced on the following pages, provides additional guidance on studies conducted to improve water distribution pumping efficiency.

ETL 1110-1-

<u> 2223 - SSSSABEDERA DEFENDER SECONDEREEDERE</u>

DEPARTMENT OF ARMY US Army Corps of Engineers Washington, DC 20314-1000

DAEN-ECE-B

Engineer Technical Letter No. 1110-1-

Engineering and Design ENERGY EFFICIENCY AT WATER SUPPLY PUMPING STATIONS

1. <u>Purpose</u>. This letter describes techniques for evaluating the efficiency of existing pumping stations, selecting efficient pump combinations, and optimally scheduling pumping with the goal of reducing energy costs. This should assist in identifying inefficient pumps, combinations of pumps, and operating policies.

2. <u>Applicability</u>. This letter is applicable to Corps-operated pumping facilities such as the Washington Aqueduct Division and water supplies at recreation areas, FOA's conducting specially authorized water supply studies or Section 22 (PL 93-251) studies, and FOA's conducting design work or performing other services at military installations. Energy conservation is an important consideration at both civil (ref 3b) and military (ref 3c) projects.

3. References.

a. Section 22 of PL 93-251, Water Resources Development Act of 1974.

b. ETL 1110-2-216, Energy Conservation for Civil Works.

c. ETL 1110-3-282, Energy Conservation.

d. Ormsbee, L. E., and Walski, T. M. "Techniques for Improving Energy Efficiency at Water Supply Pumping Stations," Technical Report EL-87-X, US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, Miss.

4. <u>Background</u>. Water supply pumps can account for a great deal of the energy consumed by a municipality or military installation. One of the largest energy use in the Corps of Engineers is the pumps at the Corps' Washington Aqueduct Division. Neither the civil (ref 3b) nor the military (ref 3c) guidance on energy consumption discusses water pumping or potential energy savings in water pumping. Pumps can wear out, carrying capacity can be lost in suction and discharge piping, pumps may have been improperly sized originally, pumps can be operated inefficiently, or equalizing storage capacity may be inadequate. Any of the above can result in wasted energy. Pumps should be evaluated periodically to ensure they are operating efficiently. This letter describes ways to evaluate pump operation and identify inefficiencies.

5. <u>Overview</u>. Several types of analysis can be performed to evaluate pump energy uses, ranging from determination of the efficiency of an individual pump to examination of operating policies with the option of adding distribution storage. These techniques are described in four enclosures to this letter as described below:

ETL 1110-1-

a. <u>Pump System Fundamentals</u>. Enclosure l is a review of fundamental concepts of pumping system design and operation and is intended as a review for practicing engineers.

b. <u>Field Testing Individual Pumps</u>. The most fundamental type of test that can be conducted is that of measuring the efficiency of an individual pump. The overall (wire-to-water) efficiency is the ratio of water horsepower produced by the pump to the input horsepower, usually electrical. The efficiency should be measured at several flow rates. These tests will identify pumps that fail to meet performance specifications, as well as the most efficient operating flow rate for each pump. Procedures for conducting these tests are described in Enclosure 2. Measurement of pump flow rate can be very difficult or impractical, depending on the size of the pump and the configuration of the intake and discharge channels. Therefore a determination should be made at an early stage to determine if it is practical to make efficiency tests.

c. <u>Multiple Pump Operation</u>. The fact that a pump meets its original performance specifications does not guarantee that it will operate efficiently. A pump can operate over a wide range of flow rates. The actual flow that it produces depends on the head difference between the suction and discharge sides of the pump. The relationship between these heads and the flow rate is referred to as the system head curve and is a function of tank water levels on each side of the pump, pipe carrying capacity near the pump, location of water use with respect to the pumps, and which other pumps are operating. Depending on the system head encountered by a pump, the pump may perform over a wide range of efficiencies. Enclosure 3 describes how to identify which pump or combination of pumps is most efficient for a given system head.

d. <u>Pump Operating Policies</u>. Given that a pumping station must produce a specific volume of water on a certain day, the operating policy to produce that volume can vary from operating the pumps at a constant flow rate, to producing a flow rate that follows demand, to pumping at a higher rate when off-peak energy prices are in effect. The best operating policy depends on time of day pricing schedule, the water demands as a function of time, the amount of storage available, the efficiencies of the individual pumps, and the carrying capacity of the distribution system. Selecting the optimal operating policy requires using a computerized procedure because of the complexity of the problem. A dynamic programming model to solve this type of problem was developed by Ormsbee and Walski of the US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station (ref 3d) and is described in Enclosure 4.

6. Action. This techniques described in this letter should be used by FOA's in studies involving water supply pumping design and operation.

FOR THE COMMANDER:

4 Encl as
PUMP SYSTEM FUNDAMENTALS

1. Introduction. Energy costs comprise the major component of the operating costs of most utilities. The largest quantity of energy is usually consumed by the treated water pumping units. The operation cost associated with a particular pump station will be dependent upon four different factors: the pumps, the distribution system, the pump drivers (motors), and the governing energy rate schedule. This enclosure examines the characteristics of each of these components and their influence on the operational efficiency of a water supply system.

Section I: Pump Characteristics

2. <u>Centrifugal Pumps</u>. By far, the most commonly used pump in water supply is the centrifugal pump. Centrifugal pumps add energy to the flow through the use of an impeller. Centrifugal pumps can be classified into three general categories according to the way the impeller impacts energy to the fluid. Radial flow impellers impart energy primarily by centrifugal force. Liquid enters the impeller at the center and flows radially to the outside of the pump casing. Mixed flow impellers impart energy partially by centrifugal force and partially by axial force, since the vanes of the impeller are acting partly as an axial compressor. Axial flow impellers impart energy to the fluid by acting as axial flow compressors. In axial flow pumps, fluid enters and exits along the axis of rotation. All three types of centrifugal pumps are used in water supply applications. In general, radial flow impellers are used in high head pumps while axial flow impellers are used in lower head pumps. In this ETL, only constant-speed centrifugal pumps will be considered.

a. <u>Specific Speed</u>. The particular type of pump required for a given application can usually be found by determining the specific speed of the pump. The specific speed may be defined as follows:

$$N_{s} = \frac{N \sqrt{Q}}{H^{0.75}}$$
(1-1)

where N = specific speed

N = pump speed, rpm

Q = discharge, gpm

H = pump head, ft

In determining the specific speed of a pump, H and Q are measured at the point of maximum efficiency (Medcaff and Eddy 1972). In general, the computed value of the specific speed has no usable physical significance, but it is useful because it can be used as a guide in selecting the most efficient pump type. Generally, pumps with low specific speeds (500 to 2,000 rpm) are made

ENCLOSURE 1

1-1

to deliver small discharges at high pressures. Pumps characterized by high specific speeds (5,000 to 15,000 rpm) deliver large discharges at low pressures (Simon 1976). For centrifugal pumps, the value of specific speed can be used to select pumps.

Range of Specific Speed, rpm	Impeller Type
500 - 3,000	Radial Vane
4,000 - 7,000	Mixed Flow
9,000 and above	Axial Flow

Table 1-1. Specific Speed Versus Impeller Type

b. <u>Net Positive Suction Head</u>. Water is not sucked into a pump. Instead, a positive head must push the liquid into the pump. The Net Positive Suction Head (NPSH) is the total head (in feet of liquid) on the suction side of a pump less the absolute vapor pressure (in feet) of the liquid being pumped. In order for cavitation not to occur, the Net Positive Suction Head Available (NPSHA) must be greater that the Net Positive Suction Head Required (NPSHR) (Lindeburg 1981).

(1) NPSHR. NPSHR is determined by the pump manufacturer and will depend on many factors, including the type of impeller inlet, impeller design, pump flow, pump speed, the nature of the fluid, etc. The NPSHR for a particular pump is usually plotted on the pump performance curve as a function of discharge.

(2) NPSHA. NPSHA is the net positive suction head that is available in the field for a set of particular operating conditions. NPSHA can be calculated or can be obtained by measuring pressure (or vacuum) at the suction side of the pump. For negative suction lift conditions, NPSHA may be determined using Equation 1-2. For positive suction conditions, NPSHA may be determine using Equation 1-3.

Negative Suction Conditions: NPSHA = $h_a - h_{vpa} - h_{st} - h_{fs} - h_{vh}$ (1-2)

Positive Suction Conditions: NPSHA = $h_a - h_{vpa} + h_f - h_{fs} - h_{vh}$

where

h = absolute pressure (in feet of liquid) on the surface of the liquid supply level (this will be barometric pressure if suction is from an open tank or sump; or the absolute pressure existing in a closed tank), ft

(1-3)

h = the head corresponding to the vapor pressure of the liquid at the temperature being pumped (at 20° C the vapor pressure of water at sea level ft), ft

1-2

Α5

- h = static height that the liquid supply level is above or below
 st the pump center line, ft
- h_{fs} = all suction line losses, including entrance losses and friction losses through pipe, valves, and fittings, etc.

h_{vh} = velocity head, ft

Usually velocity head and suction line losses are negligible.

c. <u>Pump Performance Curves</u>. For any centrifugal pump, several curves can be developed to show the relationships between flow rate, head, NPSHR, horsepower, and efficiency. Performance curves are usually plotted with flow (pump discharge) on the horizontal axis and the other characteristics plotted on the vertical axis as shown in Figure 1-1. The characteristic curves for a constant-speed centrifugal pump is based on a certain speed, impeller diameter, and fluid viscosity.

(1) Head-discharge curves. The head-discharge curve indicates the relationship between the head or pressure developed by the pump and the corresponding flow rate through the pump. In most cases the flow rate decreases continuously with increasing head as shown in Figure 1-1. As the head increases, the flow rate decreases to zero. The head at which zero flow occurs is known as the cutoff head. As the head-discharge curve approaches maximum flow, the velocity in the impeller eye may become so high that the head-discharge curve will drop abruptly in a vertical direction. The point where this drop occurs is known as the cutoff discharge. The point corresponding to the pump's maximum efficiency (Best Efficiency Point, BEP) is usually indicated at shown in Figure 1-1.

(2) NPSHR-discharge curves. The NPSHR-discharge curve indicates the required net positive suction head required in order to prevent cavitation for a given pump discharge. The NPSHR-discharge curve is a characteristic of the pump and must be obtained from the manufacturer.

(3) Water horsepower-discharge curves. Water horsepower is defined as the power that is delivered by the pump to the fluid it is pumping. The water horsepower-discharge curve will generally slope upward from left to right until a maximum is achieved and then slope downward. The water horsepower-discharge curve may be constructed using the following relationship:

$$WHP = \frac{Ch\gamma}{550}$$
(1-4)

where WHP = water horsepower

- Q = discharge, cfs
- h = pump head, ft
- γ = specific weight of fluid (62.4 lb/ft³ for water)

3



Figure 1-1. Pump Characteristic Curves

HEAD, EFFICIENCY, HP, NSPHR

1-4

(4) Brake horsepower-discharge curves. Brake horsepower is defined as the power required to drive the pump. Brake horsepower can only be measured using special instrumentation, and it is usually not measured in the field. If the efficiency of the driver (e_d) is known, the brake horsepower may be determined from the following equation:

$$BHP = EHP * e_{j} \qquad (1-5)$$

where BHP = brake horsepower

EHP = electrical horsepower

e_d = driver efficiency

The brake horsepower-discharge curve for a particular pump generally slopes upward from left to right in the opposite direction from the head-capacity curve (see Figure 1-1). At very high flow, the brake horsepower-discharge curve may reach a maximum and then slope slightly downward.

(5) Electric horsepower-discharge curves. Electric horsepower (also called wire horsepower) is defined as the power required to drive the motor (driver) that is turning the impeller in the pump. Electrical horsepower may be determined by measuring the electrical power used by the motor:

$$EHP = \frac{KW}{0.746}$$
(1-6)

where EHP = electrical demand, horsepower

KW = electrical demand, kilowatts

The head-electric horsepower curve will also slope upward from left to right as shown in Figure 1-1. The electric horsepower-discharge curve for a particular pump-driver combination will be higher than the brake horsepowerdischarge curve because of inefficiency of the driver.

(6) Pump efficiency curves. The pump efficiency curve will normally rise gradually from left to right to a maximum at its best efficiency point and then drop off as the head begins to decrease much more rapidly than the discharge increases (see Figure 1-1). The pump efficiency (e_p) is defined as the ratio of the water horsepower (WHP) to the brake horsepower (BHP):

$$e_{p} = \frac{WHP}{BHP}$$
(1-7)

(7) Driver efficiency curves. The driver efficiency curve is usually fairly constant for most motors. The driver efficiency (e_d) is defined as the ratio of the brake horsepower (BHP) to the electrical horsepower (EHP):

$$e_{d} = \frac{BHP}{EHP}$$
(1-8)

Environmental Manufactures in the

1-5

(8) Wire-to-water efficiency curves. When evaluating the overall efficiency of a pump-driver installation, the most useful efficiency is the overall (or wire-to-water) efficiency (Walski 1984). The wire-to-water or overall efficiency (e_{w}) is defined as the ratio of the water horsepower (WHP)

to the electric horsepower (EHP):

$$\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{w}} = \frac{WHP}{EHP} \tag{1-9}$$

Alternatively, the overall efficiency may be expressed as the product of the pump efficiency and the driver efficiency:

$$e_{w} = e_{p} \star e_{d} \tag{1-10}$$

The wire-to-water efficiency curve will normally rise gradually from left to right to a maximum at its best efficiency point and then drop off as the head begins to decrease much more rapidly than the capacity increases (see Figure 1-1).

Section II: System Characteristics

3. <u>Pump Operating Point</u>. Although the pump characteristic curves show the relationship between head, flow rate, and efficiency over a wide range of possible operating conditions, they do not indicate the point on the curve at which the pump will be operating for a particular piping system. The operating point is found by determining the intersection of the head versus discharge curve with what is called the system head curve of the distribution network.

4. <u>System-Head Curve</u>. The system head curve for a particular distribution network represents the total head against which a particular pump or group of pumps will have to operate as a function of flow rate. In order to develop the system head curve for a particular system, the distribution network is usually idealized as shown in Figure 1-2. The idealized system consists of two tanks (the clearwell and the controlling elevated storage tank), two pipes (the suction pipe and the pipe to the storage tank), and the pump. The system curve may be developed by writing an energy equation between the two tanks and plotting the total energy difference as function of discharge. The system head curve consists of two components: the static head and the friction head (see Figure 1-3). The relationship between the system head and discharge may be expressed as:

$$h_{eve}(Q) = h_{eve} + h_{f}$$
(1-11)

where $h_{sys}(Q) \approx system$ head as a function of Q

h = static head

 $h_f = friction head$

1-6



Figure 1-2. Simplified Network

a. Static Head. The static head (h) is the difference in the water surface elevations of the two tanks. Since^S the water level in the wet well and the water level at the discharge point may vary, the static head will also vary, resulting in a family of parallel curves corresponding to different values of $h_{\rm e}$.

b. Friction Head. The friction head is equal to the head loss between the two tanks. For the idealized system shown in Figure 1-2, the friction head may be expressed as:

$$h_{f}(Q) = K_{g}Q_{g}^{n} + K_{d}Q_{d}^{n}$$
(1-12)

where $h_f(Q) = friction$ head, ft

 K_{c} = suction line head loss coefficient

Q = flow rate in suction line, gpm

 K_{A} = discharge line head loss coefficient

 Q_d = flow rate in discharge line, gpm

For the idealized case, Q and Q are equal to the pump discharge. The exact values for K and \tilde{n} will depend on the type of head loss equation employed. For the Hazen-Williams head loss equation, n = 1.873 and K may be expressed as follows:

$$K = \frac{4.73L}{c^{1.852} D^{4.87}}$$
(1-13)

1-7 A10



Figure 1-3. System Head Curve

where L = pipe length, ft

C = Hazen-Williams coefficient

D = pipe diameter, ft

For systems with very short lift lines, minor losses can be important. For these types of systems, all minor losses may be converted into equivalent lengths of pipe through the use of standard equivalent length tables. Head loss through the equivalent length of pipe can then be determined using the Hazen-Williams equation.

5. Example. Consider the idealized network shown in Figure 1-2. The characteristic curve for the pump is shown in Figure 1-4. Develop a system head curve for this system and determine the operating point for the pump for the following conditions using the following data:

Clearwell Elevation = 100 ft	Tank Elevation = 300 ft
L = 1C0 ft suc	L _{dis} = 10,000 ft
D = 12 in. suc	D _{dis} = 12 in.
C = 120 suc	C _{dis} = 120
$K_{suc} = 0.067 = \frac{4.73(100)}{120^{1.852} (12/12)^{4.87}}$	K _{dis} = 6.671
n = 1.852	n = 1.852
a. <u>Static Head</u> . $h_s = 300 - 100 = 200 \text{ ft}$	
b. Friction Head. $h_f = K_s q_s^n + K_d q_d^n = 6.74$	Q ⁿ
c. Total Head. $h = 200 + 6.74 0^n$	

d. <u>System Head Curve</u>. The system head curve may be obtained by substituting values for flow rate (cfs) into the total head equation above and solving for head as shown in the following table.

<u>(gpm)</u>	<u>Q (cfs)</u>	H (feet)
0	0	200
500	1.116	208
1,000	2.232	230
1,500	3.348	264

1-9 A12



Figure 1-4. Example Head Versus Discharge Curve

1-10 A13

The pump operating point for a given static head may be obtained by superimposing the system head curve (developed above) on the head versus discharge curve (Figure 1-4) as shown in Figure 1-5. In this problem, the pump will produce 1,000 gpm at 230 ft of head. Ideally, the operating point should be near the point of maximum pump efficiency.

4.4.4.4 A

6. <u>Network Idealization</u>. For single pump stations with single controlling discharge elevations (e.g., a single elevated storage tank), the energy equation may be written from the clearwell of the pump to the elevation of the controlling discharge point (normally a water level in an elevated tank). For a system with more than one tank, the controlling tank can usually be determined by writing equations between both tanks and then selecting the more critical curve. These system curves are based on the assumption that there is virtually no water used or lost between the two tanks. This is a reasonable assumption for many water supply pumps. However, in some water distribution systems, very large quantities of water can be consumed between the pump and the nearest tank. In such cases, the system head curves will be affected. In order to account for these effects it may be necessary to perform a simplified network analysis of the system to generate the system head curve (Ormsbee and Walski 1986).

Section III: Driver Characteristics

The majority of centrifugal pumps are driven by squirrel cage induction motors. For large, low-speed drives, synchonous motors may be used. Both types of motors are discussed briefly in the following sections (Andreas 1982).

7. Induction Motors. The line current (I_{λ}) drawn by induction motor consists of two components: the reactive current (I_{μ}) and the power-producing current (I_{μ}) .

a. <u>Reactive Current</u>. The reactive current is that current required to produce the magnetic flux in the motor. This component of current creates a reactive power requirement that is measured in kilovolt-amperes reactive (kilovars, kvar).

b. <u>Power-Producing Current</u>. The power-producing current is that current which reacts with the magnetic flux to produce the output torque of the machine. This component of current creates the load power requirements measured in kilowatts (kW).

c. Total Line Current. The total line current drawn by an induction motor is the vector sum of the reactive current and the power-producing current. The vector relationship between the line current (I_{λ}) and the reactive component (I_{μ}) and load component (I_{ρ}) currents may be expressed by a vector diagram as shown in Figure 1-6, where the line current I_{λ} is the vector sum of the two components.

d. <u>Total Apparent Power</u>. In the same way that the line current was related to the magnetizing current and the power-producing current, the total apparent power (kVA) may be related to the kilovar power (kvar) and the



Figure 1-5. Pump Operating Point

1-12 A15 ETT. 1110-1-

2

 \mathbf{x}



Figure 1-6. Current Vector Diagram





1-13 A16

kilowatt power (kW) as shown in Figure 1-7. For three phase motors, the apparent power or kVA input to a motor may be expressed as:

$$kVA = I_{\lambda}V_{\lambda} \sqrt{3} \div 1,000 \qquad (1-14)$$

where $I_1 = \text{total line current, amps}$

$$V_{\chi}$$
 = voltage, volts

kVA = total apparent power, watts.

e. <u>Reactive Power</u>. The reactive power is the power that must be supplied by the electric utility company to produce the reactive component of the total line current. Since the reactive current is 90 electrical degrees out of phase with the applied voltage, it does no work and thus cannot be measured with a standard kW meter.

f. Load Power. Most electric utility rates are based on the load power (kW) instead of the total apparent power (kVA). If the reactive power (kvar) and the apparent power (kVA) are available, the corresponding load power may be obtained as follows:

$$kW = \sqrt{(kVA)^2 - (kvar)^2}$$
 (1-15)

where kW = load power, watts

kvar = reactive power, watts

8. Fower Factor. The power factor of a motor is defined as the cosine of the angle θ between the line current and the voltage. This vector relationship can also be expressed in terms of the components of the total kVA input, and is shown in Figure 1-7. In this case, the power factor is the cosine of the angle θ between the total kVA and kW inputs to the motor. The system power factor can be determined by a power factor meter reading or by the ratio of the load power (kW) to the total apparent power (kVA). Thus,

Power Factor =
$$\frac{kW}{kVA}$$
 (1-16)

Theoretically, the power factor may vary from 0 to 100 percent. A low power factor causes poor electrical system efficiency. The total apparent power must be supplied by the electric utility. With a low power factor, or a high kvar component, additional generating losses occur throughout the system. To discourage low power factor loads, most utilities impose some form of penalty or charge in their electric power rate structure for a low power factor. The power factor for most induction motors ranges from 50 to 90 percent. (Andreas 1982).

9. Example. The total line current to a pump driven by a squirrel cage induction motor is measured to be 200 amps. If the line-to-line voltage is measured to be 2.4 kV and the reactive component of the total apparent power is measured to be 400 kvars, determine the kW power component and the power factor of the motor as follows:

1-14

シンド トンシンファンス 国内シン とんわれ

 $kVA = (200 \text{ amps}) \div (2,400 \text{ V}) \star \sqrt{3} / 1,000 = 831$

kvar = 400 (given)

$$kW = V(831)^{-1} - (400)^{-1} = 728$$

c = kW/kVA = 728/831 = 0.88

Synchronous Motors. To improve the power factor for a given load, the 1G. reactive load component (kvar) must be reduced. This component of reactive power lags the power component (kW input) by 90 electrical degrees. One way to reduce the effect of this component is to introduce a reactive power component that leads the power component by 90 degrees. This can be accomplished by using synchronous motors. Synchronous motors can be adjusted to operate at a leading power factor, thus providing leading kvars to offset the lagging kvar of inductive-type loads such as induction motors. As a result, synchronous motors can be used to decrease or eliminate the power factor cost associated with the operation of a particular pump. Synchronous motors can be used to improve the overall cost efficiency of a pump, but such motors are generally more expensive than standard induction motors. As a result, synchronous motors are normally used only for applications where larger horsepowers are needed or where power factor correction is important (Andreas 19821.

Section IV: Electric Rate Schedules

Electrical utility company rate schedules applicable to pumping units are usually divided into three different components: (a) energy consumption charge, (b) demand charge, and (c) power factor charge (Reid 1980). Each of these charges is discussed below:

11. Energy Consumption Charge. The energy consumption charge is that portion of the electric utility bill based on the kilowatt-hours of electric energy consumed during the billing period. In many instances, the energy consumption charge is based on a declining block rate (Andreas 1982). As the total consumption increases, the rate decreases. For example:

First 50 kWh: \$3.60 flat charge Next 450 kWh: \$0.0621/kWh Next 14,500 kWh: \$0.0521/kWh Over 15,000 kWh: \$0.0231/kWh

Alternatively, the rates may be different depending upon the time of day or the season of the year. For example:

1-15

Time Period	Summer	Winter		
12 midnight to 8 a.m.	\$0.0295/kWhr	\$0.0205/kWhr		
8 a.m. to 12 noon	0.0462	0.0395		
Noon to 8 p.m.	0.0624	0.0523		
8 p.m. to midnight	0.0462	0.0395		

In some cases the energy charge may be a flat rate per kilowatt-hour of consumption (Patton and Horsely 1980).

12. Demand Charge. The demand charge is usually based on the maximum power demand in kilowatts during a specified time period, frequently 1 year. The time interval for determining the kilowatt demand is usually 15 to 30 minutes. As with the energy consumption charge, the demand charge may vary depending upon the time of day or the season of the year. The demand charge is generally a function of an electric utility's fixed costs and the expenses for generating plants, transmission lines, substations, and other items required to satisfy peak loads on the system (Andreas 1982). It is usually given in dellars per kilowatt.

13. <u>Power Factor Charge</u>. The power factor charge is used by some utilities to compensate for the increased cost of supplying energy to consumers with certain electrical load characteristics. Induction motors commonly used to drive water pumps can exhibit low power factors which may result in power factor charges. Although the power factor charge may be treated as a separate charge, it is more commonly treated as an adjustment to the demand charge landreas 1982).

Section V: Pump Efficiency

The overall energy cost associated with a pump station r. y be reduced by decreasing any one of the three standard energy rate components discussed in the previous sections.

14. <u>Power Factor Charge Reduction</u>. The power factor charge can be decreased by improving the power factor associated with a particular pump. The power factor can be improved by changing the motor load or the motor type, or through the use of capacitors (Patten and Horsley 1980).

1^c. Encryc Consumption Charge Reduction. The total energy consumption charge associated with a particular pump station can be decreased by improving the operational efficiencies of each pump. In order to evaluate the existing cificiency of a pump, it should first be field tested. Guidelines for field testing pumps and evaluating the resulting efficiencies are provided in Enclosure 2. Pumps with low efficiencies can be reconditioned or replaced. For pump stations with multiple pumps, the energy consumption charge may also be reduced by operating the multiple pumps at efficient combined operating points. Guidelines for determining the optimal operating points for multiple pumps are given in Enclosure 3. When time of day energy pricing is used, pumping cost

1-16

しょうま ほんとうじんがい まんい

can be reduced by pumping more during off-peak hours. This type of evaluation is described in Enclosure 4.

16. Demand Charge Reduction. Although the total energy consumption charges associated with a pump operation can be decreased by evaluating the operational efficiencies of a single pump or multiple pump combinations, such a program may have little impact on electrical demand charges. The reduction of electrical demand charges usually requires modifications of the pump station operating procedures which would include operating pumps at a fairly constant discharge and installing additional elevated storage to meet peak demands (Lackowitz and Petretti 1983). Guidelines for evaluating and improving the operational procedures of a particular pump station are given in Enclosure 4.

17. References.

- a. Andreas, J. C., 1982, <u>Energy-Efficient Electric Motors</u>, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New Tork.
- b. Lackowitz, G. W., and Petretti, P. J., 1983, "Improving Energy Efficiency Through Computer Modeling," <u>J. AWWA</u>, Vol 25, No. 10, pp 510-515.
- c. Lindeburg, M. R., 1981, <u>Civil Engineer's Review Manual</u>, Professional Publications, San Carlos, Calif.
- d. Metcalf and Eddy, Inc., 1972, Wastewater Engineering: Collection, Treatment, and Disposal, McGraw Hill Book Company, New York, New York.
- e. Ormsbee, L. E., and T. M. Walski, 1986, <u>Techniques for Improving</u> <u>Efficiency Pumping Stations</u> (Draft Report), Environmental Laboratory, US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, Miss.
- f. Patton, J. L., and M. B. Horsley, 1980, "Curbing the Distribution Energy Appetite," J. AWWA, Vol. 72, No. 6, pp. 314-320 (June).
- g. Reid, A., 1980, "Potential Energy Conservation Techniques for Municipal Water System," AWWA National Conference, Atlanta, Ga.
- h. Simon, A. L., 1976, <u>Practical Hydraulics</u>, John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- 1. Walski, T. M., 1984, <u>Analysis of Water Distribution Systems</u>, Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.

1-17

NUMBER OF STREET

FIELD TESTING INDIVIDUAL PUMPS

1. Introduction. Although pump characteristic curves for a particular pump can usually be obtained directly from the manufacturer, the actual field performance may not correspond to the design engineer's expectations. Because of this, all pumps should be field tested as a first step in any comprehensive pump efficiency study. At a minimum, this will involve measuring discharge, head, and energy consumption, in ora- to calculate efficiency when the pump is operating. More thorough testing would involve generating system head curves. Pump tests or pum, model tests conducted by the pump manufacturer, as part of the pump supply contract and witnessed by the Government, in general, are more accurate and less expensive than field tests.

2. <u>Test Standards</u>. Various standards have been developed by the Hydraulic Institute (1983) and AWWA (1983) for use in testing pumps. General guidelines for constructing the pump characteristic curves for constant-speed centrifugal water supply pumps are provided in the following sections.

Section I: General Guidelines

3. <u>Pump Characteristic Curves</u>. The basic objective of most pump field tests is the reconstruction of the pump characteristic curves from field data. In general, two different pump characteristic curves are necessary to evaluate the performance of a pump: the head versus discharge curve, and the wire-towater efficiency versus discharge curve. The head-discharge curve can be constructed directly from field measurements of pressure and flow. The wire-to-water efficiency (e_) versus discharge curve can be constructed form

the water horsepower (WHP) versus discharge curve and the electrical horsepower (EHP) versus discharge curve using the following equation:

$$\boldsymbol{e}_{\mathbf{w}} = \frac{\mathbf{W}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{P}}{\mathbf{E}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{P}} \tag{2-1}$$

where

e e wire-to-water efficiency

WHP = water horsepower, h_{p}

EHP = electrical horsepower, h_{p}

The water horsepower versus discharge curve can be constructed directly using the data from the constructed head-discharge curve and the following equation:

$$WHP = \frac{Qh_{P}\gamma}{550}$$
(2-2)

where WHP = water horsepower

Q = discharge, cfs

ENCLOSURE 2

 h_p = head, ft γ = specific weight of fluid = 62.4 lb/ft³ for water

The electrical horsepower versus discharge curve may be constructed directly from the test data using the following equation:

$$FHP = \frac{kW}{0.746}$$
(2-3)

where EHP = electric power, hp

kW = electric power, kilowatts

In summary, both the head versus discharge and the efficiency versus discharge curves can be constructed from three different types of data: pressure (head) readings, flow readings, and power readings. All three types of data can be obtain during a standard pump field test.

4. <u>Test Procedure</u>. The general procedure for field testing a pump involves measuring the head on the pump and the corresponding flow rate and electrical horsepower. The discharge head on the pump may be changed by throttling valves downstream of the pump. In order to collect the necessary data, the pump is usually started with the discharge valve closed. This condition allows a head reading for the cutoff head of the pump. After this head has been determined, the discharge valve is then slowly opened in several discrete steps. After each step, a few minutes should be provided for transient effects to dampen. Once steady conditions have been obtained, the discharge and electrical horsepower readings corresponding to the measured head can be obtained. After the valve has been completely opened, the valve can be slowly closed using the same discrete steps as before. This procedure will thus provide two sets of readings for each test.

5. <u>Multiple Pumps</u>. When multiple pump stations are being tested, one pump may be fully opened and others may be added successively to determine the total flow from the pump stations as each unit is brought online. In this manner, the incremental flows that the units contribute to the distribution system can be established and the inefficiencies involved under specific operating conditions can be identified.

6. <u>Test Preparation</u>. Before conducting any field test, it is best to visit the pump station beforehand to determine what type of gages are available and what type of testing equipment may be needed. In addition, it is usually helpful to prepare a data sheet for use in recording and reducing the test data for each pump. A typical data sheet is shown as Figure 2-1, along with the equations needed to reduce the data.

2-2

							_		
PUMP	CALIBRATION	TEST			PUMP	STATIO	N		
DATE					TIME				
FUMP	NUMBER			- ··	CLEAR	WELL E	LEV		
MODE	L NUMBER				PUMP	ELEV			
SERI	AL NUMBER				TANK	ĒLEV			
RATE	D DISCHARGE		,		RATED	HEAD			
FATE	D SPEED				RATED	POWER			
	MEA	SURED	OUANTITIES			COMP	UTED	OUANTIT	IES
FLOW (CFS	UPSTR PRESS) (PSI	EAM URE)	DOWNSTREAM PRESSURE (PSI)	ELECTRICAL POWER (KW)	(1) HEA (FT	D)	(2) WHP (%)	(3) EHP (%)	(4) e (%)
(1)	PUMP HEAD = Pressure (P	2.31 SI))	* (DOWNSTREA	M PRESSURE ((PSI) -	UPSTRE	AM		(2-4)
(2)	WATER HORSE	POWER	= FLOW (CFS)	* PUMP HEAD) (FT) *	γ/550)		(2-5)
(3)	ELECTRICAL	HORSEI	POWER = POWER	(kW)/0.746					(2-6)
(4)	WIRE-TO-WAT	ER EFI	FICIENCY = WH	P/EHP					(2-7)

Figure 2-1. Test Pump Data Sheet

7. <u>Example Problem</u>. Consider the pump system shown in Figure 2-2. From the measured quantities tabulated below, develop head versus discharge, water horsepower versus discharge, electrical horsepower versus discharge, and wire-to-water efficiency versus discharge curves. The pressure (p) readings were made at a pressure gage downstream of the pump (elevation 930 ft), while the discharge and power readings were being measured. The computation steps required for construction of the pump characteristic curves are shown below. The first data point from the measured quantities is used in the example computations. The results for the entire data set are tabulated as computed quantities. The resulting characteristic curves are shown in Figure 2-3.

Measured Quantities			Computed Quantities					
् (gpm)	2P (psi)	Power (kw)	h p (ft)	WHP	EHP	ew.		
1.053	87	58	181	48	78	62		
850	96	56	202	43	75	58		
660	102	53	215	36	71	51		
0	115	43	245	0	58	0		



Figure 2-2. Example Pump System

a. <u>Pump Head</u>. The pump head is calculated by subtracting the head upstream of the pump from the downstream head:

 $h_{p} = H_{d} - H_{u}$ (2-8)

(1) Upstream head.

 H_{ii} = 950 - losses in suction line

(For the example problem, suction line losses are negligible.)

(2) Downstream head.

 $H_{d} = 930 + 2.31P + v^{2}/2g + 10sses between pump and gage$ $v^{2}/2g = [Q/(\pi D^{2}/4)]^{2}/2g = [(Q/448)/(\pi * 1/4)]^{2}/64 = 1.2 \times 10^{-7} Q^{2}$ (Thus, the velocity head is negligible.)

(3) Pump head.

 $h_p = 930 + 2.31P - 950 = 2.31P - 20$ For example, for Q = 1,053 gpm and P = 87 psi, $h_p = 181$ ft.

> **2-4** A24



PARTICIPAL RESIDENCE

ETL 1110-1-

Figure 2-3. Pump Characteristic Curves

2-5 A25

a da a da ante de la constante de de

1010 - 201222224, 52322233 -

b. Water Horsepower.

WHP =
$$\frac{(Q/448) h_p(62.4)}{550}$$
 = (0.000253) Q H

For example, for Q = 1,053 gpm and H = 181 ft, WHP = 48.3 hp.

c. Electrical Horsepower.

 $EHP = \frac{kW}{0.746} = 1.43 \ kW$

For example: for Q = 1,053 gpm and kW = 58, EHP = 77.7 hp.

d. Wire-to-Water Efficiency.

$$e_w = \frac{WHP}{EHP}$$

For example: for Q = 1,053 gpm, WHP = 48.3 hp, and EHE = 77.7 h , $e_w = 0.62$.

Section II: Field Measurements

As indicated previously, the head-discharge and head-efficiency characteristics curve may be constructed from corresponding measurements of head, discharge, and power. Guidelines for measuring each of these quantities are provided in the following sections.

8. <u>Head Measurement</u>. The head values used in constructing the head-discharge curves correspond to the net head delivered by the pump. The net head (h_p) may be obtained by subtracting the head measured on the suction side of the pump (H_g) from the head measured on the discharge side of the pump (H_d) (see Figure 2-4). In equation form, this may be expressed as:

$$h_{p} = H_{d} - H_{s}$$
(2-9)

where h = total head delivered by pump, it

 $H_d = discharge head, ft$

 H_{e} = suction head, ft

Both the suction head and the discharge head are composed of three different components: the elevation head, the velocity head, and the pressure head. In general, the total head on either the suction side or the discharge side of the pump may be expressed as:

 $H = z + V^2/2g + P/\gamma$ (2-10)

2-6



Figure 2-4. Pump Head Measurement

where z = elevation, ft $v^2/2g =$ velocity head, ft $P/\gamma =$ pressure head, ft V = velocity, ft/sec P = pressure, psf

If the suction line and the discharge lines both have the same diameter and the elevations at which the pressures measurements are made are essentially the same, the net head will simply be the difference between the suction pressure and the discharge pressure expressed in feet:

$$h_p = 2.31 (P_d - P_s)$$
 (2-11)

where $P_d = discharge pressure, psi$

P = suction pressure, psi

a. <u>Suction Pressure</u>. Due to the low pressures normally associated with the suction line, compound (pressure/vacuum) gages, water columns, or manometers are commonly used to measure the suction pressures. When water columns are used, care should be taken to avoid errors due to the difference between the temperature of the water in the gage and that of the water in the pump (Hydraulic Institute 1983).

b. <u>Approximate Suction Head</u>. In installations where the water is being lifted out of a clearwell and a suction gage or manometer is not available, an approximate head can be obtained by measuring the vertical distance from the level of the water in the clearwell to the center of the discharge pressure

> 2-7 A27

gage, adding an appropriate value for loss in bends, velocity head, etc. (Gros 1983).

c. <u>Discharge Pressure</u>. Due to the high pressures normally associated with the discharge line, mercury manometers, bourdon gages, and electrical pressure transducers are usually used to measure the discharge pressure. Before and after bourdon gages or pressure transducers are used, they should be calibrated.

d. <u>Fressure Taps</u>. In order to measure the head differential across a pump, the head-measuring instruments must be attached to both the suction and discharge ends of the pump. In most cases pressure taps are generally available for such purposes. For those installations where such taps are not available, they should be installed using the guidelines established by the Hydraulic Institute (1983).

e. <u>Flow Requirements</u>. It is important that steady flow conditions exist at the point of instrument connection. For this reason, it is generally necessary that the pressure or head measurement be taken on a section of pipe where the cross section is constant and straight. Five to ten diameters of straight pipe of unvarying cross section following any elbow or curved member, valve, or other obstruction are necessary to ensure steady flow conditions (Hydraulic Institute 1983).

f. Head Loss Requirements. If the pipe friction loss between the pump discharge flange and the point of instrument connection can be significant, it should be added to the total head. The friction factor used for the calculation should be based on the appropriate roughness for the actual ripe section. A potential problem in conducting field tests is the head loss through partially closed valves. As a result, pressure head measurements should be made between the pump and the valves where possible.

9. <u>Flow Rate Measurement</u>. Liquid meters may be classified into two different functional groups. One group primarily measures quantity while the other primarily measures rate of flow. Quantity meters include weighing meters and volumetric meters. Rate meters, include head (kinetic) meters, area meters, head-area meters, velocity meters, and additional special methods. General guidelines for the use of these meters may be obtained from the Hydraulic Institute (1983) Standards and Walski (1984b).

a. <u>Kinetic Meters</u>. Probably the most commonly used meters are the head (kinetic) meters. Meters falling into this classification include venturi meters, nozzle meters, and orifice plate meters. For meters of this type, the average discharge may be obtained using the following equation:

$$Q = C \sqrt{2g} (\Delta h) \qquad (2-12)$$

where Q = discharge, cfs

C = meter coefficient

 Δh = head differential across meter, ft

2-8

$g = gravitational constant (32), ft/sec^2$

The discharge coefficient is available from the manufacturer. Measurement of differential head is described below.

b. Differential Head Measurement. Several types of devices are available for measurement of the differential head across the meter. These range from manometers in which the difference in pressure is balanced by different heights of fluid columns, to bellows-type differential pressure gages in which the change in position of the bellows is converted into a dial reading, to electronic pressure transducers where differential pressure is converted into an electrical signal. Manometers to be used with water can further be subdivided into heavy and light liquid manometers, depending on whether the manometer liquid is heavier or lighter than water, and air-filled manometers in which air is used as the manometer fluid. Differential pressures can also be obtained by measuring the pressure using two pressure gages and subtracting the readings. For water distribution systems, gage pressure is usually much higher than the differential pressures and, therefore, this two-gage approach is not sufficiently accurate. A discussion of the merits of each of the above approaches is provided by Walski (1984a).

10. <u>Horsepower Measurement</u>. The electrical horsepower required by the pump is determined by measuring the kilowatt demand directly or by calculating the kilowatt demand using measured values of voltage and current. For stations where the power demand for each pump has been instrumented, the readings may be obtained directly from the instrument panel. However, care should be taken to ensure that the instrumentation has been properly calibrated (Lackowitz and Petretti 1983).

a. <u>Direct Measurement</u>. For those stations where instrumentation is not provided, the power may be measured from the electric meter. Normally, the integrations on most electric meters in pumping stations cannot be read closely enough to be accurate. However, by counting the number of revolutions on the revolving disk, an estimate of the power uptake may be obtained using the following equation:

Power
$$(kW) = 3.6 * (drps) * (Kh factor)$$
 (2-13)

where drps = disc revolutions per second

Kh factor = a disc constant

The Kh factor represents the hundredths of kilowatt hours per revolution and is usually stamped on the meter face. If the meter includes other power uses in addition to the pump, these uses must be subtracted. In this case, care must be exercised to ensure that other equipment does not kick on during the pump test (Lackowitz and Petretti 1985).

b. Example. If a watt-hour meter revolves at 12 rpm and the Kb factor for the meter is 52.5, determine the power usage.

drps = (12 rev/min) * (1 min/b0 sec) = 0.2 rps

Power (kW) = 3.6 * 0.2 * 52.5 = 37.8 kW

c. Indirect Measurement. Where standard kilowatt meters are not available, the power input can also be determined indirectly. This is done by determining the line current (amperes), the line-to-line voltages (volts), and the power factor on the load side of the motor-starting device by using a poly-phase watt meter or watt/VAR-power factor/volt-ampere (PF/VA) demand meter. These types of meters can be purchased or rented from several leading manufacturers of electrical instrumentation and measuring devices. Some of the meters are fairly sophisticated, incorporating digital or dial displays and data-recording features. In general, this approach is better than deriving the power factor for the prime mover can also be obtained. However, due to the dancer involved, such tests should only be done by a skilled electrician 'Lackowitz and Petretti 1983).

d. Example. If the line current is measured to be 200 amps and the voltage is measured to be 2.4 kV, determine the power demand in kW if the power factor for the motor is determined to be 0.70.

Hower (kW) = PF * I_{λ} * V_{λ} * $\sqrt{3}$ ÷ 1000 = 0.70 * 200 amps * 2,400 volts * $\sqrt{3}$ ÷ 1,000

= 582 kW

Section III: Pump Efficiency Evaluation

1. Feyion of Pump Operation. Once each pump has been field tested, both the bad-discharge and the discharge-efficiency curves for each pump should be restructed using the test data. Once these curves have been developed they should be superimposed on the band of system head curves for the corresponding network as shown in Figure 2-5. The intersection of the band of system head curves with the pump head-discharge curve corresponds to the region of expected pump operation. The band of curves may be obtained by plotting the meridium and minimum system head curves as shown in the figure. The highest surve would correspond to the suction tank being nearly empty, the discharge turk being full, other pumps pumping into the downstream pipes, and most water overs being located beyond the tank. The lowest curve would correspond to the posite conditions (i.e., suction tank full, discharge tank nearly empty, no other pumps operating, and most water use occurring between the pump and the Hischarde tank). The point on the curve determined with none of the valves throttled should fall between the maximum and minimum system head curve unless urusual conditions existed on the system at the time of the testing.

12. <u>Region of Efficient Operation</u>. For efficient pump operation, the head versus discharge curve should intersect the band of system head curves in the region of maximum efficiency. Over a period of several years the actual operating point may change from the original design point due to wear on the pump or changes in the system. If the pump is not operating near the region of maximum efficiency, either the band of system head curves or the pump characteristic curve may be modified in order to shift the intersection point of the two curves to the desired region.



Figure 2-5. Pump Uperating Range

13. <u>Modification of the System Head Curve</u>. If the actual operating point lies to the right of the desired region, the operating point may be shifted to the left by raising the system head curve. This may be accomplished by adding additional head loss to the system. Additional head loss may be added to the system head curve by a valve downstream of a pump. Although such a procedure will indeed result in additional head loss, in some cases it may actually result in lower energy costs due to improved efficiency. If the actual operating point lies to the left of the desired region, the operating point may be shifted to the right by lowering the system head curve. This may be accomplished by decreasing the head loss in the system. One possible way to decrease the head loss would be to add parallel lines to the main supply line or have the existing lines cleaned.

14. Modification of the Head Discharge Curve. The alternative to modifying the system head curve in order to improve the efficiency of the operating point is to modify the head discharge curve of the pump. The head discharge curve may be modified by either changing or modifying the existing pump impeller, or using a driver with a different speed.

15. References.

- a. American Water Works Association (AWWA), 1977, <u>American National</u> <u>Standards for Vertical Turbine Pumps</u>, ANSI/AWWA E101-77.
- b. Gros, W. F., 1983, "Wasting Energy? Use This Simple Method to Check Pump Efficiencies," Proceedings of the AWWA Summer Convention.
- c. Hydraulic Institute, 1983, <u>Hydraulic Institute Standards for</u> Centrifugal, Rotary, and Reciprocating Pumps, Cleveland, Ohio.
- d. Lackowitz, G. W., and Petretti, P. J., 1983, "Improving Energy Efficiency Through Computer Modeling," J. AWWA, Vol 25, No. 10 pp 510-515.
- e. Walski, T. M., 1984a, "Application of Procedures for Testing and Evaluating Water Distribution Systems," Technical Report EL-85-5, US Array Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, Miss.
- f. Walski, T. M., 1984b, <u>Analysis of Water Distribution Systems</u>, Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.

2-12

MULTIPLE PUMP OPERATION

1. Introduction. For multiple pump stations, potential energy savings can be identified by examination of the overall efficiencies associated with the operation of different combinations of pumps. Although different combinations of similar pumps may deliver the same approximate flow rate, some combination for each flow may be less costly because of differences in pump efficiencies. In some cases, the efficiency of a pump when running alone can be significantly different than when it runs in conjunction with other pumps.

Section I: Instantaneous Operation

2. <u>Composite Pump Curves</u>. In order to identify which combination of pumps is most efficient for a given flow rate, the composite characteristic curves for each combination of pumps must be superimposed on the system curve of the appropriate service area. The intersection of these two curves will indicate the combined operating point (head and combined flow) for the particular combination of pumps (Matsumoto and Mays 1979).

a. <u>Parallel Pumps</u>. The composite characteristic curve for a set of pumps in parallel can be obtained by adding the capacities of the two pumps at each head (see Figure 3-1). Discharge does not increase at heads above the maximum head of the smaller pump. In addition, a second pump will produce flow only when its discharge head is greater than the discharge head of the pump already running. When the parallel characteristic curve is plotted with the system head curve, the operating point is the intersection of the system head curve with the A+B curve. For parallel pumps, each pump will be pumping against the same head. The flow rate and efficiency for each pump can be obtained by referring to the pump characteristic curves for each individual pump and then reading off the flow rate and efficiency values corresponding to the total head.

b Series Pumps. The composite head-discharge curve for a set of pumps in series can be plotted by adding the heads of the two pumps at each flow rate (see Figure 3-2). When the series head-discharge curve is plotted with the system head curve, the operating point is again the intersection of the system head curve with the A+B curve. For series pumps, each pump will be pumping the same discharge; the head and efficiency for each pump can be obtained by referring to the pump characteristic curves for each individual pump and reading the head and efficiency values corresponding to the total discharge.

3. <u>Energy Consumption for Pump Combinations</u>. When more than two pumps are present, the same procedure discussed above can be applied to each possible pump combination. Once the combined operating point for each pump combination has been determined, the head, flow rate, and wire-to-water efficiency associated with each pump should be determined. Once the head, flow rate, and efficiency of each pump has been determined, the total required kilowatt power for the system of pumps can be determined using the following equation:

ENCLOSURE 3



ETT

1110-1-

DISCHARGE, GPM

Figure 3-1. Parallel Pump Operation

3-2 A34

Series Pump Operation

Figure 3-2.



та ,оазн

3-3

$$kW = \frac{I}{1=1} \frac{Q_{1} h \gamma}{550 e_{1}} \star 0.746 = \frac{h \gamma 0.746}{550} \frac{I}{1=1} \frac{Q_{1}}{e_{1}}$$
(3-1)

where

kW = required power, kilowatts
I = total number of pumps
Q = pump discharge, cts
h = pump head, ft
y = specific weight of fluid, lb/ft³
e = wire-to-water efficiency, fraction

For a given kilowatt demand charge and an energy price rate, the cost of each pump combination may be determined. Once the cost of each combination has been determined, each combination may be ranked from the most costly to the least costly. It is best to make cost comparisons on a cost per unit volute basis (e.g., cents per thousand gallons, kgal). Once this has been accomplished, the most efficient pump combination for a given flow rate can be determined.

4. Example. For the combined operating point (for two parallel pumps) shown in Figure 3-3, determine the total kilowatt demand and energy cost of 9 cents per kilowatt-hour.

a. <u>Pump Head</u> (from Figure 3-3). Total Pump Head = 200 ft

b. Fump Discharge (from Figure 3-3).

Discharge for Pump A = 1,000 gpm = 2.23 cfs Discharge for Pump B = 1,600 gpm = 3.57 cfs

c. Pump Efficiency (from Figure 3-4).

Efficiency for Pump A (Q = 1,00C gpm), e = 0.76Efficiency for Pump B (Q = 1,60C gpm), e = 0.78

d. Kilowatt Demand.

$$kW = \frac{h\gamma \ 0.746}{550} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{Q_i}{e_i} = \frac{9,310}{550} \star \left[\left(\frac{2.23}{0.76} + \frac{3.57}{0.78} \right) \right] = 127 \ kW$$

e. Cost.

(127)(0.09) = \$11.4/hr \$100,127/yr

f. Unit Cost.

 $\frac{\$11.4}{hr} \left(\frac{min}{2,600 \text{ gal}}\right) \left(\frac{1,000 \text{ gal}}{kgal}\right) \left(\frac{hr}{60 \text{ min}}\right) \left(\frac{100 \text{ c}}{\$}\right)$ = 7.3 c/kgal

3-4



Figure 3-3. Example Head Versus Discharge Curves

122322

3-5 A37



Figure 3-4. Example Efficiency Versus Discharge Curves

3-6 A38

ETL 1110-1-

activity a factor of the society of

Table 3-1 shows these calculations for several tank levels (low, medium, and high) and each pump and combination. In general, it is less expensive to operate pump A than pump B, and pump A and B should only be operated together when demands are very high.

Pump Running	System Curve Head	<u>h, ft</u>	Q _i ,cfs	e _i	(total _cfs	kW	¢/kgal
A 3 A + 3	LOW LOW LOW	123 137 193	3.49 4.22 2.38 3.71	0.68 0.72 0.76 0.76	3.49 4.22 6.09	54 68 130	5.1 5.4 7.2
A 3 A + B	MED MED MED	138 152 200	3.29 4.03 2.23 3.57	0.70 0.74 0.76 0.78	3.29 4.03 5.80	55 70 127	5.6 5.8 7.3
A B A + B	HIGH HIGH HIGH	152 166 207	3.10 3.92 2.02 3.54	0.72 0.75 0.76 0.78	3.10 3.92 5.56	55 73 126	6.0 6.3 7.6

Table 3-1. Unit Cost for Example Problems

Section II: Extended Period Pump Operation

5. Operating Policies. Although the previous procedures will allow the determination of the energy consumption and unit cost for a given set of conditions, the optimal combination may change as the system conditions change (e.g., tanks fill, demand varies). In practice, most pump operations are not changed continuously but kept constant over longer periods of time (e.g., several hours). For example, the operator can use a table such as Table 3-1 to select the least costly pump or combination to operate at any given time. The operator is not so much interested in selecting the optimal combination as he is in avoiding very inefficient combinations. However, in some cases, an operator may want to determine the optimal pump combination for the average set of conditions over a period of several hours. Such a procedure is presented below.

6. <u>Fump Operation Graphs</u>. For extended pump operations the optimal pump combination for a set of pumps may be determined graphically using a pair of simple-pump operation graphs. The first graph is called a static headdischarge graph and contains plots of discharge versus pump static head (not actual head) for an individual pump or combination of pumps. The second graph is called a static head-unit cost graph. This graph contains plots of static pump head versus the unit cost. The graphs are illustrated in Figure 3-5 for the simple case of a pump station with two different pumps. Static head is used in these graphs since it can be determine simply by subtracting the water

3-7


Figure 3-5. Static Head Versus Discharge and Unit Cost Graph

.

NAL RESERVED RECEIPTING

3-8 A40 levels in the discharge and suction tanks. Unlike the pump head, it is independent of which pumps are operating.

a. <u>Static Head-Discharge Graph</u>. The static head versus discharge graph is constructed by superimposing the composite head versus discharge curve for each pump combination on the system head curve. Each curve can then be developed by plotting the flows associated with the combined operating points for different values of static pump head.

b. <u>Static Head-Unit Cost Graph</u>. The static head versus unit cost graph is constructed by plotting the unit cost associated with each discharge and pump combination versus the corresponding static pump head. The unit cost for a single pump can be obtained using the following equation:

$$\text{Unit Cost (c/kgal) = 0.00312hP/e}_{4}$$
(3-2)

where

h = pump head, ft
P = price of electricity, c/kWhr

The unit cost for a multiple-pump combination may be obtained using the following equation:

Unit Cost (c/kgal) = 0.00312hP
$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} e_{i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} e_{i}}$$
 (3-3)

where

 Q_i = flow rate associated with pump i, gpm

 e_{i} = overall efficiency associated with pump i

7. Example. Using the head versus discharge curves and the discharge versus efficiency curves for the two parallel pumps (pumps A and B) shown in Figures 3-6 and 3-7, generate static head versus discharge and static head versus efficiency curves for the band of system-head curves (static heads ranging from S0 to 120 ft) shown in Figure 3-6. In generating the unit cost curves, assume a power cost of \$0.10/kWhr.

a. Pump A. Using the pump head characteristic curves for pump A and the discharge-efficiency curves shown in Figures 3-6 and 3-7 for pump A, construct the following table:

Static Head (ft)	Flow (gpm)	Head (ft)	Efficiency (%)	Unit Cost (¢/kgal)
03	1270	97	0.80	3.76
90	1180	106	0.31	4.06
100	1100	114	C.82	4.31
110	1020	122	0.83	4.56
120	940	128	0.82	4.98

3-9

A41



Figure 3-6. Example Head Versus Discharge Curves

1.5.5.5

3-10 A42

1915

ETTL 1110-1-



Figure 3-7. Example Efficiency Versus Discharge Curves

3-11 A43

- 5

ETL 1110-1-

Once the table has been constructed, the relationship between static head and discharge (static head versus discharge graph) and the relationship between static head and unit cost (static head versus unit cost graph) can be plotted on Figure 3-5.

b. <u>Pump B</u>. Using the pump head characteristic curves for pump B and the discharge-efficiency curves shown in Figures 3-6 and 3-7 construct the following table:

Static Head (ft)	Flow (gpm)	Head (ft)	Efficiency (ft)	Unit Cost (¢/kgal)
80	1060	91	0.77	3.66
90	940	100	0.81	3.83
100	860	108	0.83	4.03
110	770	114	0.84	4.21
120	610	124	0.84	4.58

Once the table has been constructed, the relationship between static head and discharge and the relationship between static head and unit cost can be plotted on Figure 3-5.

c. Pumps A and B. Using the combined head versus discharge curve for pump A + B and the system head curves shown in Figure 3-6, the combined operating point for each static head can be obtained. For each operating point, the resulting total pump head can be obtained. Once this head has been obtained, it may be used with the individual head versus discharge and discharge versus efficiency curves of each pump to determine the corresponding discharges and efficiencies associated with each static head value. The unit cost values for the combined case may be obtained using Equation 3-3. The resulting values are tabulated below.

Static Head (ft)	Head (ft)	Total Flow (gpm)	Flow Pump A (gpm)	Eff. (%)	Flow Pump B (gpm)	Eff. Pump B (%)	Unit Cost (¢/kgal)
80	119	1,770	1,050	0.83	720	0.84	4.44
90	124	1,630	1,000	0.83	630	0.84	4.63
100	128	1,520	960	0.82	560	0.84	4.82
110	134	1,380	900	0.82	480	0.82	5.09
120	138	1,250	880	0.82	370	0.78	5.32

Once the relationship between the static head and discharge and the static head and unit cost have been determined, these values can be plotted on Figure 3-5.

3-12

A44

8. <u>Application of Pump Operation Graphs</u>. Once the static head-discharge and the static head-unit cost graphs have been developed, they can be used to determine the most efficient pump combination for a set of specified operating conditions over a specified period of time. The procedure for using the graphs to obtain an optimal pump combination is summarized below.

a. <u>Step 1</u>. Starting with an initial static head (i.e., the difference in water surface elevation between the pump clearwell and the controlling elevated storage tank), determine the desired static head at the end of the desired operating period (e.g., 3 hours). The desired static head can be obtained by subtracting the projected clearwell surface elevation from the desired surface level in the elevated storage tank. Once both static heads have been determined, calculate the average static head for the specified eperating period using the following equation:

$$h_{ave} = (Hdis_{i} - Hsuc_{i} + Hdis_{f} - Hsuc_{f}) / 2.0 \qquad (3-4)$$

where

h_{avg} = average static head, ft
Pdis_i = initial head in discharge tank, ft
Hsuc_i = initial head in suction tank, ft
Hdis_f = final head in discharge tank, ft
Hsuc_i = final head in suction tank, ft

If all heads remain constant during the specified operation period, then:

$$h_{avg} = Hdis - Hsuc$$
(3-5)

b. <u>Step 2</u>. Next, determine the total volume of water expected to be demanded during the specified operating period. This requires knowing the use rate as a function of time of day, day of week, season, etc. The total amount of water that must be supplied during the specified operating period can be obtained from the following equation:

$$V_{s} = V_{d} + \Sigma \left[A_{tank} * (Hdis_{f} - Hdis_{i}) \right]$$
(3-6)

where

 $V_{s} = \text{total volume to be supplied, ft}^{3}$ $V_{d} = \text{total volume demanded, ft}^{3}$ $= 8.02 * \Delta t (hr) * Q (gpm)$ $A_{tank} = \text{average cross-sectional area of tank, sq ft}$ $Hdis_{f} = \text{desired elevation of tank at end of period, ft}$ $Hdis_{f} = \text{elevation of tank at the beginning of the period, ft}$

c. <u>Step 3</u>. Once the total required volume of water to be supplied has been determined, calculate the average flow rate required to deliver this volume using the following equation:

3-13

A45

where

$$reg = 0.125 * V / T$$

(3-7)

Q_{req} = the required average flow rate, gpm V_s = total volume to be supplied, cu ft T_o = time period, hr

Q

d. <u>Step 4</u>. Once the average static head and the average flow rate have been determined, enter the static head versus discharge graph and draw a vertical line through the various curves corresponding to the average static head for the specified operating period. Now mark the points of intersection of this line and each of the pump combination curves. Each of these points represents the average operating point of the particular pump combination associated with the average static head. Next, mark a point on this line corresponding to the required average flow rate (see Figure 3-8).

Normally the required operating point will not correspond to one of the actual operating points for a particular pump combination. Instead, some of the points will be above the required point and some of the points will be below. The desired flow rate may be supplied using a combination of a point above and a point below (where each point will correspond to either an individual pump or a combination of pumps). The intersection of the static head line with the vertical axis of the graph (corresponding to zero flow) may also be considered one of the possible points below the operating point.

e. <u>Step 5</u>. Once the required operating point has been plotted, next determine all the feasible combinations of operating points between a point above and a point below the required operating point (see Figure 3-9). Next, determine the flow rates associated with each point. These flow rates may be determined directly from the vertical axis of the graph (see Figure 3-10). For each feasible combination of a point above and a point below the desired operating point, determine the percent of time required for each point in order to satisfy the required flow rate (see Figure 3-11). These percentages can be obtained by solving the following equations for f_a (the fraction of time required for the pump combination above the desired operating point) and f_b

(the fraction of time required for the pump combination below the desired operating point).

$$Q_{rec} = Q_b \star f_b + Q_a \star f_a$$
(3-8)

where

$$f_b = (Q_{req} - Q_b)/(Q_a - Q_b)$$

$$f_a = (1 - f_b)$$

3-14 A46



Figure 3-8. Determination of Operating Points

3**-15** A47



Figure 3-9. Feasible Pump Combinations

and the second second second second

3-16 A48



Figure 3-10. Flow Rates Associated with Pump Combinations

3-17 A49



3-18 A50

f. <u>Step 6</u>. Using the same combination of points selected in step 5 determine the unit costs associated with the flows for each of the operating points for each combination. These costs may be read directly from the static headunit graphs as shown in Figure 3-11.

g. Step 7. Using the unit costs obtained from step 6, determine the total operating cost for each of the different operating combinations using the following equation:

$$C_{i} = 0.0006 T_{o} (f_{a}Q_{a}C_{a} + f_{b}Q_{b}C_{b})$$
 (3-9)

where

 $C_i = \text{cost of operating combination i}$ $T_o = \text{total operating period, hours}$ $C_a = \text{cost of operating combination above } Q_{\text{req}}$ $C_b = \text{cost of operating combination below } Q_{\text{req}}$

h. <u>Step 8</u>. After the cost for each operating combination has been obtained, the costs can be ranked and the most cost-effective combination selected.

9. Example. During the next 4 hr, an operator wishes to raise the water level in an elevated tank from 479 ft to 481 ft while the clearwell water level is constant at 370 ft. The average cross-sectional area of the tank is 7,854 sq ft (50-ft radius) and the water use is 600 gpm during this time. Using the average static head versus discharge and average static head versus unit cost curves developed in the previous example, determine the optimal pump combination that will meet the required conditions.

a. <u>Step 1</u>.

 $h_{avg} = \frac{Hdis_{f} - Hsuc_{f} + Hdis_{i} - Hsuc_{i}}{2.0} = \frac{481 - 370 + 479 - 370}{2} = 110 \text{ ft}$ b. <u>Step 2</u>. $V_{d} = 600 \text{ gpm * } 60 \text{ m/hr * 4 hr * 0.1337 cu ft/gal = 19,250 cu ft}$ $V_{s} = V_{d} + A_{tank} * (Hdis_{f} - Hdis_{i}) = 19,250 \text{ cu ft} + 7,854 \text{ sq ft * (481 - 479)}$ = 34,960 cu ft

c. <u>Step 3</u>. Q_{req} = 0.125 * V_s/T_o = 0.125 * 34,960 cu ft/4 hr = 1,092 gpm d. <u>Step 4</u>. See Figures 3-9 and 3-10.

> 3-19 A51

Steps 5-8. Referring to Figures 3-9 and 3-10, three different pump operation combinations can be identified: Pumps A + B, Pump A and Pumps A + B, and Pump B and Pump A + B. For each combination, a unit cost must be determined: (1) Pumps A + B. $Q_{\rm h} = 0$ (No pump on) $Q_{2} = 1,380 (Pumps A + B)$ $f_b = \frac{1,092 - 1,380}{0 - 1,380} = 0.20$ $f_{2} = 0.80$ C_ = 5.09 ¢/kgal $C_{\rm h} = 0 \ c/kgal$ Cost = 0.0006 (4) 0.2 (0) (0) + 0.8 (1,380) (5.09) = \$13.49 (2) Pump A and Pumps A + B. $0_{\rm h} = 1,020 \ (Pump A)$ $Q_{2} = 1,380 \text{ (Pumps A + B)}$ $f_{b} = \frac{1,092 - 1,380}{1,020 - 1,380} = 0.80$ $f_{2} = 0.20$ C_ = 5.09 c/kgal $C_{h} = 4.56 \text{ c/kgal}$ Cost = 0.0006 (4) 0.8 (1,020) (4.56) + 0.2 (1,380) (5.09) = \$12.30 (3) Pump B and Pumps A + B. $Q_{2} = 1,380 \text{ gpm} (Pump A + B)$ $Q_{\rm b} = 770 \text{ gpm} (\text{Pump B})$ $f_b = \frac{1,092 - 1,380}{770 - 1,380} = 0.47$ $f_a = 0.53$ C_ = 5.09 ¢/kgal $C_{h} = 4.21 \text{ c/kgal}$ Cost = 0.0006 (4) 0.47 (770) (4.21) + 0.53 (1,380) (5.09) = \$12.59 (4) Based on the costs of each of the three possible operating decisions, the optimal decision is the second one (e.g., run pump A for 4 hr and pump B for 0.8 hr).

Section III: Computer Program

10. For pump systems with one or two pumps, the static head-discharge and static head-unit cost graphs can be generated fairly easily without the aid of a computer. The various operating combinations may also be evaluated fairly quickly. However, the number of pumps increases the construction of the graphs, and the evaluation of the various combinations can become somewhat tedious and time consuming. In order to facilitate the construction of the graphs or determine the optimal operating combinations, a computer program has been developed. A complete description of the computer program is provided by Ormsbee and Walski (1986).

> 3-20 A52

11. References.

- a. Matsumoto, J., and L. W. Mays, 1979, "Computerized Pump Analysis for Water Systems," ASCE Journal of the Environmental Engineering Division, Vol 105, No. EE1, pp 155-160.
- b. Ormsbee, L. E., and T. M. Walski, 1986, Optimization of Water Supply <u>Pumping Systems</u> (Draft Report), Environmental Laboratory, US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, Miss.

UPILIA BUCCCO

3

PUMP OPERATION SCHEDULING

1. Introduction. Although the total energy consumption charges associated with a pump operation can be decreased by improving the efficiency of individual pumps or combinations of pumps, such measures have little impact on reducing the costs associated with time of day energy rate schedules. The primary way to minimize the cost associated with variable electric rate schedules is through the use of off-peak pumping strategies. The idea behind offpeak pumping strategies is to pump the water required to satisfy the peak system demands into elevated storage tanks during periods of slack demand (when electrical rates are normally lower). The excess water pumped during the slack demand period is used during periods of peak system demand (when the electrical rates are normally higher). The overall result of such a policy should be a lower total energy cost. It should be implemented if energy savings exceed the cost of additional storage.

2. <u>Pump Operating Policies</u>. The key to the implementation of an off-peak pumping strategy is the availability of equalizing storage and the development of an optimal pump operating policy. A pump operating policy is simply a schedule of water levels that should be maintained and a series of rules that dictate when different pumps should be operated in response to different syntem conditions. An optimal pump operating policy is that policy which will satisfy all system constraints at a minimum cost. Any optimal pump operating policy should be flexible enough to adjust to temporary changes in the normal operating conditions (e.g., fire events, pipe breaks, etc.).

Section I: Optimal Pump Operating Policies

3. Background. Although several authors have investigated the potential cavings that may result from modification of an existing purp operation pelicy. very few authors have attempted to develop specific algorithms for use in improving such schedules. Due to the complexity and dynamic mature of many water distribution systems, it is difficult, if not impossible, to develop a least-cost operations procedure without the use of some type of optimization algorithm. Sterling and Coulbeck (1975a,b) have investigated using both beirarchial methods and dynamic programming in developing optimal pemp operation. policies, both with limited success. More recently, Sabet and Felwey (1987 developed a dynamic program for use in an optimal pumping schedule for municipalities utilizing ground water as their water supply source. The algorithm was used to select the hourly operating schedule for three pumps for a system of 18 pipes with a single storage reservoir. For the example application, energy savings of approximately 35 percent were achieved. infortunately, the optimal solution did not require the initial and timal states to be equal. In addition, the procedure neglects the impact of changes in system demand and pump combination on the system head curves.

4. <u>Dynamic Programming Approach</u>. In the current study an operations research technique known as dynamic programming is used to develop an optimal pump operating policy. Dynamic programming is simply a technique that is used to break large complex problems into a series of much smaller and simpler

ENCLOSURE 4

4-1 A54

problems. The optimal solution to the larger problem is then found by summing the optimal solutions of the smaller subproblems. For problems that meet the requirements of dynamic programming, the optimal solution of the larger problem will be equal to the solution found by summing the optimal solutions of the smaller subproblems. For example, the solution of the daily or weekly pump operation problem may be determined by solving for the minimum energy costs over a small period of time (e.g., l hour) and then summing the costs over the entire period.

5. <u>Problem Disaggregation</u>. For the optimal pump operating policy problem, the "large" problem corresponds to determining the desired average static head (and corresponding tank water level) for each time interval (i.e., l hour) for a specified operating period (usually a day). The "smaller" subproblem corresponds to determining the minimum cost required to obtain a desired average static head for each time interval. Procedures for determining the optimal solution to the smaller subproblem (which pumps to run and at what cost) are presented in Enclosure 3. Procedures for solving the larger problem are presented in the following sections.

Section II: Problem Formulation

6. <u>Preliminary Steps</u>. Before the optimal pump operating policy problem can be solved, several preliminary steps must be taken. These are summarized below:

a. Determination of Problem Stages. Divide the desired operational period into discrete time intervals (usually hours). In dynamic programming terminology, the time intervals are known as "stages." The time intervals (or stages) are usually selected to correspond to changes in the electric rate or the system demand. After the operational period has been broken into different stages, the system demand and electric rate associated with each stage should be determined.

b. Determination of Problem States. Next, determine the maximum and minimum allowable static head (i.e., difference between suction tank (clearwell) water level and elevated storage tank water levels) values for each time interval. Once the maximum and minimum values have been determined, the range of values should be divided into reasonable intervals. Normally, a constant interval is used (usually several feet). For example, if water treatment plant clearwell level can fluctuate between 110 and 120 ft and elevated storage water level can fluctuate between 230 and 270 ft, the static head would range between 110 (230 - 120) and 160 ft (270 - 110) and states would be 110, 115, 120...160 ft if a 5-ft interval is used. In dynamic programming terminology, the variable associated with the different values of the static head is called a "state variable." In this case the state variable is simply the static head. For each stage (time interval), the state variable (static head) may be discretized into severable possible values. In dynamic programming terminology each possible value is called a "state." In mathematical notation an individual value of a state variable may be expressed as where i is a stage index and j is a state index. For example, if the S_{ii} static head is the state variable and the stages are 3 hr long, $S_{4,3}$ is the third possible state (e.g., 120 ft) with stage 4 (i.e., hour 12).

c. Construction of the State Space. The larger overall problem associated with determining the optimal pump operating policy can be visualized graphically through the construction of a "state-space diagram." The statespace diagram is simply a figure which shows the various states (static heads) that can occur at the beginning and end of a particular stage (time interval). A potential state-space diagram for a problem involving three different static heads (states) and four different time intervals (stages) is illustrated in Figure 4-1. Each state S_{ij} is represented by a circle, and each stage is represented by a square. In this example, a time interval of 6 hr is used. The values of the static heads (states) are assumed to be equal to 190, 200,

and 210 it. It should be noted that all the initial states are assigned a stage index of zero even though they represent the initial state of stage !.

d. Construction of Transition Cost Matrices. The final step is to construct a transition cost matrix for each stage. This matrix shows the cost to move from a given state in one stage to another state in the next stage. An example transition cost matrix for the first stage of the example state space is shown in Figures 4-2 and 4-3. (Costs of infinity represent hydraulically infeasible transitions.) The transition cost matrix illustrates the cost of the pumping during stage (time interval) i required to change the tank level from its initial state $S_{i-1,j}$ to its final state $S_{i,k}$. In mathematical notation the cost associated with each transition may be expressed as C_{ijk} . The variable C_{ijk} represents the cost associated with the decision to change from state j at the beginning of stage i to state k at the end of stage i (i.e., the pumping cost required to go from $S_{i-1,j}$ to $S_{i,j}$). For this problem the cost associated with each particular transition (the costs in each cell of the matrix) can be obtained using the procedures outlined in Enclosure 3 or some other rule. In this case, the average static head to be used with the operation curves is obtained as follows:

$$\bar{H}_{1jk} = \frac{S_{1-1,j} + S_{1k}}{2}$$
(4-1)

where \bar{H}_{ijk} = the average static head

i = stage index associated with the final state

- j = state at the beginning of stage i
- k = state at the end of state i

The required volume to be used with the operation curves can be obtained in a similar manner as follows:

$$V_{ijk} = V_d + A_{tank} * (S_{i-1,j} - S_{ik})$$
 (4-2)

where V_d = volume required due to system demand

A = average cross-sectional area of storage tank

4-3 A56



Figure 4-1. State-Space Diagram



Figure 4-2. Transition Cost Matrix

4-4 A57



Figure 4-3. Example Transition Cost Matrix Section III: Problem Solution

7. <u>Identification of Possible Operating Policies</u>. Once the state space and the transition cost matrices have been constructed, a potential operating policy may be found by starting at a state (static head) at the beginning of the first stage (time interval) and drawing a path through one of the states (represented by the circles) associated with each of the remaining stages (see Figure 4-4). For this example problem, the path involves four different steps. Each step in the path corresponds to a decision to change from one static head (state) at the beginning of each time interval to another static head (state) at the end of the time interval. The cost of each decision may be obtained from the transition cost matrix for each stage. The cost associated with each decision path t can be obtained by simply summing the costs associated with each decision in the path. In mathematical notation this can be expressed as:

$$c_{t} = \sum_{i}^{I} c_{ijk}$$
(4-3)

where $j, k \epsilon(t)$

I = number of stages

For the example operating policy, the total cost can be obtained as follows:

4-5 A58

. . . .

۰.,



Figure 4-4. Possible Operating Policy

4-6

·

A59

(4 - 4)

$$C_t = C_{121} + C_{212} + C_{331} + C_{413}$$

8. <u>Enumeration Strategy</u>. One possible way to determine the optimal operating policy for the example problem would be to enumerate all the possible paths (operating policies) through the state space. However, even for this small

problem there would be $3 \times 3^4 = 243$ such paths involving 972 subproblems (where each subproblem consists of finding the minimum cost required to change from one static head to another). From a practical standpoint many of the paths could be eliminated if the required initial state and the final state are fixed. However, this would still involve 27 paths requiring the solution of 108 subproblems. Therefore, such an approach would quickly become computationally infeasible as the number of states and stages was increased.

9. Dynamic Programming Strategy. Instead of using a complete enumeration strategy to solve the optimal pump operation policy problem, dynamic programming may be used. In order to illustrate the concepts involved in dynamic programming, consider the example problem shown in Figure 4-5. In this case only four stages are considered, where each stage corresponds to a time interval of 6 hr. In addition, the static head at the beginning of the operating period is required to be equal to the static head at the end of the operating period (i.e., 200 ft). During the intermediate time intervals (stages), two additional static heads are possible (i.e., 190 and 210 ft). Instead of constructing transition cost matrices for each stage, the cost associated with each decision may be shown in parentheses directly on the state-space diagram. As before, a cost of infinity indicates a decision that is hydraulically infeasible.

a. Initial Stage. To begin the solution procedure, start at the end of the first stage (see Figure 4-6). For each final state associated with this stage (there are three), enumerate all the possible decisions between the states at the end of the stage and the states at the beginning of the stage (in this case there is only one at the beginning). For each possible decision, determine the associated cost from the transition cost matrix (in this case from Figure 4-5) and record the cost on the state-space diagram as shown in Figure 4-6. Once the cost associated with each decision has been determined, determine the best (least costly) path that can be taken to each final state $S_{i-1,j}$. The

optimal path associated with each final state S_{ik} can be indicated on the

state-space diagram by highlighting the paths. The costs associated with each of these optimal decisions should be indicated in brackets next to the corresponding state, as shown in Figure 4-6. For the initial stage there is only one possible path for each of the ending states since there is only one beginning state. The cost in brackets will thus correspond to the cost of each of the individual decisions.

b. Intermediate Stages. For the intermediate stages, again enumerate all the possible decisions (paths) between the states at the end of each stage and the states at the beginning of each stage. For the second and third stages of the example problem, there are nine possible decisions, three decisions for each state, as shown in Figure 4-5. Once again, determine the cost associated with each decision from Figure 4-5. As before, the cost associated with each

> **4-**7 **A6**0



Figure 4-5. Example Problem



Figure 4-6. Evaluation of Initial Stage



Figure 4-7. Evaluation of Second Stage

4-9 A62

decision is shown in parentheses. For each ending state k, determine which previous state j results in the best cumulative decision. This is determined not by looking at the costs associated with the current decision but by looking at the cumulative costs associated with the current decision. The cumulative cost for a particular decision is equal to the sum of the cost of the current decision (in parentheses) and the cumulative cost (in brackets) associated with the previous state of the decision. (This use of the cumulative costs instead of the cost of the current decision is the key to dynamic programming.) Once the cumulative cost for each decision associated with a given state has been determined, find which decision yields the lowest cumulative cost for that state. The decision yielding the lowest cumulative cost is the optimal decision for that state. The optimal decision for each state may be indicated on the state-space diagram by highlighting the path as shown in Figures 4-7 and 4-8. The cumulative cost associated with each optimal decision is now recorded in brackets next to the corresponding state. The optimal solution for stage 2 is shown in Figure 4-7 while the optimal solution for stage 3 is shown in Figure 4-8. By the end of stage 3, many of the alternative decisions have been eliminated.

c. <u>Final Stage</u>. For the final stage, repeat the same steps employed in the previous stages. For the example problem there is only one ending state for the final stage. Once again, determine the cumulative cost associated with each of the three possible decisions. As before, record the minimum of these three in brackets next to the final state (circle). This final cost represents the total cost of the optimal pump operating policy. As before, indicate which decision was used to obtain this cost by highlighting the associated path on the state-space diagram (see Figure 4-9). After the final decision has been determined, the optimal operating policy can be determined by following the emphasized path back through the state space (see Figure 4-10). By following the path back through the state space it is possible to identify the states (static heads) required at each time step that will yield the least-cost operating policy. The optimal solution for the example problem is summarized in Table 4-1.

Table 4-1. Optimal Solution

Time	State	Cost
Midnight	200	
6 a.m.	210	20
Noon	200	20
6 p.m.	200	30
Midnight	200	<u>20</u>
Total		90

A63

222355559322522222







Figure 4-9. Evaluation of Final Stage

4-11 A64



Figure 4-10. Optimal Solution

4-12 A65 10. <u>Computer Program</u>. The optimal pump operating policy problem may be solved using dynamic programming. For the example problem discussed in the previous sections, a complete enumeration strategy would require the solution of 108 subproblems. For the same problem, a dynamic programming strategy requires the solution of only 25 subproblems. As the number of states and stages is increased, the computational gap increases exponentially. Although a particular optimal pump operating policy problem could be solved graphically as illustrated in the previous example, such an approach would be extremely tedious and time consuming. (It should be reemphasized that the solution of each subproblem requires the solution of the optimal pump combination problem.) In order to expedite the use of dynamic programming in solving the optimal pump operating policy problem, the entire procedure presented above (including the subproblem solution procedure) has been incorporated into a computer program for easy use.

a. <u>Data Requirements</u>. In order to use the optimal pump operating program (O-POP) the following data are required:

1) Pump head versus discharge curves for each pump.

2) Wire-to-water efficiency curves for each pump.

3) System head curves for each pump or combination of pumps.

4) Average cross-sectional area or volume versus water level table for the elevated storage tanks.

5) Maximum and minimum water surface elevations of the storage tanks.

6) The number of states and stages (time intervals) to be used.

7) The system demand and electric rate for each time interval (stage).

b. <u>Program Operation</u>. Using the pump characteristic curves and the system head curves, the computer program develops a set of pump operation curves for each electric rate using the procedures outlined in Enclosure 3. Using the pump operation curves, the program constructs transition cost matrices for each stage. Once the transition cost matrices have been developed, the program enumerates all the possible transitions between the states associated with each stage and then determines the minimum cumulative cost associated with each state. Once all the stages have been processed and the total minimum cost has been determined, the program moves back through the state space in order to determine the optimal operating policy.

c. <u>Program Results</u>. For a given set of input data the program will determine the most economical average static head (and associated tank water level) for each time interval (stage). In addition, the program will provide a ranking of the various pump combinations that will yield the desired average static head for each time interval. The operator may then use the results to select the combination that is most feasible for the system operation for each time interval.

> 4-13 A66

ETI. 1110-1-

d. <u>Availability</u>. A computer program to solve the dynamic programming problem has been developed and tested by the US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. The program can run on an IBM-PC or compatible computer. For more information, contact Dr. Thomas M. Walski (WESEE-R), Comm 601-634-3931 or FTS 542-3931.

- 11. References.
 - a. Sabet, M. H., and O. J. Helweg, 1985, "Cost Effective Operation of Urban Water Supply System Using Dynamic Programming," <u>Water Resources</u> Bulletin, Vol 21, No. 1, pp 75-81.
 - b. Sterling, M. J., and B. Coulbeck, 1975a (Dec), "A Dynamic Programming Solution to Optimization of Pumping Costs," <u>Proc. Instn. Civ. Engrs.</u>, Part 2, pp 813-818.
 - c. Sterling, M. J., and B. Coulbeck, 1975b (Dec), "Optimization of Water Pumping Costs by Hierarchical Methods," <u>Proc. Instn. Civ. Engrs.</u>, Part 2, pp 789-797.

APPENDIX B: DEVELOPING SYSTEM HEAD CURVES

1. Developing system head curves is a necessary step in pump sizing or evaluating the operation of existing pumps. A simple textbook procedure for developing a system head curve is to: (a) determine the lift required based on the difference in water level between the nearest tanks on the upstream and downstream sides of the pumps, (b) determine friction loss based on head loss between the upstream tank and the pump and between the pump and the downstream tank, and (c) add the heads at each flow rate. Such a system head curve is shown in Figure B1. It is based on the idealized system shown in Figure B2 with the added assumption that $Q_u = 0$. (For convenience, symbols are defined at the conclusion of this appendix.)

2. Virtually all example problems in engineering references (Clark, Viessman, and Hammer 1971; Hicks and Edwards 1971; ASCE 1975; Messina 1976; Reh 1981; Walski 1984) contain system head curves, as shown in Figure B1. These system head curves are based on the assumption that there is virtually no water used or lost between the two tanks. This is a reasonable assumption for many water supply pumps and most sewage pumps. However, in some water distribution systems, very large quantities of water can be consumed between the pump and the nearest tank. In evaluating some in-place pumps in the DC system, the authors observed that actual system head curves could be quite different from those shown in Figure B1.

3. This appendix describes why system head curves can vary significantly from those shown in Figure Bl, illustrates some interesting special cases, and describes how engineers can account for these anomalies in practical design situations.

Generalized System Head Curve

4. Consider the water distribution system shown in Figure B2. It differs from those shown as examples in standard engineering texts in that there may be a significant water use (Q_u) at the end of pipe segment 1. The difference in head between the tank upstream of the pump and a point

See References at the end of this appendix.







Figure B2. Idealized system

immediately downstream of the pump (i.e., the system head curve) can be given as a function of flow as

$$h = h_{t} + \kappa_{0} q_{0}^{2} + \kappa_{1} q_{1}^{2} + \kappa_{2} |q_{2}| q_{2}$$
(B1)

where

- h = head required at pump discharge Q, L
- K_0, K_1, K_2 = head loss coefficients for pipe segments 0, 1, and 2, respectively

 Q_0 , Q_1 , Q_2 = flow in pipe segments 0, 1, and 2, L^3/T

The absolute value term is required in Equation B1 because when Q_u is greater than Q_1 , flow will actually occur from the tank toward the pump in pipe segment 2.

5. The best way to illustrate the anomalies in system head curves is to plot several system head curves using reasonable values for head loss coefficients. Such curves are plotted in Figure B3 for a system with $h_t = 50$ ft and $K_0 = 0$ (i.e., short suction line typical of most pumping stations). Note that the horizontal axis is pump discharge, not total water use. Water use downstream of the tank does not affect the curves.

6. The first observation is that only the system head curve for $Q_u = 0$ looks like a typical system head curve. The other curves show unusual shapes or $Q_u \ge Q_1$. Most notably, the curve for $K_1 = K_2$ and $Q_u = 25$ is a straight line for pump discharges less than 25 ft³/sec.

7. When the flow in pipe segment 2 is toward the tank (i.e., $Q_2 > 0$), the system head curves show a positive second derivative, as one would expect. However, when Q_2 is negative, the shape of the curves depends on where and how much water is being used between the pumps and the tank.

8. Figure B3 shows that when water use is at the tank $(K_2 = 0)$, the system head curves are concave upwards. For water use midway between the tank and the pump $(K_1 = K_2)$, the system head curves are linear for small values of pump discharge. For water use at the pump $(K_1 = 0)$, the curves are concave downward.

9. This phenomenon can also be explained using the hydraulic grade lines shown in Figure b4. For the traditional system head curve ($Q_u = 0$), the hydraulic grade line slopes downward at a constant slope. As water use between the pump and tank increases ($0 < Q_u < Q_{pump}$), the grade line becomes curved. As water use increases even further ($Q_{pump} < Q_u$), the tank begins to empty, and the hydraulic grade line becomes U-shaped.

Β3



Figure B3. Sample system head curves

Special Cases

10. Some special cases can help illustrate why the odd-shaped system head curves exist. First, consider the case in which both K_0 and K_1 are negligible in comparison with K_2 ($K_0, K_1 << K_2$). This corresponds to the case in which the water use is very close to the pump. For this case, Equation B1 can be simplified to

$$h = h_t + K_2(Q_2)^2$$
 (B2a)

when

B4

 $Q_2 \ge 0$





and

$$h = h_t - K_2(Q_2)^2$$
 (B2b)

when

This equation is plotted as Figure B5 and is somewhat startling in that the system head curve is an inverted parabola for small values of pump discharge.

Q₂ < 0

ll. The second special case occurs when $K_1 = K_2$ and $K_0 = 0$. For this case, Equation Bl reduces to

$$h = h_t + K_1 (2Q_1^2 - 2Q_1Q_u + Q_u^2)$$
 (B3a)



Figure B5. Special case system head curve (K₀,K₁ << K₂)

 $Q_2 \ge 0$

when

and

$$h = h_t + K_1 (2Q_1Q_u - Q_u^2)$$
 (B3b)

when

Equation B3b is plotted in Figure B6 and illustrates that for some flow rates, the system head curve can be a linear function of pump discharge, Q_1 .

 $Q_{2} < 0$

Effect on Operating Point

12. Since accounting for water use between the pump and tank moves the system head curve to the right and down, one would expect the operating point of the pump to move in that direction so that the pump would put out greater flow at lower head. Noting that $Q_2 = Q_1 - Q_u$ and that, in most cases, $K_0 << K_1$, the system head curve (Equation B1) can be written using the notation from Figure B2 as





$$h = h_{t} + K_{1}Q_{1}^{2} + K_{2}(Q_{1} - Q_{u})|Q_{1} - Q_{u}|$$
(B4)

13. Pump head characteristic curves can be approximated by a parabola as

$$h_{p} = aQ_{1}^{2} + bQ_{1} + c$$
 (B5)

where

h = head produced by pump, L

a, b, c = coefficients in pump curves

In almost all cases, the bQ_1 term is much smaller than the other terms, so to simplify the algebra, it will be eliminated.

14. The operating point of a pump is the combination of flow and head that satisfies Equations B4 and B5 simultaneously (i.e., the intersection of the system head and pump characteristic curves). Setting those two equations equal gives the following equation:

$$(-a + K_1)Q_1^2 + K_2|Q_1 - Q_u|(Q_1 - Q_u) + h_t - c = 0$$
 (B6)

15. It is possible to define a dimensionless parameter $u = Q_u/Q_1$, which gives the relative amount of water consumed between the pump and tank. For u = 0, no water is consumed along the line; for 0 < u < 1, some of the water is consumed; for u = 1, exactly all the water pumped is consumed before it reaches the tank; and for u > 1, more water is consumed than pumped. Because of the absolute value function in Equation B6, there are two cases to the solution for Q_1 :

For u < l,

$$Q_{1} = \sqrt{\frac{C - h_{t}}{K_{1} + K_{2}(u^{2} - 2u + 1) - a}}$$
(B7a)

For u > 1,

$$Q_{1} = \sqrt{\frac{C - h_{t}}{K_{1} - a - K_{2}(u^{2} - 2u + 1)}}$$
(B7b)

16. Since $C > h_t$ (or else the pump would not work) and $K_2 > 0$, the minimum value of Q occurs at u = 0. As u increases (i.e., more water is used out of the pump discharge line), the discharge from the pump increases. Some of the implications of this are described below:

- <u>a</u>. Since the discharge rate is greater and the total volume to be pumped remains constant, pumps will run for shorter periods of time if water is used near the pumps.
- b. Since the pump head characteristic curve slopes downward, the pump would produce less head. The energy cost may or may not decrease, depending on the efficiency of the new operating point. If the pump was designed to operate exactly at the pump's best efficiency point, increasing the flow rate may result in greater energy costs even though the pumps run shorter periods of time against lower heads. This depends on the individual pump's efficiency curve.
- c. At the higher flow rates the pump will draw more power. In the case of utilities with a demand charge, the demand charge may be greater than estimated if some significant portion of the water use is near the pump. A larger driver may also be required.
- d. Since the net positive suction head (NPSH) required increases nonlinearly with flow and the NPSH available decreases nonlinearly with discharge (due to friction losses in suction piping), a pump that was designed to operate in a safe range
using a standard system head curve may experience cavitation problems if a great deal of water is used near the pump.

Complicated Distribution Systems

17. In the examples above, it was assumed that water consumption between the pump and tank could be lumped at a single point and the pipe network could be represented by two pipe segments with a negligible amount of error. In many cases the piping system is too complicated to use such a simplified approximation to the real system. For example, elevated storage tanks may be located on the opposite side of the demand center from the pumps.

18. In such instances, it is necessary to use a model of the distribution system to assist in generating the system head curve. This can be done by replacing the pump, suction line, and suction storage tank (or clearwell) with a constant input node located at the suction tank at an elevation equal to the water level in that tank. The model would then be run for a number of input flow rates at a fixed water consumption rate. The head at the constant input node would be the ordinate of the system head curve at that flow rate. Alternative system head curves could be generated for different water use rates (e.g., nighttime use, average day, and peak day).

19. The above approach can best be illustrated by an example. Consider the simple system shown in Figure B7 with a tank located at node 32 and a pump at node 10. The water level at the tank is 200 ft above the water level of the suction tank located at node 10. Normal water use is 1,000 gpm with the use distributed fairly evenly among the nodes.

20. First, the water use was fixed at 100 gpm (low-use period), and the input to the system was varied from 0 to 1,500 gpm. The heads corresponding to these inputs are shown as the Use = 100 line in Figure B8. The process was repeated for Use = 1000 (normal use) and Use = 2000 (peak use), also shown on Figure B8. Note that these curves look a great deal like the curves from the special cases described earlier.

Practical Implications

11. While the mathematically interesting special cases above illustrate New unusual system head curves can be shaped, they are unlikely to appear



NOTE: DIAMETERS ARE 6" UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE LENGTHS ARE 5000' UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE

Figure B7. Simple system configuration

exactly as shown in Figures B5 and B6 in actual pump design and operation problems. However, the fact that system head curves are not simply the sum of lift and friction head is significant in water systems where there can be numerous large water users between the pumping station and the nearest tank.

22. One could argue that it is unlikely that pumps will be sized to discharge less water than is being used near the pumping station. However, as more water utilities are facing time-of-day energy pricing in which price of energy is highest in midday when the water use is greatest, the situation of only one or two of a large battery of pumps running at peak-use time is a more common occurrence.

23. The significance of using simple system head curves (e.g. Figure B1) is that engineers will incorrectly determine pump operating points. Pumps that are sized to perform efficiently for traditionally shaped system head curves may behave inefficiently under actual conditions. In addition, the actual pump operating point will be to the left of the expected operating point, so that a pump that was sized to barely meet net positive suction head requirements may actually experience cavitation problems.

シンシンシンシングログシング



Figure B8. Example system head curves for Figure B⁺

24. In some cases it is possible to represent a system by a single node, as the authors have done above to generate a system head curve. However, in some cases, this will be a poor approximation to the real system. Instead it will be necessary to generate the system head curve by: (a) setting up a simple skeletal model of the system between the pump and the tank, (b) representing the pump by a constant inflow node, (c) simulating the system for various pump inflows, and (d) determining the required head by subtracting the suction tank water level from the pump head at each inflow. The curves thus generated can be used in pump selection.

<u>ummary</u>

25. The textbook method of generating sister head curves by adding lift head and friction head may give misleading results when there is a larve water use between the pumps and the downstream tank. This appendix illustrates when such an approach is misleading. Improved system head curves can be generated analytically by lumping water users at a single role or, for more complex systems, by using a water distribution model to determine system heads.

References

ASCE. 1975. <u>Pipeline Design for Water and Wastewater</u>, American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, N. Y.

Clark, J. W., Viessman, W., and Hammer, M. J. 1971. <u>Water Supply and Pollu-</u> tion Control, International Textbook Co., Scranton, Pa.

Hicks, T. G., and Edwards, T. W. 1971. <u>Pump Application Engineering</u>, McGraw-Hill, New York.

Messina, J. P. 1976. "General Characteristics of Pumping Systems and System Head Curves," <u>Pump Handbook</u>, I. J. Karassik, ed., McGraw-Hill, New York.

Reh, C. W. 1981. "Systems Design," <u>Pumping Station Design</u>, R. L. Sanks, ed., Montana State University, Bozeman, Mont.

Walski, T. M. 1984. <u>Analysis of Water Distribution Systems</u>, Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.

APPENDIX C: FIELD TEST RESULTS FOR DALECARLIA PUMPING STATION

1. The field test results for the pumps in the Dalecarlia pumping station are summarized in Tables Cl-Cl3. (At the time of the test, Pumps 13 and 14 were out of service and were not tested.) Each table summarizes the physical characteristics of each pump, along with the field test results, which are presented in eight columns.

2. Columns 1, 2, and 5 contain measured data. The first column contains the values of the pump head measured during the test. These values represent the difference in pressure across each pump expressed in feet of water. The pressure on the discharge side of the pump was obtained using a calibrated Bordon tube pressure gage. The pressure on the suction side of the pump was calculated using the elevation of the clearwell, the elevation of the suction line, and the head loss through the suction line. The second column contains the corresponding values of flow rate expressed in units of 1,000 gallons per minute (gpm). These readings were also obtained directly from instrumentation in the control room. The fifth column in each table contains measured values of electrical horsepower. These values were measured directly from instrumentation in the control room.

3. Column 3 contains values of flow rate obtained from the manufacturer's pump characteristic curves. These values were determined using the measured values of pump head. Column 4 contains the percent difference between the measured flow values and the values obtained from the manufacturer's curves.

4. Column 6 contains values of electrical horsepower obtained from the manufacturer's pump characteristic curves. These values were also determined using measured values of pump head. Column 7 contains the percent difference between the measured flow values and the values obtained from the manufacturer's curves.

5. Column 8 contains the wire-to-water efficiencies obtained from the manufacturer's curves using the measured values of pump head.

C1

MODEL # SERIAL #	30MC1VERT 1461376		CLEARWELL 1 PUMP ELEV	34.5 FT 106 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED	34800 GPM 514 RPM
			RES ELEV	170 FT		RATED HEAD	50 FT
	DATE CURVE DI CURVE #	EVELOPED: NOV RY 115346	. 9, 1955				
(1) Measure	(2) d Measured	(3) Flow from	(4)	(5) Measured	(6) EHP from	(7)	(8) Efficiency from
Head (ft)	Flow (1000 gpm)	Curve (1000 gpm)	Percent Difference	EHP (HP)	Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	Curve (%)
52	34.38	35.00	-1.79	550	549	.18	83.4
53	35.07	34.40	1.95	563	550	2.36	83.6
56	33.68	32.60	3.31	552	550	.36	84.1
62	28.13	28.60	-1.66	543	537	1.12	84.2
70	23.96	21.40	11.95	509	495	2.83	77.2
* 72	19.79	20.40	-2.98	503	490	2.65	75.6
* 72	20.49	20.40	.42	509	490	3.88	75.6
* 74	16.84	17.20	-2.09	476	470	1.28	71.0
* 74	16.15	15.00	7.64	476	460	3.48	69.3
* 77	13.19	10.80	22,17	469	440	6.59	62.4

译在林长长出现在在在长台的第三人称单数

Table Cl Field Test R.sults for Dalecarlia Pumping Station, Pump 1

* Pumps 1 and 2 operating in combination.

Tillie !!

C2

E.

				Table C2				
Field	Test	Results	for	Dalecarlia	Pumping	Station,	Pump	2

MODEL #	30MC1VERT	CLEARWELL	134.5 FT	RATED FLOW	34800 GPM
SERIAL #	1461375	PUMP ELEV	106 FT	RATED SPEED	514 RPM
		RES ELEV	170 FT	RATED HEAD	50 FT

DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: NOV. 10, 1955 CURVE # RY 115347

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8) Efficiency
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow from Curve (1000 gpm)	Percent Difference	Measured EHP (HP)	EHP from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from Curve (%)
54	34.72	33.20	4.59	550	550	.00	82.2
56	33.33	32.00	4.17	543	550	-1.27	82.4
61	31.25	28.80	8.51	523	542	-3.51	81.8
66	29.86	25.40	17.56	523	527	76	80.2
70	24.31	21,60	12.53	485	505	-3.96	75.6
* 72	20.49	20.40	.42	496	497	20	73.6
* 74	16.84	17.20	-2.09	472	480	-1.67	68.2
* 77	13.19	10.80	22.17	449	468	-4.06	63.0

* Pumps 1 and 2 operating in combination.

C3

I	d	ħ	1	e,	3	3
---	---	---	---	----	---	---

rield lest sesults for falecaria Pumping Station, Pump 3

MODEL #	30MCIVEKT	<pre>EARWED1</pre>	134.5 FT	RATED FLOW	34800 GPM
SERIAL #	1401374	PIME FLEV	1600 ET	RATED SPEED	514 RPM
		HELE ELES	1.44 ± 11	RATED HEAD	50 FT

DATE CURVE DEVELOPET: SEPT. 19, 1405 CURVE # 55 11444

•

C4

(1)	(.)	: 1 :	(se)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8) Efficiency
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Elew from urve (1990 gpm)	fercent Hitterence	Measured EHP (HP)	EHP_from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from Curve (%)
52	54.)	.11+	560	541	3.51	83.6
53	3-4 . ¹⁹ 8	594 🖕 ¹⁷ (17		ិភិស	541	2.77	83.6
7.1	21.38	•	e i Ca		~ 93	1.22	73.9
73		- i • *			468	3.21	65.4

rield lest results for laterarlia jumping station, Pump 4

.

<u>na na sana ang pangkana na sa pangkang pangkana na sa kana na sa</u>

MODEL #	16NA+3VE1	LEARWEL	Fl	RATED	FLOW	34350	GPM
SERIAL #	14013 4	PUMP ELE	A 106 F1	RATED	SPEED	600	RPM
		Brb Elfs	246 FT	EATED	HEAD	145	FT

DATE CORVE DEVELOPED: MARGE 10, 19 4 CORVE # EC.1844.

(1)	1.11		f i	τ,)	(6)	(7)	(8) Efficiency
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow trom Curve (1906 gpm)	Fercent Litterence	Measured EHP (HP)	EHF trom Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from Curve (%)
133	30.56	.5.00	h. h.	1153	1130	2.04	84.2
161	21.53	211. 1911	3.50	1630	1025	.49	82.2
198	.00	.00	• ()()	550	535	2.80	UND
* 158	22.57	21.80	3.57	1059	1150	-7.91	85.2
* i80	12.85	13.41	-4.13	831	830	.12	74.8

* Pumps 4 and 6 operating in combination.

C5

1.86

86.6

MODEL # SERIAL #	26NA43VRT 1461378		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	134.5 FT 106 FT 246 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD	34350 GPM 600 RPM 145 FT
	DATE CURVE CURVE #	DEVELOPED: J E-175566	UNE 20, 1959				
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8) Efficiency
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow from Curve (1000 gpm)	Percent Difference	Measured EHP (HP)	EHP from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from Curve (%)
116	.00	.00	.00	536	460	16.52	2 UN

1153

1132

-3.91

NAMES AND AND AND A CONTRACT OF A CONTRACT O

Table C5Field Test Results for Dalecarlia Pumping Station, Pump 5

132

30.56

31.80

	<u>F1e</u>	ld Test Resul	lts for Daleca	lia Pumping	Station, Pu	imp 6	
MODEL # SERIAL #	26NA43VRT 1461377		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	134.5 FT 106 FT 246 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD	34350 GPN 600 RPN 145 FT
	DATE CURVE DE CURVE #	EVELOPED: DEC E-175770	0. 2, 1959				
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow from Curve (1000 gpm)	Percent Difference	Measured EHP (HP)	EHP from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from from Curve (%)
130	30.56	29.30	4.29	1092	1115	-2.06	85.1
161	21.53	21.00	2.51	1005	1003	.20	84.6
186	11.11	9.00	23.46	684	685	15	66.0
* 158	22.57	22.00	2.59	1046	1022	2.35	85.2
* 180	12.85	13.40	-4.13	811	810	.12	74.8

Table C6

 $\bullet \bullet$

* Pumps 4 and 6 operating in combination.

iel	d	1	ſe	s	1
				_	
DEV	F	1.0	١Þ	F	
DLV	E	-)	17	5	2
				7	-
				`	
		F	lo	W	
			C	u	1
-		(10	0	(
			1	6	•

o soliti

C8

				Table C7				
Field	Test	Results	for	Dalecarlia	Pumping	Station,	Pump	7

CTT)

MODEL # SERIAL #	18NA33VRT 1461382	CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	134.5 F 106 F 329.7 F	T T T	RATED RATED RATED	FLOW SPEED HEAD	13900 900 220	GPM RPM FT

DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: MARCH 11, 1959 CURVE # E-175493

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8) Efficiency
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow from Curve (1000 gpm)	Percent Difference	Measured EHP (HP)	EHP from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from Curve (%)
198	18.40	16.20	13.60	925	1110	-16.67	69.6
260	9.03	.00	UND	382	363	5.23	UND
* 221	14.58	14.90	-2.13	891	990	-10.00	84.2

* Pumps 7 and 9 operating in combination.

STR 6555555 2000000

	Fie	ld Test Resul	ts for Daleca	rlia Pumping	Station, Pum	np 8	
MODEL # SERIAL #	18NA33VRT 1461381		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	134.5 FT 106 FT 331.2 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD	13900 GPM 900 RPM 220 FT
	DATE CURVE DE CURVE #	CVELOPED: MAR E-175494	сн 12, 1959				
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8) Efficiency
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow from Curve (1000 gpm)	Percent Difference	Measured EHP (HP)	EHP from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from Curve (%)
198	18.40	16.70	10.20	912	1015	-10.15	82.2
251	13.89	10.80	28.60	771	840	-8.21	81.6

UND

-1.43

-4.06

UND

429

885

402

349

365

994

690

365

17.53

-10.97

-41.74

-4.38

UND

84.6

72.0

UND

Table C8

* Pumps 8 and 9 operating in combination.

10.42

15.28

7.29

5.21

.00

15.50

7.60

.00

60

265

214

258

263

×

*

Field Test Results for Dalecarlia Pumping Station, Pump 9

MODEL #	18NA3 3VET	(LEARWELL	134.5 FI	RATED	FLOW	13900	GPM
SERIAL 🕴	1461380	PUMP ELEV	106 FT	RATED	SPEED	900	RPM
		RES LIEV	<31., FT	RATED	HEAD	220	FT

DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: MARCH 1., 1959 CURVE # P+175495

(1)	(_)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	())	(+1)	(?)	(8) Efficiency
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow trom Surve Surve Spins	Percent itterence	Measured Fil (HF)	EHP_from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from Curve (%)
44.	20. K.S	•	1 K T	·• ? _	1130	-13.98	81.5
253	• • • •		· • •		8.10	-5.24	81.0
.°€⊖3	· · ·	. •	•• •	• • •	* [10]	-11.96	UND
χατι το το τ 2 του δι	•	•*		• .	1 ×	-4.70	85.0
** *	-		. •	•	. 1.14 m	-14.57	84.5
**	. '	• • •			1 - <u>1</u> - 1	4.19	75.8
••					. 1	- : · . 4h	UND

1.1.1

æ.

.

S. S. Same

Printing and the second se

A

🗚 🔴 – Dramper of Services (Services) – 👘

4

C10

	•		
		<i>c.</i>	

	4 E 63 4
:	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1

Maria Service Service Service	-	- 1	- · ·			') reent Titerence	(%) Efficiency from (urve (7)
•	· • •				·· •	2. . (* 14	Ж5 . ;
• .			1	. .		1.14	85./
••			. •	·	, 8 30	-1.86	85.7
***	. •	· •			1670	1.14	84.8

* Pumps 10 and 11 operating in combination.

****** Pumps 10 and 12 operating in combination.

*** Pumps 10, 11, and 12 operating in combination.





C12

MODE: SERI	L # AL #	24NA38VRT 1461384	C	LEARWELL UMP ELEV	134.5 FT 106 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED	18750 GPM 900 RPM
			R	ES ELEV	423.2 FT		RATED HEAD	300 FT
		DATE CURVE DEV CURVE #	ELOPED: JUNE E-175568	18, 1959				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8) Efficiency
Measured		Measured	Flow from		Measured	EHP from		from
ا 	fead	(1000 gpm)	(1000 gpm)	Difference	(HP)	(HP)	Percent Difference	(Z)
	281	23.61	22.90	3.11	1903	1900	.16	84.9
	350	11.46	6.60	73.61	1019	1130	-9.82	UND
*	295	12.85	21.90	-41.34	1877	1860	.91	85.9
**	309	15.28	20.10	-23.99	1810	1790	1.12	85.6
***	325	10-42	17.30	-39,79	1649	1680	-1.85	84.2

Table CllField Test Results for Dalecarlia Pumping Station, Pump II

* Pumps 10 and 11 operating in combination.

****** Pumps 11 and 15 operating in combination.

*** Pumps 10, 11, and 12 operating in combination.

Table	C12
-------	-----

Field Test Results for Dalecarlia Pumping Station, Pump 12

24NA38VRT	CLEARWELL 134.5	FT	RATED	FLOW	18750 GPM
1461383	PUMP ELEV 106	FT	RATED	SPEED	900 RPM
	RES ELEV 422.5	FT	RATED	HEAD	300 FT
	24NA38VRT 1461383	24NA38VRT CLEARWELL 134.5 1461383 PUMP ELEV 106 RES ELEV 422.5	24NA38VRT CLEARWELL 134.5 FT 1461383 PUMP ELEV 106 FT RES ELEV 422.5 FT	24NA38VRTCLEARWELL134.5 FTRATED1461383PUMP ELEV106 FTRATEDRES ELEV422.5 FTRATED	24NA38VRTCLEARWELL134.5 FTRATED FLOW1461383PUMP ELEV106 FTRATED SPEEDRES ELEV422.5 FTRATED HEAD

DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: JUNE 19, 1959 CURVE # E-175569

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8) Efficiency
Me	asured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow from Curve (1000 gpm)	Percent Difference	Measured EHP (HP)	EHP from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	from Curve (%)
	288	24.31	21.70	12.01	1850	1870	-1.07	84.8
*	302	15.28	20.30	-24.74	1810	1818	44	85.3
**	302	15.28	20.30	-24.74	1810	1818	44	85.3
***	325	10.42	17.00	-38.73	1676	1657	1.15	84.7

* Pumps 10 and 12 operating in combination.

** Pumps 12 and 15 operating in combination.

*** Pumps 10, 11, and 12 operating in combination.

C13

MODEI SERIA	L # AL #	24NA38VRT 1461386	C: Pi Ri	LEARWELL UMP ELEV ES ELEV	134.5 FT 106 FT 422.5 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD	18750 GPM 900 RPM 300 FT
		DATE CURVE DE CURVE #	VELOPED: JUNE E-175572	24, 1959				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Mea H	asured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Flow from Curve (1000 gpm)	Percent Difference	Measured EHP (HP)	EHP from Curve (HP)	Percent Difference	friclency from Curve (%)
	306	24.31	19.30	25.94	1875	1770	5.93	84.5
	353	10.42	.00	UND	885	720	22.92	UND
*	309	15.28	18.90	-19.17	1810	1757	3.02	84.4
**	302	15,28	19,80	-22.84	1810	1790	1.12	84.7

Table Cl3 Field Test Results for Delecarlie Pumping Station Pump 15

* Pumps 11 and 15 operating in combination.
** Pumps 12 and 15 operating in combination.

C14

STOCOLOGIAN

APPENDIX D: FIELD TEST RESULTS FOR BRYANT STREET PUMPING STATION

1. The field test results for pumps in the Bryant Street pumping station are summarized in Tables DI-DII. (Because of operational conditions, Pump 1 was not tested individually.) Each table summarizes the physical characteristics of each pump, along with the field test results, which are presented in eight columns.

2. Column 1 contains the values of the pump head measured during the test. These values represent the difference in pressure across each pump expressed in feet of water. The pressure on the discharge side of the pump was obtained using a calibrated Bordon tube pressure gage. The pressure on the suction side of the pump was calculated using the elevation of the clearwell, the elevation of the suction line, and the head loss through the suction line. Column 2 contains the corresponding values of flow rate expressed in units of 1,000 gallons per minute (gpm). Column 3 in each table contains measured values of current, expressed in amperes. Column 4 contains measured values of power expressed in kilovolts-ampere reactive (kvars). The current and power readings were obtained directly from instrumentation in the control room. For an associated voltage drop, the corresponding electrical power in kilowatts may be obtained using the following equation:

Power (kW) =
$$\sqrt{(kVA)^2 - (kvar)^2}$$

where kVA = current (amps) * voltage (volts). The resulting values of electrical power expressed in units of horsepower are given in column 5.

3. Column 6 contains values of wire-to-water efficiency associated with the head, flow rate, and power readings in columns 1, 2, and 5. Column 7 contains values of wire-to-water efficiency obtained from the manufacturer's pump curves using the measured pump head values in column 1. The percent difference between the calculated wire-to-water efficiencies and the manufacturer's wire-to-water efficiency is shown in column 8.

Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Measured Current (AMPS)	Measured Power (KVARS)	Measured Power (HP)	Computed Efficiency (%)	from Curve (%)	Percent Difference
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7) Efficiency	(8)
				250 11		RATED POWER	800 HP
MODEL #	26NAS43VT		PUMP ELEV RES FLEV	118 FT 250 FT		RATED SPEED	514 RPM 110 FT
MODEL #	26NAS43VT		CLEARWELL	156.5 FT		RATED FLOW	24300 GPM

Table D1Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumping Station, Pump 1

* Pumps 1 and 3 operating in combination.

Table D2

Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumping Station, Pump 2

MODEL # SERIAL #	26NAS43VT 1346786		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	156.5 FT 118 FT 250 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD RATED POWER	24300 GPM 514 RPM 110 FT 800 HP
(1) Measured Head (ft)	(2) Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	(3) Measured Current (AMPS)	(4) Measured Power (KVARS)	(5) Measured Power (HP)	(6) Computed Efficiency (%)	(7) Efficiency from Curve (%)	(8) Percent Difference
93	25.76	175	20	696.86	64.93	N/A	N/A
94	24.17						
102	22.84						
132	18.14						
135	14.68	130	160	492.55	75.71	N/A	N/A
136	11.54						
142	8.25						
* 98	24.22	172	80	680.51	65.77	N/A	N/A
* 104	20.90						
* 116	18.44	165	100	649.66	62.23	N/A	N/A
* 129	15.80						
* 132	11.79	130	200	477.71	61.61	N/A	N/A

* Pumps 2 and 3 operating in combination.

XTN.T.T.

D3

					·····			
MODI	EL # IAL #	26NAS43VT 1346784		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	156.5 FT 118 FT 250 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD RATED POWER	24300 GPM 514 RPM 110 FT 800 HP
 Me	(1) easured Head	(2) Measured Flow (1000 com)	(3) Measured Current	(4) Measured Power (VUAPS)	(5) Measured Power (HP)	(6) Computed Efficiency	(7) Efficiency from Curve (7)	(8) Percent
<u> </u>	93	<u>(1000 gpm)</u> 27 78	<u>(AH 5)</u> 170	80	672 49	72,55	<u> </u>	N/A
	141	.00	240	85	952.31	.00	N/A	N/A
*	96	26.39	150	140	580.93	82.35	N/A	N/A
**	98	41.04	155	30	616.75	76.98	N/A	N/A
**	104	42.71						
**	132	51.39	160	30	636.69	95.31	N/A	N/A

Table D3 Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumping Station, Pump 3

* Pumps 1 and 3 operating in combination.

** Pumps 2 and 3 operating in combination.

D4

d 76".

	F	ield Tes	Results	for	Bryant	Street	Pumping	g Station,	Pump 4			
MODEL #				CLEAI	RWELL	156.5	FT		RATED	FLOW	24300	GPM
SERIAL #	1346781			PUMP	ELEV	118	FT		RATED	SPEED	514	RPM
				RES I	ELEV	NONE	FT FT		RATED	HEAD	45	FT
									RATED	POWER	325	HP
(1)	(2)	<u></u>	(3)		(4)	(5)	(6)	Effi	(7)	(8)	
Measured	Measure	d Mea	asured	Mea	asured	Measu	red	Computed	f	rom		
Head	Flow	Cı	irrent	Pe	ower	Powe	r	Efficienc	y C	urve	Perce	nt
(ft)	<u>(1000 gp</u>	<u>m) (</u>	AMPS)	<u>(K</u>)	VARS)	<u>(HP</u>	<u>')</u>	(%)		(%)	Differ	ence
11	37.50		60		25	237.	71	33.20		N/A	N/A	

188.69

262.74

50

10

* Pumps 4 and 5 operating in combination.

.00

31.25

49

66

*

77

24

Table D4

<u> Andre</u>

N/A

N/A

DOCCORNER IN

.00

53.52

N/A

N/A

MODEL # SERIAL #	30MC1VRT 1346782		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV	156.5 FT 118 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED	24300 GPM 514 RPM
			RES ELEV	NONE FT		RATED HEAD RATED POWER	45 FT 325 HP
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7) Efficiency	(8)
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Measured Current (AMPS)	Measured Power (KVARS)	Measured Power (HP)	Computed Efficiency (%)	from Curve (%)	Percent Difference
11	37.50	35	69	121.16	65.14	N/A	N/A
45	27.78	74	100	277.32	84.33	N/A	N/A
79	.00	64	140	213.08	.00	N/A	N/A

Table D5 Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumping Station, Pump 5

* Pumps 4 and 5 operating in combination.

Bacces

		Tabl	le 06			
Field	d Test Result	s for Bryant	Street Pumpi	ng Station, P	ump 6	
30MC1VRT 1346783		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	156.5 FT 118 FT NONE FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD RATED POWER	24300 GPM 514 RPM 45 FT 325 HP
DATE CURVE D CURVE #	EVELOPED: JU E-121814	TLY 19, 1951				
(2) Measured	(3) Measured	(4) Measured	(5) Measured	(6) Computed	(7) Efficiency from	(8)
Flow (1000 gpm)	Current (AMPS)	Power (KVARS)	Power (HP)	Efficiency (%)	Curve (%)	Percent Difference
38.89	60	60	231.37	39.04	37	5.50
37.57	60	70	228.54	52.49	41.5	26.49
32.28	66	50	258.13	88.94	78	14.02
30.13						
23.19						
.00	56	80	208.25	.00	0	UND
	Fiel 30MC1VRT 1346783 DATE CURVE D CURVE # (2) Measured Flow (1000 gpm) 38.89 37.57 32.28 30.13 23.19 .00	Field Test Result 30MCIVRT 1346783 DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: JU CURVE # E-121814 (2) (3) Measured Measured Flow Current (1000 gpm) (AMPS) 38.89 60 37.57 60 32.28 66 30.13 23.19 .00 56	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Table be Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumpi 30MCIVRT 1346783 CLEARWELL 156.5 FT 1346783 PUMP ELEV 118 FT DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: JULY 19, 1951 CURVE # E-121814 (2) (3) (4) (5) Measured Measured Measured Flow Current Power Power (1000 gpm) (AMPS) (KVARS) (HP) 38.89 60 60 231.37 37.57 60 70 228.54 32.28 66 50 258.13 30.13 23.19 .00 56 80 208.25	Table be Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumping Station, F 30MCIVRT 1346783 CLEARWELL 156.5 FT PUMP ELEV 118 FT RES ELEV DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: JULY 19, 1951 CURVE # E-121814 (2) (3) (4) Computed Measured Measured Measured Measured Computed Efficiency (1000 gpm) (AMPS) (KVARS) (HP) (Z) 38.89 60 60 231.37 39.04 37.57 60 70 228.54 52.49 32.28 66 50 258.13 88.94 30.13 23.19 .00 56 80 208.25 .00	Table 06 Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumping Station, Pump 6 30MCIVRT CLEARWELL 156.5 FT RATED FLOW 1346783 PUMP ELEV 118 FT RATED SPEED 1346783 PUMP ELEV 118 FT RATED SPEED DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: JULY 19, 1951 RES ELEV NONE FT RATED POWER DATE CURVE DEVELOPED: JULY 19, 1951 CURVE # E-121814 E-121814 Efficiency (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) Measured Measured Measured Computed from Flow Current Power Power Efficiency Curve (1000 gpm) (AMPS) (KVARS) (HP) (%) (%) (%) 38.89 60 60 231.37 39.04 37 37.57 60 70 228.54 52.49 41.5 32.28 66 50 258.13 88.94 78 30.13 31.19

USS STOR

142222222 10888A

30000000

D7

MODEL #	24MA38VRT		CLEARWELL	156.5 FT		RATED FLOW	17350 GPM
SERIAL #	1346787		PUMP ELEV	118 FT		RATED SPEED	720 RPM
			RES ELEV	332.5 FT		RATED HEAD	210 FT
						RATED POWER	1100 HP
	DATE CURVE D CURVE #	EVELOPED: DE E-121303	EC. 15, 1950				
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7) Efficiency	(8)
Measured Head	Measured Flow	Measured Current	Measured Power	Measured Power	Computed Efficiency	from Curve	Percent
(ft)	(1000 gpm)	(AMPS)	(KVARS)	(HP)	(%)	(%)	Difference
183	16.20	210	-130	826.42	67.73	85	-20.32
186	16.07	210	-110	829.32	67.78	82.5	-17.84
188	17.79	200	-110	789.11	79.85	83	-3.79
253	3.92	80	110	299.11	62.34	46.5	34.07

Table D7Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumping Station, Pump 7

3597035

D8

1111

131

Measured	Measured	Measured	Measure Power	Measure Power	ed	Computed Efficiency		ciency com urve	Perce	nt
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)		(6)	266	(7)	(8))
	DATE CURVE CURVE #	DEVELOPED: JA E-121347	AN. 4, 1951							
			KE2 ELEV	225.3	r I		RATED	POWER	1100	HP
SERIAL #	1346788		PUMP ELEV	118	FT		RATED	SPEED	720	RPM
MODEL #	24MA38VRT		CLEARWELL	155.5	FT		RATED	FLOW	17350	GPM

(HP)

903.89

519.01

(%)

56.18

.00

(%)

79.3

N/A

Difference

-29.15

N/A

(KVARS)

150

370

Table D8

60

(ít)

176

250

ふんんくんがおとい

(1000 gpm)

15.28

.00

(AMPS)

230

MODEL # SERIAL #	18NA37VRT 1346789		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV	156.5 FT 118 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED	10040 GPN 900 RPN
			RES ELEV	420.7 FT		RATED HEAD RATED POWER	310 FT 1000 HP
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7) Efficiency	(8)
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Measured Current (AMPS)	Measured Power (KVARS)	Measured Power (HP)	Computed Efficiency (Z)	from Curve (Z)	Percent Difference
269	11.81	200	120	787.65	75.93	N/A	N/A
343	3.47	185	200	709.33	31.62	N/A	N/A
352	.00	110	340	276.45	.00	N/A	N/A

				Tab	le D9				
Field	Test	Results	for	Bryant	Street	Pumping	Station,	Pump	9

12222318842

Б

CARLES STATE CARACTER CARACTER STATE AND AND CARACTER STATES - SO

	Fiel	<u>d Test Resul</u>	ts for Bryant	Street Pumpi	ng Station, F	² ump 10	
MODEL # SERIAL #	18NA37VRT 1346790		CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	156.5 FT 118 FT 420.7 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD RATED POWER	10040 GPM 900 RPM 310 FT 1000 HP
(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7) Efficiency	(8)
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Measured Current (AMPS)	Measured Power (KVARS)	Measured Power (HP)	Computed Efficiency (%)	from Curve (%)	Percent Difference
273	10.82	210	160	821.14	67.90	N/A	N/A
280	10.72	205	190	794.25	71.28	N/A	N/A
317	10.28	190	210	727.19	84.58	N/A	N/A
343	6.14	140	300	470.16	84.34	N/A	N/A
350	3.23	130	300	422.14	50.41	N/A	N/A
352	2.43	105	320	269.38	59.85	N/A	N/A

·* 医克尔氏的复数骨骨下的 医外外

\$5555555

22.

2222

rkeeleed Room

Table D10

D11

KANANAN DITIZZZZ KANANITI MARTINA MARTINA

Field Test Results for Bryant Street Pumping Station, Pump 11

MODEL # SERIAL #	SIZE 20x18 TYP 23564 23565	E SG	CLEARWELL PUMP ELEV RES ELEV	156.5 FT 118 FT 420.7 FT		RATED FLOW RATED SPEED RATED HEAD	13900 GPM 720 RPM 155 FT
	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	RATED POWER	325 HP
Measured Head (ft)	Measured Flow (1000 gpm)	Measured Current (AMPS)	Measured Power (KVARS)	Measured Power (HP)	Computed Efficiency (%)	Efficiency from Curve (%)	Percent Difference
283	11.81	240	210	932.74	67.42	N/A	N/A
387	.00	155	400	470.40	.00	N/A	N/A

1 - M

LAND TO A CALLMONT OF

D12

APPENDIX E: PCP - PUMP COMBINATION PROGRAM

1. The pump combination program enumerates and ranks the various feasible pump combinations required to meet a specified system demand for a given average tank level (over time) and may be used to develop cost operation curves for use with the tank operation program (TOP). To rank the various pump combinations, five main types of input data are required: the physical description of the controlling tank, the initial and final tank levels, the time interval, the average system demand, and a set of pump operation curves for each pump combination.

2. Two sets of three pump operation curves are required as input for each pump combination. The first set of curves (TLF curves) is used to approximate the hydraulics of the system for each different pump combination. Each curve describes the variation in pump flow for an associated tank level and system demand. The second set of pump operation curves (TLC curves) is used to approximate the pump operation costs associated with each different pump combination. Each curve describes the variation in cost for an associated tank level and system demand. In the computer program, each curve is obtained by fitting a quadratic curve through three different data points supplied by the user.

3. The pump combination program is written in Fortran and is run in a batch mode. Input to the program is read from a user-supplied data file, and output is directed to a user-supplied output file. Data input instructions for PCP are given in Table El. The first card identifies the duration of the specified operating period, the electric rate and average system demand for the period, and the number of pump combinations to be considered. The second card is used to specify the tank area, the initial and final tank elevations, and the three system demands that correspond to the three pump operation curves.

4. Cards N1, Q1, Ci, Q2, C2, Q3, and C3 are repeated for each pump combination. Card N1 identifies each pump combination with a set of numbers. For each combination, the associated pumps are indicated by inputing a nonnegative number in the corresponding data field.

5. The next three sets of cards are used to describe the pump operation curves (TLF and TLC curves) for each pump combination. Cards Ql and Cl are

E 1

Card Group	Format	Column	Description	Variable Name
C1	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	Time Interval (hr)	DTIME
	F10.0	11-20	Electric Rate (¢/kWhr)	PKWHR
	F10.0	21-30	System Demand (gpm)	QDEM
	110.0	31-40	Number of Pump Combinations	NCOMB
	110.0	41-50	Debug Flag	IBUG
C2	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	A (T) A N117
	F10.0	3-10	lotal Area of lanks (sq ft)	ATANK
	F10.0	11-20	Initial Tank Elevation (It)	ETANK
	F10.0	21-30	Final Tank Elevation (It)	FIANK
	F10.0	31-40	Maximum System Demand (gpm)	QMAXD
	F10.0	41-50	Medium System Demand (gpm)	QMIUD
	F10.0	51-60	Minimum System Demand (gpm)	QMIND
			Repeat Cards N1, Q1, C1, Q2, C2, Q3, C3 for each pump combination I = 1, NCOMB	
N 1	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	13.0	3-5	Pump l ID #	NNPC(I,1)
	15.0	6-10	Pump 2 ID #	NNPC(I,2)
	15.0	11-15	Pump 3 ID #	NNPC(I,3)
	15.0	16-20	Pump 4 ID #	NNPC(I,4)
	15.0	21-25	Pump 5 ID #	NNPC(1,5)
			(Continued)	

Table ElData Input Instructions for PCP

(Sheet 1 of 4)

Card	<u></u>			Variable	
Group	Format	Column	Description	<u>Name</u>	
	110.0	26-30	Pump 6 ID #	NNPC(I,6)	
	110.0	31-35	Pump 7 ID #	NNPC(1,7)	
	110.0	36-40	Pump 8 ID #	NNPC(1,8)	
			Static Head vs. Flow Rate Curve for QMAXD		
Q1	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier		
	F8.0	3-10	First Static Head (ft)	X 1	
	F10.0	11-20	First Flow Rate (gpm)	Y 1	
	F10.0	21-30	Second Static Head (ft)	X2	
	F10.0	31-40	Second Flow Rate (gpm)	¥ 2	
	F10.0	41-50	Third Static Head (ft)	X3	
	F10.0	51-60	Third Flow Rate (gpm)	¥3	
			Static Head vs. Unit Cost Curve for QMAXD		
C 1	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier		
	F8.0	3-10	First Static Head (ft)	X 1	
	F10.0	11-20	First Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr)	Y 1	
	F10.0	21-30	Second Static Head (ft)	X2	
	F10.0	31-40	Second Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr)	Y 2	
	F10.0	41-50	Third Static Head (ft)	Х3	
	F10.0	51-60	Third Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr)	¥3	

Table El (Continued)

(Continued)

(Sheet 2 of 4)

1.1.1.1

1

いたたいというというというという

Card				Variable
Group	Format	Column	Description	Name
			Static Head vs. Flow Rate Curve for QMIDD	
Q2	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	First Static Head (ft)	X 1
	F10.0	11-20	First Flow Rate (gpm)	Y 1
	F10.0	21-30	Second Static Head (ft)	X2
	F10.0	31-40	Second Flow Rate (gpm)	Y 2
	F10.0	41-50	Third Static Head (ft)	X3
	F10.0	51-60	Third Flow Rate (gpm)	¥3
			Static Head vs. Unit Cost Curve for QMIDD	
C2	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	First Static Head (ft)	X1
	F10.0	11-20	First Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr)	Y 1
	F10.0	21-30	Second Static Head (ft)	X2
	F10.0	31-40	Second Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr`	¥2
	F10.0	41-50	Third Static Head (ft)	X3
	F10.0	51-60	Third Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr)	¥3
			Static Head vs. Flow Rate Curve for QMIND	
Q3	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	First Static Head (ft)	X1
	F10.0	11-20	First Flow Rate (gpm)	¥ 1

Table El (Continued)

(Sheet 3 of 4)

1555555C

(Continued)
Card Group	Format	Column	Description	Variable Name
	F10.0	21-30	Second Static Head (ft)	X2
	F10.0	31-40	Second Flow Rate (gpm)	¥2
	F10.0	41-50	Third Static Head (ft)	X 3
	F10.0	51-60	Third Flow Rate (gpm)	¥3
			Static Head vs. Unit Cost Curve for QMIND	
C3	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	First Static Head (ft)	X1
	F10.0	11-20	First Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr)	Y 1
	F10.0	21-30	Second Static Head (ft)	X2
	F10.0	31-40	Second Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr)	¥2
	F10.0	41-50	Third Static Head (ft)	X3
	F10.0	51-60	Third Unit Cost (¢/kgal/hr)	¥3

Table El (Concluded)

Å

į

used to describe the tank level versus discharge and tank level versus unit cost curves for the operating condition corresponding to a maximum system demand of QMAXD. These cards are used to describe the top curve of the three TLF and TLC curves associated with each pump combination. Cards 0.2 and C2 are used to describe the tank level versus discharge and tank level versus unit cost curves for the operating condition corresponding to an average system demand of QMIDD. These cards are used to describe the middle curve of the three TLF and TLC curves associated with each pump combination. Finally, cards Q3 and C3 are used to describe the tank level versus discharge and tank level versus unit cost curves for the operating condition corresponding to an average system demand of QMIND. These cards are used to describe the lower curve of the three TLF and TLC curves associated with each pump combination (see Figures E1 and E2).

6. A complete listing of the program is provided as Figure E3. A typical input data file is shown in Figure E4. A typical output data file is shown in Figure E5.







TANK LEVEL, FT



С С PCP - PUMP COMBINATION PROGRAM С С AUTHOR - LINDELL E. ORMSBEE С С * LATEST REVISION 12/1/86 С ***************** С С THIS PROGRAM WILL DETERMINE THE MOST EFFICIENT COMBINATION С OF PUMPS REQUIRED TO SATISFY A GIVEN SYSTEM DEMAND AND AVG С STATIC HEAD. С FOR EACH COMBINATION OF PUMPS A STATIC HEAD VS DISCHARGE С С AND A STATIC HEAD VS UNIT COST CURVE ARE REQUIRED. THESE С CURVES MAY BE GENERATED USING THE PROCEDURES GIVEN IN С APPENDIX C. С CCMMCN/BLK1/ X0, Y0, X1, Y1, X2, Y2, C1, C2, C3 С DIMENSION NNPC(100,6), QP(100), CP(100), CCST(100) DIMENSION 0X(21,3),CX(21,3),CM(21,3),CM(21,3),ON(21,3),CN(21,3) DIMENSION GB(100), CB(100), GA(100), CA(100), IAP(100), IBP(100) DIMENSION IAC(100), IBC(100), GCA(100), GCB(100), FCA(100), FCB(100) DIMENSICH CCA(100), CCB(100), CRA(100), CRB(100) С CHARACTER+14 FILOT, FILIN С REAL X0, Y0, X1, 1, X2, Y2 201 FCRMAT(110) 202 FORMAT(F10.0) C. WRITE(+,1) FORMAT('/ INPUT NAME OF INPUT FILE'/) 1 READ(+,3)FILIN WRITE(+,2) 2 FORMAT('/ INPUT NAME OF OUTPUT FILE'/) READ(+,3)FILOT FORMAT(A14) Э С OPEN(5,FILE=FILIN,STATUS='OLD') OPEN(6,FILE=FILOT,STATUS='NEW') С С С * READ IN DATA * С ************ С DTIME = TIME INTERVAL (HRS) С С PKWHR = ELECTRIC RATE (C/KWHR) QDEM = SYSTEM DEMAND С NCOMB = NUMBER OF PUMP COMBINATIONS С DEBUG = DEBUG FLAG (O=NORMAL OUTPUT, 1=EXTENDED OUTPUT) С С READ(5,4)DTIME, PKWHR, ODEM, NCOMB, IBUG Figure E3. Program listing for PCP (Sheet 1 of 7)

```
FORMAT(2X,FB.0,2F10.0,2I10)
  4
С
С
      ATANK = AREA OF CONTROLLING TANK
С
      ETANK = INITIAL TANK ELEVATION
С
      FTANK = FINAL TANK ELEVATION
С
      DMAXD = MAXIMUM SYSTEM DEMAND
С
      QMIDD = MEDIAN SYSTEM DEMAND
С
      QMIND = MINIMUM SYSTEM DEMAND
С
      READ(5,5)ATANK, ETANK, FTANK, QMAXD, QMIDD, QMIND
  5
      FORMAT(2X,F8,0,5F10,0)
С
      HAVG=(ETANK+FTANK)/2.0
      QSTR=(FTANK-ETANK) *ATANK*448.8/(DTIME*3600.0)
      OREQ=ODEM+OSTR
      IF(GRED.LE.0.0)60T0 200
С
      C1=0.0
      C2=0.0
      C3=0.0
С
      JJ=NCCMB+1
С
      DO 7 I=1,6
      NNPC(JJ,I)=0
   7 CONTINUE
С
      READ IN STATIC HEAD VS DISCHARGE CURVES X = H, Y = Q
С
               STATIC HEAD VS UNIT COST CURVES X = H, Y = C
С
               FOR FLOW VALUES OF GMAXD, OMIDD, OMIND
С
С
С
   B FORMAT(2X,13,715)
   9 FORMAT(2X,FB.0,5F10.0)
С
      DO 12 I=1,NCOMB
      READ(5,8)(NNPC(1,J),J=1,8)
      READ(5,9)X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2
      CALL SCURVE (IBUG)
      \Box X (I,1) = C1
      QX(1,2)=C2
      QX(I,3)=C3
      READ(5,9)X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2
      CALL SCURVE (IBUG)
      CX(I,1)=C1
      CX(1,2)=C2
      CX(I,3)=C3
      READ(5,9)X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2
      CALL SCURVE (IBUG)
      QM(1,1)=C1
      QM(1,2)=C2
      QM(1,3)=C3
      READ(5,9)X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2
      CALL SCURVE (IBUG)
                   Figure E3. (Sheet 2 of 7)
```

```
CM(I,1)=C1
      CM(1,2)=C2
      CM(I,3)=C3
      READ(5,9)X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2
      CALL SCURVE(IBUG)
      QN(I,1)=C1
      QN(1,2)=C2
      QN(1,3)=C3
      READ(5,9)X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2
      CALL SCURVE(IBUG)
      CN(I,1) = C1
      CN(1,2)=C2
      CN(I,3)=C3
 12
      CONTINUE
С
С
      ********************
С
      + DETERMINE FLOW AND COST FOR +
С
      + EACH PUMP COMBINATION
С
      .......................
С
      HAV2=HAVG**2
С
С
      QDELT=(QDEM-QMIND)/(QMAXD-QMIND)
С
      DO 16 I=1,NCOMB
      QSUM=0.0
      CSUM=0.0
С
      QPN=QN(I,1)+(QN(I,2)*HAVG)+(QN(I,3)*HAV2)
      QPM=QM(I,1)+(QM(I,2)*HAVG)+(QM(I,3)*HAV2)
      QPX=QX(I,1)+(QX(I,2)*HAVG)+(QX(I,3)*HAV2)
С
С
      SET X'S AND Y'S TO DEMAND AND FLOWRATE
      XO=QMAXD
      YO=QPX
      X1=QMIDD
      Y1=QPM
      X2=QMIND
      Y2=QPN
С
С
      CALL CURVE FITTING ROUTINE
      CALL SCURVE(IBUG)
      QP(I)=C1 + C2*QDEM + C3*QDEM*QDEM
С
      QP(I)=QPN+((QPX-QPN)+QDELT)
С
      CPN=CN(I,1)+(CN(I,2)+HAVG)+(CN(I,3)+HAV2)
      CPM=CM(1,1)+(CM(1,2)*HAVG)+(CM(1,3)*HAV2)
      CPX=CX(I,1)+(CX(I,2)+HAVG)+(CX(I,3)+HAV2)
C
С
      SET X'S AND Y'S TO DEMAND AND FLOWRATE
      XO=QMAXD
      Y0=CPX
      X1=QMIDD
      Y1=CPM
```

Figure E3. (Sheet 3 of 7)

E10

```
X2=QMIND
      Y2=CPN
С
С
      CALL CURVE FITTING ROUTINE
      CALL SCURVE(IBUG)
      CP(I)=C1 + C2+QDEM + C3+QDEM+QDEM
С
С
С
      CP(I)=CPN+((CPX-CPN)+QDELT)
С
      IF(IBLG.GE.1)WRITE(6,99)I, QREQ, QP(I), CP(I)
  99 FORMAT(' 1,GRED, GP(I), CP(I) ',15,3F10.2)
С
  16 CONTINUE
С
      IA=0
      19=1
      GB(1)=0.0
      CB(1)=0.0
      ISP(1)=NCOMB+1
С
С
      ********************************
      * SEPARATE COMBINATIONS INTO TWO *
C
      + GROUPS; THOSE ABOVE AND THOSE +
С
С
      + BELOW THE CFERATING POINT
С
      **********************
С
      DO 20 I=1,NCOMB
      IF(GP(I).LE.GRED)GOTO 18
      IA=IA+1
      IAP(IA) = I
      QA(IA)=QP(I)
      CA(IA)=CP(I)
      GD TD 20
  18 IB=I9+1
      IBP(IB)=I
      QB(IB)=QP(I)
      CB(IB)=CP(I)
  20 CONTINUE
С
      IF(IA.LE.0)60 TO 300
C
С
      ********************
      . ENUMERATE THE POSSIBLE .
С
      + COMBINATIONS DF PUMP
С
      + COMBINATIONS
С
С
      ***************
С
      IC=0
С
      DO 24 I=1,IA
      DO 22 J=1,IB
      IC = IC + 1
      FB=(GREQ-GA(I))/(GB(J)-GA(I))
```

Figure E3. (Sheet 4 of 7)

```
FA=(1-FB)
      IAC(1) = IAP(1)
      IBC(IC)=ISP(J)
      QCA(10)=QA(1)
      ^CB(IC)=QB(J)
      FCA(IC)=FA
      FCB(IC)=FB
      CRA(IC) = CA(I)
      CRB(IC)=CB(J)
      CCA(IC)=.0005+DTIME+PKWHR+FA+CA(I)+DA(I)
      CCB(IC)=.0006+DTIME+PKWHR+F8+CB(J)+QB(J)
      COST(IC)=CCA(IC)+CCB(IC)
      IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,97)IC,COST(IC)
      IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,96)IAC(IC), CCA(IC), FCA(IC), CCA(IC), CFA(IC)
      IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(5,95)IBC(IC),GCB(IC),FCB(IC),CCB(IC),CAB(IC)
   97 FORMAT('IC,COST', I5, F10.2)
   96 FORMAT('IAC, GCA, FCA, CCA, CFA', 15, 4F10.2)
   95 FORMAT('ISC, GCB, FCB, CCB, CRB', 15, 4F10.2)
   22 CONTINUE
  24 CONTINUE
С
С
          . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
С
       . SORT AND RANK THE .
С
      + COMBINATIONS
С
      ***********
С
      JUMP = IC
  26
      JUMP=JUMP/2
      IF(JUMP.ED.0)GD TD 90
      J2=IC-JUMP
      DO 30 J=1,J2
      I = J
   28 J3=I+JUMP
      IF(COST(1).LE.COST(J3))GO TO 30
С
      CALL SWAP(COST(1),COST(J3))
      CALL SWAP(QCA(1),QCA(J3))
      CALL SWAP(QCB(I),QCB(J3))
      CALL SWAP(FCA(I),FCA(J3))
      CALL SWAP(FCB(1),FCB(J3))
      CALL SWAP(CCA(I),CCA(J3))
      CALL SWAP(CCB(I),CCB(J3))
      CALL SWAP(IAC(I), IAC(J3))
      CALL SWAP(IBC(I), IBC(J3))
      CALL SWAP(CRA(I), CRA(J3))
      CALL SWAP(CRB(I),CRB(J3))
С
      I=I-JUMP
      IF(I.GT.0)G0 T0 28
   30 CONTINUE
      GOTO 26
С
С
С
      + OUTPUT RESULTS +
```

Figure E3. (Sheet 5 of 7)

E12

```
С
         *************
С
   90 WRITE(6,40)
      WRITE(6,41)HAVG
      WRITE(6,42)DDEM
      WRITE(6.51) GREG
      WRITE(6,43)PKWHR
      WRITE(6,44)DTIME
С
   40 FORMAT(' PUMP EFFICIENY PROGRAM '/)
                                 = ',F10.2)
   41 FORMATC' AVE STATIC HEAD
   42 FORMAT(' SYSTEM DEMAND (GPM) = ',F10.2)
   51 FORMAT(' PUMP DEMAND (GPM) = ',F10.2)
   43 FORMAT(' KILOWATT RATE
                                  = ',F10.2)
   44 FORMAT(' TIME INTERVAL
                                   = ',F10.2/)
С
      DO 50 /=1.IC
      WRITE(6,45)I,COST(I)
   45 FORMAT(//' SOLUTION NUMBER = ', I5, ' TOTAL COST = ', F10.2/)
      J=IAC(I)
      K=IEC(I)
      WRITE(6,46)(NNPC(J,J1),J1=1,6),OCA(I),FCA(I),CRA(I),CCA(I)
      WRITE(6,47)(NNPC(K,K1),K1=1,6),GCB(I),FCB(I),CRB(I),CCB(I)
   46 FORMAT(' PUMPS = ',612,' FLOW = ',F8.2,' P = ',F4.2,' C KGAL = ',F
     +6.2,' CCST = ',F8.2)
   47 FORMAT(' PUMPS = ',612,' FLOW = ',F8.2,' P = ',F4.2,' C KGAL = ',F
     +6.2,' COST = ',F8.2)
   50 CONTINUE
С
      GD TO 500
С
  200 WRITE(6,48)
   48 FORMAT(' SYSTEM DEMANDS SATISFIED BY TANK - NO PUMP NECESSARY')
      GD TD 500
С
  300 WRITE(6,49)
   49 FORMAT(' ALL PUMP CAPACITIES TOO LOW FOR REQUIRED DEMAND')
  500 CONTINUE
С
      END
С
С
      ****************
      . SUBROUTINE SWAP +
С
С
      *****************
С
      SUBROUTINE SWAP(A,B)
С
      REAL A, 9, HOLD
С
      HOLD=A
      A=B
      B=HGLD
      RETURN
      END
```

Figure E3. (Sheet 6 of 7)

С С С * SUBROUTINE SCURVE + С ************* С SUBROUTINE SCURVE(IBUG) С COMMON/BLK1/X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2,C1,C2,C3 С REAL X0, Y0, X1, Y1, X2, Y2 DOUBLE PRECISION RO,RI,R2 С IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,1) 1 FORMAT(' ENTER SCURVE ') IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,2)X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2 2 FORMAT(' X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2 ',6F14.6) XXO = (XO - X1) + (XO - X2)RO=YO/XXO XX1 = (X1 - X0) + (X1 - X2)R1=Y1/XX1 xx5=(x5-x0)*(x5-x1) R2=Y2/XX2 С C1=R0+X1+X2+R1+X0+X2+R2+X0+X1 C2 = (-RO + (X1 + X2)) - (R1 + (XO + X2)) - (R2 + (XO + X1))C3=R0+R1+R2 С 3 FORMAT(' EXIT SCURVE ') IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,4)XX0,XX1,X)2 4 FORMAT(' XX0,XX1,XX2 ',3F12.6) IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,5)R0,R1,R2,C1,C2,C3 5 FORMAT(' R0,R1,R2,C1,C2,C3 ',6F12.6) IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,3) С RETURN END

Figure E3. (Sheet 7 of 7)

C1	1	2.95	38000.0	11	0	
C2 1148	861.	327.8	327.2	60000.	35000.	10000.
N1 1	0	0 0	0 0	0 0		
Q1 (335.	19224.	326.5	19795.	318.	20373.
C1	335.	.7674	326.5	.7713	318.	.7792
Q2 :	335.	16898.	326.5	17574.	318.	18240.
C2	335.	.7816	326.5	.7731	318.	.7681
Q3 :	335.	15433.	326.5	16032.	318.	16629.
C3	335.	C.8112	326.5	0.7972	318.	0.7858
N1 1	2	0 0	0 0	0 0		
Q1	335.	33194.	326.5	34234.	318.	35250.
C1	335.	.7864	326.5	.7785	318.	.7726
Q2	335.	29289.	326.5	30307.	318.	31240.
C2	335.	.8320	326.5	.8186	318.	.8065
Q3	335.	24304.	325.5	25465.	318.	26525.
СЗ :	335.	0.9028	326.5	0,6854	318.	0.8702
N1 1	2	3 O	0 0	0 0		
Q1	335.	42368.	326.5	43529.	3:8.	44651.
C1	335.	0.8470	326.5	.8362	318.	.8260
Q2 :	335.	35627.	326.5	37036.	318.	39350.
C2	335.	0.9116	326.5	0.8968	318.	0.8839
03 :	335.	27147.	326.5	28679.	318.	30107.
СЭ	335.	1.0311	326.5	1.0041	318.	0.9816
NI O	0	0 1	0 0	0 0		
	335.	21/34.	326.5	21988.	318.	22232.
	33 3 .	.6/44	326.5	.6604	318.	.6555
02 C2	333. 225	18225.	326.5	18729.	318.	19205.
	333.	./443	326.0	./380	318.	./314
60	333. 225	10312.	326.3	13912.	318.	16464.
	335.	0.7793	326.0	0.7714	318.	0./84/
	225	20027	3345	20701	210	40422
	335.	7201	320.3	37/01.	310,	7105
02	335	24355	324 5	35594	318	36770
C2	335.	7677	326.5	7592	318	.7523
03	335	29444	326.5	30599	318	31690
63	335.	0.8088	326.5	0.7969	318.	0.7866
N1 1	2000	0 1	0 0	0 0		••••
Q1	335.	52551	326.5	53906.	318.	55239.
C1	335.	.7607	326.5	.7515	318.	.7434
02	335.	46317.	326.5	47811.	318.	49198.
C2	335.	0.8069	326.5	0.7965	318.	0.7865
03	335.	36513.	326.5	38204.	318.	39771.
C3	335.	0.8818	326.5	0.8664	318.	0,8533
N1 1	2	3 1	0 0	0 0		
Q1	335.	61584.	326.5	63183.	318.	64656.
C1	335.	0.8068	326.5	0.7971	318.	0.7878
02	335.	51647.	326.5	53506.	318.	55245.
CS	335.	0.8688	326.5	0.8571	318.	0.8466
Q3 :	335.	38518.	326.5	40510.	318.	42373.
C3	335.	0.9816	326.5	0.9593	318,	0.9405
N1 0	0	0 1	5 0	0 0		
Q1	335.	33302.	326.5	34228.	318.	35136.
C1 3	335.	.7625	326.5	.7571	318.	.7502

とこうこうと

2

.

Figure E4. Example input for PCP (Continued)

Q2	335.	27680.	326.5	28562.	318.	29386.
C2	335.	0.8031	326.5	0.7952	318.	0.7884
03	335.	18954	326.5	19868	318.	20731
C3	335.	0.9509	326.5	0.9267	318.	0.9063
NI	1 0	0 1	2 0	0 0		
ומ	335	49515	324 5	51082	318	52656.
C1	335	7715	326.5	7657	318	7610
02	225.	47544	324 5	45076	319	44520
C2	333.	43368.	320.3	0 7921	310	0 7849
	333.	0.8014	320.3	0.7721	318.	0.7847
03	335.	32445.	326.5	33870.	318.	32502.
CЭ	335.	0.9167	326.5	0.8955	318.	0.8773
N1	12	0 1	5 O	0 0		
Q1	335.	63253.	326.5	65354.	318.	67371.
C1	335.	0.7879	326.5	0.7790	318.	.7715
02	335.	54547.	326.5	56311.	318.	57948.
C2	335.	0.8327	326.5	0.8221	318.	0.8126
QЗ	335.	38626.	326.5	40517.	318.	42294.
CЗ	335.	0.9796	326.5	0.9557	318.	0.9353
N1	1 2	3 1	2 O	0 0		
Q 1	335.	71740.	326.5	73933.	318.	76014.
С1	335.	0.8255	326.5	0.8165	318.	0.8083
Q2	335,	59195.	326.5	61277.	318.	63206.
C2	335.	0.8874	326.5	0.8752	318.	0.8647
Q3	335.	40349.	326.5	42497.	318.	44502.
С3	335.	1.0748	326.5	1.0445	318.	1.0189

SAMAN, MARKEN SERVICE SERVICE SAMAN SAMA SAMANAN SAMANAN SAMANAN

Figure E4. (Concluded)

E16

PUMP COMBINATION PROGRAM

AVG STATIC HEAD (F1 SYSTEM DEMAND (GF PUMP DEMAND (GF KILOWATT RATE (C) TIME INTERVAL (HF	7) = PM) = PM) = (HR) = RS) =	327.50 38271.00 29679.75 2.95 1.00	PUMPS = (PUMP FLOW = (GPM) P = (PERC U COST = (LENT COST = (DOLL	COMBINATIONS) ENT OPERATION TIME) S/1000 GALLONS/HR) ARS)
SOLUTION NUMBER =	1			TOTAL COST = 39.38
PUMPS = 7 0 0 7 0 PUMPS = 0 0 0 7 0	0 FLOW = 0 FLOW =	36040.16 P = 19075.12 P =	.63 U COST = .37 U COST =	.76 COST = 30.12 .73 COST = 9.26
SOLUTION NUMBER =	5			TOTAL COST = 39.68
PUMPS = 7 0 0 7 0 PUMPS = 0 0 0 0 0	0 FLOW = 0 FLOW =	36040.16 P = .00 P =	.82 U COST = .18 U COST =	.76 COST = 39.68 .00 COST = .00
SOLUTION NUMBER =	З			TOTAL COST = 39.86
PUMPS = 7 0 0 7 0 PUMPS = 7 0 0 0 0	0 FLOW = 0 FLOW =	36040.16 P = 17747.33 P =	.65 U COST = .35 U COST =	.76 COST = 31.43 .77 COST = 8.43
SOLUTION NUMBER =	4			TOTAL COST = 40.15
PUMPS = 7 0 0 7 8 PUMPS = 0 0 0 7 0	0 FLOW ≃ 0 FLOW ≃	45981.86 P = 19075.12 P =	.39 U COST = .61 U COST =	.79 COST = 25.19 .73 COST = 14.96
SULUTION NUMBER =	5			TOTAL COST = 40.25
PUMPS = 7 8 0 7 0 PUMPS = 0 0 0 7 0	0 FLD₩ ≃ 0 FLD₩ ≃	48640.10 P = 19075.12 P =	.36 U COST = .64 U COST =	.79 COST = 24.41 .73 COST = 15.84
SOLUTION NUMBER =	6			TOTAL COST = 40.70
PUMPS = 7 8 0 7 8 PUMPS = 0 0 0 7 0	0 FLOW = 0 FLOW =	57674.90 P = 19075.12 P =	.27 U COST = .73 U COST =	.81 COST = 22.78 .73 COST = 17.91
SOLUTION NUMBER =	7			TOTAL COST = 41.01
PUMPS = 7 0 0 7 8 PUMPS = 7 0 0 0 0	O FLOW = O FLOW =	45981.86 P = 17747.33 P =	.42 U COST = .58 U COST =	.77 COST = 27.01 .77 COST = 14.00

Figure E5. Example output from PCP

E17

APPENDIX F: TOP - TANK OPERATION PROGRAM

1. The tank operation program (TOP) may be used to generate an optimal tank trajectory for the controlling storage tank in a given pump service area. The optimal tank trajectory is a curve that indicates the optimal tank level at a given time during a specified operating period. The controlling storage tank is that tank which controls the hydraulics of the associated pumping station. The tank operation program is based on dynamic programming. A summary of the theoretical basis for the program is provided in Appendix E.

2. Once the optimal tank trajectory has been determined, the optimal pump combinations can be obtained by applying the pump combination program (PCP) to each time interval. To determine the optimal tank trajectory the following data are required: the physical characteristics of the tank, the range and number of allowable tank levels, the number and length of the time intervals in the desired trajectory, the electric rate schedule, the system demand pattern, and a set of three cost operation curves.

3. The cost operation curves are used by the program to determine the cost associated with a particular tank transition (the transition from one water surface elevation to another over a specified period of time) and required pump flow, and are developed by applying the PCP (described in Appendix E) for a range of system demands and tank transitions. Three different cost operation curves are required to describe the system dynamics. The first curve represents the cost associated with a given pump discharge when the tank is filling at a rate of N feet per hour. The second curve represents the cost associated with a given the tank is neither draining nor filling. The third curve represents the cost associated with a given pump discharge when the tank is draining at a rate of N feet per hour.

4. The tank operation program is written in Fortran and is run in a batch mode. Input to the program is read from a user-supplied data file, and output is directed to a user-specified output file. Instructions for data preparation for TOP are given in Table F1. The first card is used to specify the number of time intervals in the operating period and the length of each time interval in hours. The second card is used to specify the average crosssectional area of the controlling tank, the initial tank level, the maximum tank level, the minimum tank level, and the number of intermediate tank levels. The next three cards are used to specify the three cost operation

Card Group	Format	Column	Description	Variable Name
КI	2 x	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	18	3-10	Number of Time Intervals	NST
	I10	11-20	Length of Each Time Interval (hr)	IDHR
	I10	20-30	Debug Flag	IBUG
<u></u>			TANK DATA	· · ·
К2	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	Tank Area (sq ft)	ATANK
	F10.0	11-20	Initial Tank Elevation (ft)	EINT
	F10.0	21-30	Maximum Tank Elevation (ft)	EMAX
	F10.0	31-40	Minimum Tank Elevation (ft)	EMIN
	I10	41-50	Number of Intermediate Elevations	NES
		FIRST CO	OST OPERATION CURVE	
C1	2 X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	Tank Filling Rate F (ft/hr)	F
	F10.0	11-20	First Flow Rate (gpm)	XO
	F10.0	21-30	First Unit Cost (\$/hr)	YO
			(Continued)	

Table FlData Input Instructions for TOP

(Sheet 1 of 3)

AT DUTLES AND DUTLES

Format	Column	Description	Variable <u>Name</u>
F10.0	31-40	Second Flow Rate (gpm)	X1
F10.0	41-50	Second Unit Cost (\$/hr)	Y 1
F10.0	51-60	Third Flow Rate (gpm)	X2
F10.0	61-70	Third Unit Cost (\$/hr)	Y 2
	Format F10.0 F10.0 F10.0 F10.0	FormatColumnF10.031-40F10.041-50F10.051-60F10.061-70	FormatColumnDescriptionF10.031-40Second Flow Rate (gpm)F10.041-50Second Unit Cost (\$/hr)F10.051-60Third Flow Rate (gpm)F10.061-70Third Unit Cost (\$/hr)

Table Fl (Continued)

SECOND COST OPERATION CURVE

C 2	2 X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	LEAVE BLANK	
	F10.0	11-20	First Flow Rate (gpm)	X 0
	F10.0	21-30	First Unit Cost (\$/hr)	YO
	F10.0	31-40	Second Flow Rate (gpm)	X 1
	F10.0	41-50	Second Unit Cost (\$/hr)	Y 1
	F10.0	51-60	Third Flow Rate (gpm)	X 2
	F10.0	61-70	Third Unit Cost (\$/hr)	¥ 2

THIRD COST OPERATION CURVE

C3	2 X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	Tank Draining Rate (ft/hr)	D
	F10.0	11-20	First Flow Rate (gpm)	XO
	F10,0	21-30	First Unit Cost (\$/hr)	YO
	F10.0	31-40	Second Flow Rate (gpm)	X 1
	F10.0	41-50	Second Unit Cost (\$/hr)	Y 1

(Continued)

(Sheet 2 of 3)

Card Group	Format	Column	Description	Variable Name
С3	F10.0	51-60	Third Flow Rate (gpm)	X2
	F10.0	61-70	Third Unit Cost (\$/hr)	¥ 2
		PUMP (CONSTRAINT DATA	
Q1	2X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	Maximum Pump Discharge (gpm)	QMAX
	F10.0	11-20	Minimum Pump Discharge (gpm)	QMIN
		SYSTEM DEMAND AN	ND ELECTRIC RATE SCHEDULES	
			Repeat for Each Time Interval I, I = 1, NST	
Tl	2 X	1-2	Card Group Identifier	
	F8.0	3-10	Time (hr)	TYME(I)
	F10.0	11-20	Demand (gpm)	QD(I)
	F10.0	21-30	Electric Rate (¢/kWhr)	RKWD(I)

Table Fl (Concluded)

(Sheet 3 of 3)

curves. Each curve is described using three different data points. Each data point is defined by a unit cost and an associated pump discharge for a given tank transition. The final card is repeated for each time interval in the simulation. For each interval, the time (ending hour), average system demand, and electric rate are specified.

5. A complete listing of the program is provided as Figure Fl. A typical input data file is shown in Figure F2. A typical output data file is shown in Figure F3.

```
С
                               ****************
С
                      TOP - TANK OPERATION PROGRAM *
С
С
                      * AUTHOR - LINDELL E ORMSBEE
С
С
                      * LATEST REVISION 12/1/86
С
С
                           **************
С
С
      DIMENSION TYME(25), E(25,51), IP(25,51), C3(25,51), CC(25,51), OT(25,51)
С
     1),QP(25,51)
      DIMENSION TYME(25), E(25, 101), IP(25, 101), C3(25, 101), CC(25, 101)
      DIMENSION OD(25), RKWD(25)
С
      COMMON /BLK1/ X0,Y0,X1,Y1,X2,Y2
      COMMON /BLK2/ COE1, COE2, COE3
      COMMON /BLK3/ DMAX, DMIN, CX1, CX2, CX3, CM1, CM2, CM3, CN1, CN2, CN3
C
      CHARACTER+14 FILOT,FILIN
С
С
      REAL X0, Y0, X1, Y1, X2, Y2
С
  201 FORMAT(110)
  202 FORMAT(F10.0)
С
      WRITE(+,1)
      FORMAT('/ INPUT NAME OF INPUT FILE'/)
  1
      READ(+,3)FILIN
      WRITE(+,2)
      FORMAT( '/ INPUT NAME OF OUTPUT FILE '/)
  5
      READ(*,3)FILOT
  З
      FORMAT(A14)
С
      OPEN(5,FILE=FILIN,STATUS='OLD')
      OPEN(6,FILE=FILOT,STATUS≈'NEW')
С
С
      **********
С
      * READ IN DATA *
С
      *******
С
      NST = NUMBER OF TIME INTERVALS
С
      IDHR = LENGTH OF EACH TIME INTERVAL (HRS)
С
      IBUG = DEBUG FLAG (0 = NORMAL OUTPUT, 1 = EXTENDED OUTPUT)
С
С
      READ(5,4)NST, IDHR, IBUG
      FORMAT(2X, 18, 2110)
  4
С
      ATANK = TANK AREA (FT2)
С
      EINT = INITIAL ELEV (FT)
С
      EMAX = MAXIMUM ELEVATION OF TANK
С
      EMIN = MINIMUM ELEVATION OF TANK
С
      NES = NUMBER OF INTERMEDIATE ELEVATIONS
С
С
      READ(5,5)ATANK, EINT, EMAX, EMIN, NES
          Figure Fl. Program listing for TOP (Sheet 1 of 8)
```

```
F6
```

```
5
      FCRMAT(2X,F9.0,3F10.0.1)
С
      COE1=0.0
      CCE2=0.0
      CCE3=0.0
С
      KP1=0
      QP1=0.0
      PT1=0.0
С
      READ IN DISCHARGE VS UNIT COST CURVES FOR (+,0,-) CELTA H CURVES
С
С
С
               X = Q, Y = C
С
С
      DMAX = MAX DELTA H
С
      DMIN = MIN DELTA H
С
   B FCEMAT(2X,F8.0,6F10.0)
С
      READ(5,8)DMAX, X0, Y0, X1, Y1, X2, Y2
      DMAX=DMAX+IDHR
      XO=X0/10000.0
      X1 = X1 / 10000.0
       x2=x2/10000.0
      CALL SCURVE(IEUG)
      CX1=COE1
      CX5=C055
      CX3=COE3
      READ(5,8)DDUM, X0, Y0, X1, Y1, X2, Y2
       X0=X0/10000.0
       x_1 = x_1 / 10000.0
       x2=x2/10000.0
      CALL SCURVE(IBUG)
       CM1=COE1
      CM2=CGE2
       CM3=COE3
       READ(5,8)DMIN, X0, Y0, X1, Y1, X2, Y2
       DMIN=DMIN*IDHR
       X0=X0/10000.0
       X1 = X1 / 10000.0
       X2=X2/10000.0
       CALL SCURVE(IBUG)
       CN1=COE1
       CNS=COE5
       СИЭ≠ССЕЭ
С
       READ IN PUMP CONSTRAINTS
С
С
       READ(5,9) DMAX, DMIN
       FORMAT(2X, F8.0, F10.0)
  9
С
       RED IN DEMAND AND RATE SCHEDULES
С
С
       DO 12 I=1,NST
                        Figure F1. (Sheet 2 of 8)
```

```
READ(5,11)TYME(I),QD(I),RKWD(I)
11
     FORMAT(2X,FB.0,2F10.0)
12
     CONTINUE
С
С
         *****************
С
      * GENERATE STATE SPACE *
С
          ****************
С
     DEE=(EMAX-EMIN)/(NES-1)
С
     DO 40 K=1,NES
С
     EINC=EMIN+((K-1)+DEE)
С
     DO 30 I=1,NST
С
     E(I,K)=EINC
С
 30 CONTINUE
С
 40 CONTINUE
С
     TANKC=ATANK/(IDHR+3600)
С
С
      *********************
С
      * VARIABLE DESCRIPTION *
         *************
С
C
С
     IP(I,K) = OPTIMAL STATE UPSTREAM FROM STATE K
С
     QT(I,K) = TANK FLOW
С
     C3(I,K) = COST FOR TRANSITION ENDING IN STATE K
С
     CC(I,K) = CUMMULATIVE COST FOR STATE K
С
     QP(I,K) = PUMP DISCHARGE FOR STAGE I STATE K
С
С
      *********
С
      * EVALUATE INITIAL STAGE *
С
      **********************
С
      IFLAG=0
С
     DD 60 K=1,NES
     C3(1,K)=9999.0
     CC(1,K) = 9999.0
С
     DE=E(1,K)-EINT
      IF(ABS(DE).GT.DMAX.DR.ABS(DE).GT.DMIN)GD TO 45
С
     QTT=DE+TANKC+448.8
     QR=QD(1)+QTT
     ISI=1
C
     HAVG=(E(1,K)+EINT)/2.0
     ERATE=RKWD(1)
С
```

Figure Fl. (Sheet 3 of 8)

```
QDEM=QD(1)
С
      IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,51)ISI,ISI,K,HAVG,GD(1),GTT,GR
   51 FORMAT(/' STAGE = ', IS,' DEC = ',215,' H,00,01,0R ',4F12.2/)
С
      IF (QR.GT.GMIN.AND.QR.LT.GMAX) GD TO 50
      IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,52)
   52 FORMAT(' DECISION INFEASIBLE DUE TO OR OUTSIDE BOUNDS')
      GO TO 60
С
  45 IF(IBUG.GE.2)WRITE(6,652)
  452 FORMAT(' DECISION INFEASIBLE DUE TO DE DUTSIDE BOUNDS')
      GO TO 60
С
  50 CALL COST(IBUG, DE, ICHR, GR, GDEM, ERATE, COST)
С
      IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,63)ISI,ISI,K,CCST
  63 FORMAT(' STAGE = ',15,' BEC = ',215,' COST = ',F10.2)
С
      IF(CCST.LE.9999) IFLAG=1
С
     C3(1,K)=0CST
      CC(1,K)=OCST
      IP(1,K) = 1
   60 CONTINUE
С
      IF(IFLAG.LE.0)WRITE(6,62)
   62 FORMAT(' INITAL STAGE INFEASIBLE')
      IF(IFLAG.LE.0)GD TO 120
С
С
        С
      * EVALUATE REMAINING STAGES *
С
      *********
С
      DO 90 1-2.NST
С
      J=1-1
С
      DO 60 K=1,NES
С
      SCST=9999.0
      IP(I,K)=1
      C3(1,K)=9999.0
      CC([,K)=9999.0
С
     00 70 L=1, HES
С
      IF UPSTREAM STATE INFEASIBLE GO TO NEXT STATE
С
С
      IF(IELS.GE.1.AND.CC(J,L).GE.9999.0)WRITE(6,71)I,L,K,L
   71 FORMAT(' STAGE ', 15, ' DEC ',215, ' DEC ',15, ' INFEASIBLE')
      IF(CC(J,L).GE.9999.0)GD TU 70
```

C DETERMINE CHANGE IN TANK LEVEL

С

Figure Fl. (Sheet 4 of 8)

```
С
      DE = E(I,K) - E(J,L)
      IF(ABS(DE).GT.DMAX.CR.ABS(DE).GT.DM(N)GO TO 75
С
С
      DETERMINE REQUIRED FLOWRATE
С
      QTT=DE+TANKC+4+8.8
      QR=QD(1)+QTT
С
      HAVG=(E(I,K)+E(J,L))/2.0
      ERATE=RKWD(I)
С
      GDEM=OD(I)
С
      IF (IBUG.GE.1) WRITE (6,73) 1, L, K, HAVG, DCEM, GTT, GR
   73 FORMAT(// STAGE = 1,15,1 DEC = 1,215,1 H.GD.,01.08 1,4400.0
С
      IF GRKO TANK FLOW EXCEEDS SYSTEM DEMAND
С
      AND DECISION IS INFEASIBLE - GO TO MERT STATE
С
С
      IF (GR.GT.GMIN.AND.GR.LT.GMAX)00 TO 65
С
      IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,72)
   72 FORMAT(' DECISION INFEASIBLE DUE TO DR CUTETICE POLNES
      GO TO 70
С
   75 IF(IBUG.GE.2)WRITE(6,772)
  772 FORMAT( ' DECISION INFEASIBLE DUE TO DE DUISIDE BOUNDE'
      GO TO 70
С
   65 CALL COST(IBUG, DE, IDHR, OR, ODEM, EPATE, COST)
С
С
      DETERMINE CUMMULATIVE COST - CCOST
С
      CCOST=OCST+CC(J,L)
С
      IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,74)I,L,K,OCST,CCCST
   74 FORMAT(' STAGE = ',15,' DEC = ',215,' C,CC ',2F10.2)
С
      IF NEW TRANSITION IS BETTER THAN OLD ONE UPDATE VARIABLES
C
С
      IF(SCST.LT.CCOST)G0 T0 70
С
      UPDATE BEST CUMMULATIVE COST
С
С
      IP(I,K)=L
С
      QT(I,K)=QTT
      SCST=CCOST
      C3(I,K)=OCST
      CC(I,K)=SCST
С
   70 CONTINUE
   BO CONTINUE
   90 CONTINUE
```

Figure Fl. (Sheet 5 of 8)

```
С
      DO 110 K=1,NES
      WRITE(6,13)EINT, E(NST, K), CC(NST, K)
   13 FORMAT(/'INITIAL E = ',F10.2,' FINAL E = ',F10.2,' TOTAL COST
     1= ',F10.2/)
С
      IF(CC(NST,K).LT.9999)60 TO 95
      WRITE(6,14)K
   14 FORMAT(/'STATE', 15,' IS INFEASIBLE'/)
      GO TO 110
С
   95 WRITE(6,15)
С
      L=K
С
С
          *****************
С
         DETERMINE OPTIMAL PATH
С
          * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
С
      DB 100 J=1,NST
С
      I=NST+1-J
      LL=IP(I,L)
      IF(LL.LE.0)WRITE(6,18)I,L
      IF(LL.LE.0)G0 T0 100
C
      QTTT=(E(I,L)-EINT)+TANKC+449.8
      IF(I.NE.1)077T=(E(I,L)-E(I-1,LL))*TANKC*448.8
      QPPP=QD(I)+QTTT
С
С
               *********
       + OUTPUT RESULTS +
С
С
С
   15 FORMAT(/' I J K TIME
                                  RATE
                                           E(K)
                                                      QD(I)
                                                                  QT(I)
     + QP(I)
                      COST'/)
      WRITE(6,16)I,LL,L,TYME(I),RKWD(I),E(I,L),QD(I),QTTT,QPPP,C3(I,L)
   16 FORMAT(312,F8.2,F8.2,F8.2,3F12.2,F10.2)
   17 FORMAT(312,3F8.2)
   18 FORMAT(' ALL STATES INFEASIBLE FOR STAGE = ', IS,' STATE = ', IS/)
С
      L=LL
С
 100 CONTINUE
 110 CONTINUE
 120 CONTINUE
С
      CLOSE(5)
      CLOSE(6)
      END
С
С
           *************
      * SUBROUTINE SCURVE *
С
С
            . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
                         Figure Fl. (Sheet 6 of 8)
```

```
С
С
      THIS SUBROUTINE FITS A QUADRATIC CURVE THROUGH
С
      THREE SUPPLIED POINTS USING LAGRANGIAN POLYNOMIALS
С
      SUBROUTINE SCURVE(IBUG)
С
      COMMON /BLK1/ X0, Y0, X1, Y1. X2, Y2
      COMMON /BLK2/ COE1, COE2, COE3
С
      REAL X0, Y0, X1, Y1, X2, Y2
      DOUBLE PRECISION RO,R1,R2
С
      XXO = (XO - X1) + (XO - X2)
      RO=YO/XXO
      XX1 = (X1 - X0) + (X1 - X2)
      R1 = Y1/XX1
      XX2=(X2-X0)+(X2-X1)
      R2=Y2/XX2
С
      COE1=R0+X1+X2+R1+X0+X2+R2+X0+X1
      COE2 = (-RO * (X1 + X2)) - (R1 * (X0 + X2)) - (R2 * (X0 + X1))
      COE3=R0+R1+R2
С
      IF(IBUG.GE.2)WRITE(6,10)COE1,COE2,COE3
  10 FORMAT(/' CO,C1,C2 ',3F10.6/)
С
      RETURN
      END
С
С
      ***************
С
      + SUBROUTINE COST +
С
      ******
С
      THIS SUBROUTINE DETERMINES THE COST TO
С
С
      MOVE FROM ONE STATE (ELEV) TO ANOTHER
С
      STATE (ELEV) BY INTERPOLATING BETWEEN
С
      THE THREE COST OPERATION CURVES
С
      SUBROUTINE COST(IBUG, DE, IDHR, OREQ, QDEM, ERATE, OCST)
С
      COMMON /BLK1/ X0, Y0, X1, Y1, X2, Y2
      COMMON /BLK2/ COE1, COE2, COE3
      COMMON /BLK3/ DMAX, DMIN, CX1, CX2, CX3, CM1, CM2, CM3, CN1, CN2, CN3
С
      OCST=999999.0
С
      RRED=0RE0/10000.0
      RREQ2=RREQ+RREQ
С
      CPX=CX1+(CX2*RREQ)+(CX3*RREQ2)
      CPM=CM1+(CM2*RREQ)+(CM3*RREQ2)
      CPN=CN1+(CN2*RREQ)+(CN3*RREQ2)
С
      IF(DE.LE.0.0)60 TO 10
```

Figure Fl. (Sheet 7 of 8)

С		
		OCST=CPM+((CPX-CPM)*DE/DMAX)
С		
r	10	OCST=CPM+((CPM-CPN)*DE/DMIN)
C	20	OCST=OCST+IDHR+ERATE
	20	IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,30)DMAX,DMIN,IDHR,ERATE
	30	IF(IBUG.GE.1)WRITE(6,40)DE,CPX,CPM,CPN,OCST
_	40	FORMAT(' DE,CPX,M,N,OCST ',5F10.2)
С		
		RETURN
		END

Figure Fl. (Sheet 8 of 8)

K1	24	1	0				
K21	14861.0	327.80	334.0	326.0	101		
C1	1.0	20000.	9.56	30000.	14.350	40000	19.7500
C2		10000.	4.65	35000.	16.020	60000.	27.8200
СЗ	1.0	10000.	4.49	35000.	15.200	60000.	27.1900
Q1	10000.	60000.					
Τ1	1.0	38271.0	2.95				
Τ1	2.0	38827.0	2.95				
Τ1	з.0	17700.0	2.95				
Т1	4.0	1311.0	2.95				
Τ1	5.0	15625.0	2.95				
T1	6.0	18580.0	2.95				
Τ1	7.0	21358.0	2.95				
Τ1	8.0	27500.0	2.95				
T1	9.0	30710.0	2.95				
Τ1	10.0	32141.0	2.95				
Τ1	11.0	33850.0	2.95				
Τ1	12.0	36955.0	2.95				
Τ1	13.0	33850.0	2.95				
Τ1	14.0	32766.0	2.95				
Τ1	15.0	31953.0	2.95				
Τ1	16.0	30286.0	2.95				
Τ1	17.0	35347.0	2.95				
Τ1	18.0	38457.0	2.95				
Τ1	19.0	27276.0	2.95				
Τ1	20.0	29498.0	2.95				
Τ1	21.0	29151.0	2.95				
Τ1	25.0	35386.0	2.95				
Τ1	23.0	18349.0	2.95				
Τ1	24.0	16096.0	2.95				

いたいというという

Figure F2. Example input for TOP

IJK	LIME	RATE	E(K)	QD(I)		QP(I)	COST
242327	24.00	2,95	328.08	16096.00	4581.86	20677.86	28.22
232023	23.00	2.95	327.76	18349.00	3436.94	21785.94	29.64
222220	22.00	2,95	327.52	35386.00	-6873.44	28512.56	37.74
212926	21.00	2.95	328.00	29151.00	-3436.50	25714.50	34.33
201629	20.00	2.95	328.24	29498.00	14891.80	44389.80	61.20
19 116	19.00	2,95	327.20	27276.00	17183.38	44459.38	61.44
1981	19.00	2.95	326,00	38457.00	-8018.79	30438.21	40.20
171→ 8	17.00	2.95	326.56	35347.00	-6873.44	28473.56	37.69
151514	15.00	2.95	327,04	30286.00	-2291.15	27994.85	37.51
151916	15.00	2.95	327.20	31953.00	-3436.50	28516.50	38.09
142319	14.00	2.95	327.44	32766.00	-4582.29	28183.71	37.53
135853	13.00	2.95	327.76	33850,00	-5727.65	28122.35	37.34
123428	12.00	2.95	328.16	36922.00	-6873.44	30048.56	39.80
11393+	11.00	2.95	328.64	33850.00	-5727.65	28122.35	37.34
10-4339	10.00	2.95	329.04	32141.00	-4581.86	27559.14	36.70
94643	ခ.၀၀	2.95	329.36	30710.00	-3436.94	27273.06	36.42
83146	8.00	2.95	329.60	27500.00	17183.38	44683.38	61.73
7293i	7.00	2.95	328.40	21358.00	2291.15	23649.15	32.07
∧್ಲ ಸ್ವ≎≎	6 .00	2.95	328.24	18580.00	3436.50	22016.50	29.96
52225	5.00	2.95	328.00	15625.00	4582.29	20207.29	27.58
•	⊶. 00	2.95	327.68	1311.00	11455.30	12766.30	17.47
3 815	3.00	2.95	326.88	17700.00	4582.29	22282.29	30.41
615 B	2.00	2.95	326.56	38827.00	-9164.59	29662.41	39.05
1 115	1.00	2.95	327.20	38271.00	-8591.25	29679.75	39.13

Figure F3. Example output from TOP

APPENDIX G: TIME-METERED GENERAL SERVICE SCHEDULE "GT"

 This appendix presents the Potomac Electric Power Company electric rate schedule* applicable to the Dalecarlia and Bryant Street pumping stations.

Availability - Shall be applicable in the District of Columbia portion of the Company's service area to customers whose maximum 30-minute demand equals or exceeds 1000 kw during two or more billing months per year. Any customer presently on Schedule DC-GT whose maximum 30-minute demand is less than 900 kw for twelve consecutive billing months in a calendar vear may at the customer's option elect to continue service on this schedule or elect to be served under any other applicable schedule.

Available for low voltage electric service.

Available for auxiliary or emergency service when modified by Rider No. "CT-2," for primary service when modified by Rider No. "GT-3A" or Rider No. "GT-38," and for heating service when modified by Rider No. "GT-4."

Not available for temporary service, supplementary loads metered separately from lighting and other usage in the same occupancy, or railway propulsion service.

Character of Service -

Secondary Service - The service supplied under this schedule will be alternating current, sixty hertz, normally three phase, four wire, 120/208 volts or 265/460 volts.

Primary and High Voltage Service - The service under this schedule, when modified by Primary Service Rider "GT-3A," normally will be alternating current, sixty hertz, three phase, three wire, at

^{*} Date of Issue: April 2, 1985; Date Effective: April 2, 1985. Issued by William F. Schmidt, Vice President, 1900 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20068.

13.2 KV or 33 KV, and when modified by High Voltage Rider "GT-38," will be 69 kv or above. Primary service voltage levels will be specified by the Company on the basis of its available facilities and the magnitude of the load to be served.

Schedule of Monthly Charges -

		Summer	Winter	
Α.	Customer Charge	\$285.00 per month	\$285.00 per month	
Β.	Energy Charge			
	On-Peak Period	\$0.06235 per kwhr	\$0.05226 per kwhr	
	Intermediate Period	\$0.04618 per kwhr	\$0.04617 per kw hr	
	Off-Peak Period	\$0.02947 per kwhr	\$0.02947 per kwhr	
С.	Production and Transmission Charge			
	On-Peak Billing Demand	\$9.80 per kw		
D.	Distribution Charge	\$6.00 per kw	\$6.00 per kw	
Ε.	Minimum Charge - the Cus	tomer		

Charge and the Distribution Charge

Season Designation - Summer months, for purposes of application of this rate schedule, are the billing months of June through September; winter months are the billing months of January through May, plus October through December.

Rating Periods -Weekdays (Excluding Holidays) 12:00 noon On-Peak Period 8:00 p.m. to Intermediate Period 8:00 a.m. 12:00 noon to 12:00 midnight 8:00 p.m. to Off-Peak Period 12:00 midnight to 8:00 a.m. Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays Off-Peak Period All Hours Holidavs

> New Year's Day, Rev. Martin Luther King's Birthday, Washington's Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day.

Billing Demands -

- Production and Transmission (Summer Months Only) The billing demand shall be the maximum 30-minute demand recorded during the on-peak period of the billing month.
- Distribution (All Months) The billing demand shall be the maximum 30-minute demand recorded during the billing month, but shall not be less than the highest such demand established during the previous eleven months, except as modified by Rider No. "GT-4."
- Fuel Adiustment Charge The rates stated above include a base fuel cost component of \$0.0231985 per kilowatt-hour for secondary service and \$0.0224190 per kilowatt-hour for primary and high-voltage service including adjustment for losses. Incremental charges for fuel and interchange, computed in accordance with the provisions of "Fuel Adjustment Charge Rider FA," combined with monthly charges under the provisions of this schedule, constitute the total charge for the services which the Company furnishes.
- Meter Reading Watt-hour meters will be read to the nearest multiple of the meter constant and bills rendered accordingly.

